
 

 

 

ITEM #5.A 

Approval of Minutes of the June 5, 2023 Regular Meeting 



 

1 

 

1 

DPMWD MINUTES June 05, 2023 
 

 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
June 05, 2023 6:00 PM 

 1817 Maryal Drive, Suite 300, Sacramento 95864 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 

 
President Saunders called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: 

 
Directors Present: President Ryan Saunders, Carl Dolk, Bob Matteoli, Gwynne 

Pratt, and David Ross 
 
Staff Present: Acting General Manager  Victoria Hoppe 
 Field Manager Mike Jenner 
 General Counsel Mona Ebrahimi 
 
A quorum of the Board was present. 
 

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: Members may pull an item from the agenda. 

 
Director Pratt made a motion to adopt the agenda. The motion was seconded by Director 
Matteoli. The agenda was adopted on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

4. CLOSED SESSION:  

 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT, pursuant to Government Code section 54957: General 
Manager 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson spoke in favor of the appointment of Adam Coyan. 
 
Seeing no further comment, President Saunders closed the public comment.  
 
President Saunders recessed the open session and convened the closed session at 6:03 p.m.  
 
The open session reconvened at 6:32 p.m.  
 



 

2 

 

2 

DPMWD MINUTES June 05, 2023 
 

 

President Saunders reported there was no reportable action and discussion will commence 
under Item 9.A. 
 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS: The Board of Directors welcomes participation at these meetings. Matters 

under the jurisdiction of the Board that are not posted on the agenda may be addressed by the public, 
California law prohibits the Board from acting on any matter which is not on the posted agenda, unless the 
members determines that it is an emergency or other situation specified in Government Code Section 
54954.2. Public comments are limited to five (5) minutes per individual. Please make your comments 
directly to the DPMWD Chair. Comments will be accepted via teleconference and in writing.  

(0:04 minutes) 

 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson suggested decisions be postponed until the new general manager is on board. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comments. 
 

6. CONSENT CALENDAR: All items under Consent Calendar will be considered together by one action 

of the Board, any Member or members of the public may request that an item be removed and considered 
separately. 

 
 

Item 6.A: Approval of Warrants and Payroll 
(0:07 minutes)   
 
General discussion commenced amongst the Board and staff fielded questions. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general inquiries regarding the matter. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comments. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar. The motion was seconded by 
Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING: 

 
There were no Public Hearing items to consider. 
 

8. OLD BUSINESS: 

 
There were no Old Business items to consider. 
  



 

3 

 

3 

DPMWD MINUTES June 05, 2023 
 

 

 

9. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
Item 9.A: Appointment of General Manager and Approval of Employment Contract 

with Adam Coyan 
(0:12 minutes) 
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi presented the staff report and recommended an amendment to the 
contract Section 2.3.C changing the last sentence to clarify intent of general manager setting 
salaries. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general inquiry on the matter. 
 
Adam Coyan noted excitement to return to the District and thanked the Board for the 
appointment. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
President Saunders and General Counsel Ebrahimi fielded inquiry from public comment. 
 
President Saunders thanked the Ad Hoc Committee for their hard work. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to appoint Adam Coyan as the General Manager and approve 
the contract, as amended. The motion was seconded by Director Pratt. The motion was 
approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 
Item 9.B: Renne Public Policy Group (RPPG) Information and Discussion of Pending 

Small Community Drought Relief Program Grant Application  
(0:20 minutes) 
 
RPPG Representative Jake Whitaker presented and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments and inquiries regarding the presentation. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
RPPG Representative Whitaker fielded inquiries from public comment. 
 
Item 9.C: Renne Public Policy Group (RPPG) Service Agreement 
(0:45 minutes) 
 
President Saunders provided the report and RPPG Representative Jake Whitaker fielded 
questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general comments regarding the matter. 



 

4 

 

4 

DPMWD MINUTES June 05, 2023 
 

 

 
Roy Wilson provided general comments regarding the matter. 
 
Carol Rose noted she supported approval of the agreement. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
Director Dolk made a motion to approve the agreement on a per project basis with an hourly 
rate component. The motion failed for lack of second. 
 
Director Matteoli made a motion to approve the agreement as recommended in Option/Scenario 
2. The motion was seconded by Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 
Item 9.D: Correction/Adjustment to the 2023/2024 Approved Budget Totals 
(1:19 minutes) 
 
President Saunders provided the report. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments and inquiries regarding the matter. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to approve the corrections and adjustments to the 2023/2024 
Budget. The motion was seconded by Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 
No vote. 
 
Item 9.E: Update from District Counsel Regarding Pending Items for Legal Review   
(1:26 minutes) 
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi provided the report and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Carol Rose provided general comments and inquiries regarding the matter. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general comments regarding the matter. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments regarding the matter. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi fielded inquiries from public comment. 
 
Item 9.F: Election of Special District Representative and Alternate to Sacramento 

LAFCo Nominations for Special District Commission 
(2:04 minutes) 
 
President Saunders provided the report. 
 



 

5 

 

5 

DPMWD MINUTES June 05, 2023 
 

 

President Saunders called for public comment. Seeing no one come forward, he closed public 
comment. 
 
There were no nominations from the Board. 
 

10. FIELD REPORT: Verbal report 
 

Item 10.A: Field Report on Current and Upcoming Projects 
(2:08 minutes) 
 
Field Manager Jenner summarized his staff report and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment.  
 
Trish Harrington provided general inquiries regarding the report. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general inquiries regarding the report. 
 
Seeing no further comment, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
Field Manager Jenner fielded inquiries from public comment. 
 

11. DIRECTOR REPORT ON COMMITTEE MEETINGS: Verbal report 
 Each Board Member will have 5 minutes to report out on all associated committees 
 

Item 11.A: Director Dolk 
  American Water Works Association (AWWA) 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) 
Item 11.B: Director Matteoli 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Agriculture 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Groundwater 
  Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) 
Item 11.C: Director Ross 
  California Rural Water Authority (CRWA) 
  California Special Districts Association (CSDA) 
Item 11.D: Director Saunders 
  Joint Powers Insurance (JPIA) 
Item 11.E: Director Pratt 
  Regional Water Authority (RWA) 
  Water Forum 
(2:13 minutes) 
 
Directors provided brief reports on committee meetings they attended. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment.  
 
Carol Rose provided general comments regarding the reports. 
 
Seeing no further comment, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
 



 

6 

 

6 

DPMWD MINUTES June 05, 2023 
 

 

12. GENERAL MANAGERS COMMENTS: Verbal report 

 
Item 12.A:  Director expense reports 
Item 12.B: 2022/2023 Audit should be finished soon 
(2:35 minutes) 
 
Acting General Manager Hoppe provided a report on agenda items and an update on general 
District matters. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. Seeing no one come forward, he closed public 
comment. 
 

13. DIRECTORS COMMENTS: Verbal information, non-action comments. 

 
There were no Directors Comments. 
 

14. FUTURE AGENDA REQUESTS: Directors can suggest topics they would like on future agendas 
(2:38 minutes) 
 
Director Matteoli requested a presentation from the Water Forum.  Support was provided to be 
on a future agenda. 
 

15. ADJOURNMENT: Next Regular Board of Directors meeting is scheduled for June 19, 2023 

 

Director Ross made a motion to adjourn. Director Pratt seconded the motion. There being no 
further business, the Board of Directors meeting adjourned at 9:09 p.m. 
 
 
APPROVAL: ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ _________________________________ 
Ryan Saunders, President of the Board Norma I. Alley, MMC, Clerk of the Board 
 



 

 

 

ITEM #5.B 

Approval of Minutes of the July 3, 2023 Regular Meeting 



  

1 

 

1 

DPMWD MINUTES July 03, 2023 
 

 

  
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
July 03, 2023 6:00 PM 

 1817 Maryal Drive, Suite 300, Sacramento 95864 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 

 
President Saunders called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: 

 
Directors Present: President Ryan Saunders, Carl Dolk, Bob Matteoli, Gwynne 

Pratt, and David Ross 
 
Staff Present: General Manager  Adam Coyan 
 Office Manager  Victoria Hoppe 
 Field Operator Nick Weddle 
 Certified Public Accountant Robert Merritt 
 General Legal Counsel Mona Ebrahimi 
 Assistant Legal Counsel Lauren Bernadette 
 
A quorum of the Board was present. 
 
President Saunders recognized and thanked Office Manager Hoppe for her hard work during 
the interim. 
 

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: Members may pull an item from the agenda. 

 
Director Ross made a motion to adopt the agenda. The motion was seconded by Director Pratt. 
The agenda was adopted on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA The Board of Directors welcomes 

participation at these meetings. Matters under the jurisdiction of the Board that are not posted on the 
agenda may be addressed by the public, California law prohibits the Board from acting on any matter 
which is not on the posted agenda, unless the members determines that it is an emergency or other 
situation specified in Government Code Section 54954.2. Public comments are limited to five (5) minutes 
per individual. Please make your comments directly to the DPMWD Chair. Comments will be accepted via 
teleconference and in writing.  

(0:02 minutes) 
 
President Saunders called for public comment.  



  

2 

 

2 

DPMWD MINUTES July 03, 2023 
 

 

 
Trish Harrington welcomed General Manager Coyan and thanked Office Manager Hoppe for all 
her hard work and dedication during the interim. 
 
Roy Wilson welcomed General Manager Coyan and requested more clarification on the agenda 
for future Closed Session items. 
 
Seeing no one further comment, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR: All items under Consent Calendar will be considered together by one action 

of the Board, any Member or members of the public may request that an item be removed and considered 
separately. 

 
 

Item 5.A: Approval of Warrants and Payroll 
(0:05 minutes) 
 
Director Dolk requested clarification on the amount withdrawn from the LAIF account. Office 
Manager Hoppe provided clarification. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington questioned payments. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
President Saunders and staff fielded public comment inquiries. 
 
Director Dolk made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar. The motion was seconded by 
Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING: 

 
There were no Public Hearing items to consider. 
 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 

 
There were no Old Business items to consider. 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
Item 8.A: Budget to Actuals 
(0:07 minutes) 
 
Certified Public Accountant Merritt provided the report and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general concerns regarding the matter. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 



  

3 

 

3 

DPMWD MINUTES July 03, 2023 
 

 

 
President Saunders, Director Dolk, and Certified Public Accountant Merritt fielded public 
comment inquiry. 
 
Item 8.B: Consideration and Adoption of Resolution Establishing Water Regulations 

Related to Delinquent Account Shutoffs and Liens, Pursuant to Senate Bill 
998 and Amendment to Ordinances 3 and 10 to Conform with the 
California Water Shutoff Act 

(0:15 minutes) 
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi presented the staff report and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general inquiry regarding the matter. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general inquiry regarding the matter. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi fielded public comment inquiry. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to approve Resolution No. 07-2023-01, which establishes water 
regulations related to delinquent account shutoffs. The motion was seconded by Director 
Matteoli. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 07-2023-02, amending Ordinance No. 
10. The motion was seconded by Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No 
vote. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 07-2023-03, amending Ordinance No. 
2018-0604-02, further amending and receipted Ordinance No. 3. The motion was seconded by 
Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

9. FIELD REPORT: Verbal report 

 
Item 9.A: Field Report on Current and Upcoming Projects 
(0:51 minute) 
 
Field Technician Nick Weddle summarized the staff report and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. Seeing no one come forward, he closed public 
comment. 
  



  

4 

 

4 

DPMWD MINUTES July 03, 2023 
 

 

 

10. DIRECTOR REPORT ON COMMITTEE MEETINGS: Verbal report 

 Each Board Member will have 5 minutes to report out on all associated committees 

 
Item 10.A: Director Dolk 
  American Water Works Association (AWWA) 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) 
Item 10.B: Director Matteoli 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Agriculture 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Groundwater 
  Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) 
Item 10.C: Director Ross 
  California Rural Water Authority (CRWA) 
  California Special Districts Association (CSDA) 
Item 10.D: Director Saunders 
  Joint Powers Insurance (JPIA) 
Item 10.E: Director Pratt 
  Regional Water Authority (RWA) 
  Water Forum 
(0:55 minutes) 
 
Directors provided brief reports on committee meetings they attended and other matters. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. Seeing no one come forward, he closed public 
comment. 
 

11. GENERAL MANAGERS COMMENTS: Verbal report 

 
Item 11.A: Updated on Status of Draft Water Rate Study 
Item 11.B: Consumer Confidence Report (CCR) has been completed 
(0:59 minutes) 
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi provided a report on Item No. 11.A and fielded inquiries from the 
Board. 
 
Office Manager Hoppe provided a report on Item No. 11.B and staff fielded inquiries from the 
Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general public comments and inquiries. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
President Saunders and General Counsel Ebrahimi fielded inquiries from public comment. 
  



  

5 

 

5 

DPMWD MINUTES July 03, 2023 
 

 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION:  

 
1. Conference with Legal Counsel—Initiation of Litigation Pursuant to Government Code 

section 54956.9(c) (one case) 
2. Conference with Legal Counsel—Significant Exposure to Litigation Pursuant to 

Government Code section 54956.9(b) and 54956.9(d)(2) (one case) 
(0:59 minutes) 
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi announced the matters to be discussed in Closed Session and 
assured the notice on the agenda meets the Brown Act requirements. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment.  
 
Roy Wilson expressed general concern for the amount of information listed on the agenda. 
 
Seeing no further comment, President Saunders closed the public comment.  
 
President Saunders recessed the open session and convened the closed session at 7:18 p.m.  
 
The open session reconvened at 8:26 p.m.  
 
General Counsel Ebrahimi reported direction was given to staff regarding Item 1 and there was 
no reportable action for Item 2. 
 

13. DIRECTORS COMMENTS: Verbal information, non-action comments. 

(2:28 minutes) 
 
Director Dolk commented on Bartle Wells review for Prop 218. 
 

14. FUTURE AGENDA REQUESTS: Directors can suggest topics they would like on future agendas 

(2:32 minutes) 
 
There were no Future Agenda Requests. 
 

15. ADJOURNMENT: Next Regular Board of Directors meeting is scheduled for July 17, 2023 

 
Director Ross made a motion to adjourn. Director Pratt seconded the motion. There being no 
further business, the Board of Directors meeting adjourned at 8:32 p.m. 
 
 
APPROVAL: ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ _________________________________ 
Ryan Saunders, President of the Board  Norma I. Alley, MMC, Clerk of the Board 
 
 



 

 

 

ITEM #5.C 

Approval of Minutes of the August 21, 2023 Regular Meeting 



1 DPMWD MINUTES AUGUST 21, 2023 

 

 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 

August 21, 2023, 6:00 PM 

ZOOM PARTICIPATION WILL NOT BE OFFERED FOR THIS MEETING 

LOCATION: 

El Camino Fundamental High School Cafeteria 
4300 El Camino Avenue, Sacramento 95821 

 
A G E N D A 

 

 

 
   President Saunders called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

 

 
Directors Present: President Ryan Saunders, Carl Dolk, Bob Matteoli, Gwynne Pratt, and David 

Ross 
 
Staff Present: General Manager    Adam Coyan 
 Office Manager    Victoria Hoppe 
 District Council    Lauren Bernadett 
 Bartle Wells Consultant   Doug Dove  
 
A quorum of the Board was present. 

 

 Director Ross made a motion to adopt the agenda. The motion was seconded by Director Matteoli.  
  The agenda was adopted on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 

2. ROLL CALL: 

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: Members may pull an item from the agenda. 



2 DPMWD MINUTES AUGUST 21, 2023 

 

 

 

 

President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson expressed his disappointment regarding there being no discussion about 
combining with another water district. 
 
Jennifer Wolfe thanked the Board for their service in terms of their efforts to keep their water 
safe. 
 
Carol Boyer requested a status update regarding the November 5, 2021, grand jury findings 
and wanted to see the current status of the findings. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment and fielded inquires. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 

 

Item 5.A: Approval of Warrants and Payroll 
 
Director Dolk inquired about approving a new contract for Forsgren for the upcoming fiscal 
year. 
 
General Manager Coyan mentioned that there was a multi-year contract which rolls over for 
the upcoming fiscal year. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington inquired about reimbursement for district uniforms. 
 
Roy Wilson requested a report that would let ratepayers know where their money is going and 
which projects they're funding. 
 
Jan Kaznowski inquired about the Capital Improvement increase and what the funds were 
used for. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment.  
 
Director Ross made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar. The motion was seconded by 
Director Matteoli. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 

 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR: All items under Consent Calendar will be considered together by one action 

of the Board, any Member or members of the public may request that an item be removed and considered 
separately. 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS: The Board of Directors welcomes participation at these meetings. Matters 

under the jurisdiction of the Board that are not posted on the agenda may be addressed by the public, 
California law prohibits the Board from acting on any matter which is not on the posted agenda, unless the 
members determines that it is an emergency or other situation specified in Government Code Section 
54954.2. Public comments are limited to five (5) minutes per individual. Please make your comments 
directly to the DPMWD Chair. Comments will be accepted via teleconference and in writing. 



3 DPMWD MINUTES AUGUST 21, 2023 

 

 

 

  There were no Public Hearing items to consider. 
 

 

   There were no Old Business items to consider. 
 

Item 8.A: Community Workshop on Proposed Rate Increase: Presentation by District 
and Bartle Wells Associates  

 

Bartle Wells Associates Rate Consultant Doug Dove presented the presentation. 

 

President Saunders called for public comment. 

 

Trish Harrington asked who received the notices and why there wasn't a notice of the workshop in 
the notification. She also inquired about what 2d-3 is, and wanted to know if the proposal went 
through, how much money goes to CIP and O&M. 
 

Roy Wilson asked how the rate increase would impact his bi-monthly plan and wanted more 
information about which projects are being proposed and where they are located, especially 2d-1 
though 3 and 2c. 
 
Jennifer Wolfe asked if the Directors lived in the Water District and expressed appreciation for the 
rate increase. 
 
Ted Costa expressed appreciation for the rate increase, even though he was not a resident of Del 
Paso Manor. 
 
Carol Boyer inquired about the status of the meters and how they were going to accommodate the 
California requirement that they all be metered by 2025. 
 
Carol Allen thanks the Board of Directors for their service and inquired about meters as a variable 
cost rise and how it would affect the pipeline replacement. 
 
Beverly Barden inquired about the comparison of the residential water bill to different water 
districts. 
 
Tim Cahill inquired about the CIP charge versus the O&M charge, and wanted to know if the 
Capital Improvement costs would stop. 
 
Ryan Virgil inquired about what state grants the District applied for and wanted to know if any 
grants were awarded.  
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING: 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 



4 DPMWD MINUTES AUGUST 21, 2023 

 

 

Mr. Long inquired about if the rate increase could be spread out to an 8-to-10-year plan, rather 
than a 5 year plan. 
 
Public comment made regarding what AB 2572 was what's the difference between an urban water 
supplier and a rural water supplier. 
 
President Saunders and staff fielded public comment inquires.  
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment.  

 

 

August Field Report on Current and Upcoming Project will be provided at the September 05, 
2023, Regular Meeting. 

 

Director reports on committee meeting updates will be provided at the September 05, 
2023, regular meeting. 
 

Director Dolk informed the Board that the Association of California Water Agencies are 
having elections for President and Vice President positions. 

 

 

General Manager Coyan mentioned that he will be attending an upcoming meeting to get details 
on the current status of projects, discuss future project development, and the next steps moving 
forward. 

 

 
   President Saunders reported there was no reportable action. 

 
   There were no Director's Comments. 
 

 
 

Director Pratt sought confirmation that the Water Forum presentation would be on a future 
agenda. 
 
President Saunders agreed with Director Pratt. Support was provided by all Directors. 

 

14. FUTURE AGENDA REQUESTS: Directors can suggest topics they would like on future agendas 

9. FIELD REPORT: Verbal report 

10. DIRECTORS REPORT ON COMMITTEE MEETINGS: Verbal report 

11. GENERAL MANAGER’S COMMENTS: Verbal report 

12. CLOSED SESSION: 

13. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS: Verbal information, non-action comments. 

 

 



5 DPMWD MINUTES AUGUST 21, 2023 

Director Ross made a motion to adjourn. Director Matteoli seconded the motion. There being no 
further business, the Board of Directors meeting adjourned at 7:27 p.m. 

15. ADJOURNMENT: Next Regular Board of Directors meeting is scheduled for September 05, 2023

APPROVAL: ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Ryan Saunders, President of the Board 

_____________________________ 

Kelaiah Johnson, Interim Board Clerk 

mailto:dpmwdclerk@delpasomanorwd.org


 

 

 

ITEM #5.D 

Approval of Minutes of the September 05, 2023 Regular Meeting 



  

1 

 

1 

DPMWD MINUTES September 05, 2023 
 

 

  
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

September 05, 2023 6:00 PM 
 1817 Maryal Drive, Suite 300, Sacramento 95864 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 

 
President Saunders called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: 

 
Directors Present: President Ryan Saunders, Carl Dolk, Bob Matteoli, Gwynne 

Pratt, and David Ross 
 
Staff Present: General Manager  Adam Coyan 
 Office Manager Victoria Hoppe 
 Field Manager Mike Jenner 
 Certified Public Accountant Robert Merritt 
 Assistant Legal Counsel Lauren Bernadette 
 
A quorum of the Board was present. 
  

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: Members may pull an item from the agenda. 

 
Director Ross made a motion to adopt the agenda. The motion was seconded by Director 
Matteoli. The agenda was adopted on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA The Board of Directors welcomes 

participation at these meetings. Matters under the jurisdiction of the Board that are not posted on the 
agenda may be addressed by the public, California law prohibits the Board from acting on any matter 
which is not on the posted agenda, unless the members determines that it is an emergency or other 
situation specified in Government Code Section 54954.2. Public comments are limited to five (5) minutes 
per individual. Please make your comments directly to the DPMWD Chair. Comments will be accepted via 
teleconference and in writing.  

(6:01 pm) 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington requested a report on delinquent accounts; the District’s collection policy be 
shared with homeowners and tenants; report on water income; and status report on Wells 2, 
9, and 6B. 
 



  

2 

 

2 

DPMWD MINUTES September 05, 2023 
 

 

Roy Wilson requested more information and specificity, regarding the Prop 218, be provided 
to the public during workshops and expressed concern with the ratio of expenses vs. income 
in the budget. 
 
Carol Rose spoke to the need of Prop 218 information be provided on the website. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR: All items under Consent Calendar will be considered together by one action 

of the Board, any Member or members of the public may request that an item be removed and considered 
separately. 

(6:10 pm) 
 
Requests were made for Item 5.D to be discussed and considered separately. 
 
 

Item 5.A: Approval of Minutes of the May 01, 2023 Regular Meeting 
Item 5.B: Approval of Minutes of the May 15, 2023 Regular Meeting 
Item 5.C: Approval of Minutes of the August 07, 2023 Regular Meeting 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. Seeing no one come forward, he closed public 
comment. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to adopt Items 5.A, 5.B, and 5.C. The motion was seconded by 
Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 
Item 5.D: Approval of Warrants and Payroll 
   
Director Dolk requested clarification on the sales tax, Director Matteoli noted a meeting he 
attended and requested payment for attending it, and Director Pratt corrected a meeting date 
she attended. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington questioned payments. 
 
Roy Wilson questioned payments. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
General Manager Coyan fielded public comment inquiries. 
 
Director Dolk made a motion to approve the Warrants and Payroll. The motion was seconded 
by Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING: 

 
There were no Public Hearing items to consider. 
  



  

3 

 

3 

DPMWD MINUTES September 05, 2023 
 

 

 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 

 
There were no Old Business items to consider. 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
Item 8.A: Budget to Actuals 
(6:20 pm) 
 
Certified Public Accountant Merritt presented the staff report and fielded questions from the 
Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Carol Rose provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
Item 8.B: Water Forum Presentation 
(6:34 pm) 
 
Water Forum Representative Jessica Law presented and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Carol Rose provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
Jessica Law fielded public comment inquiries. 
 
Item 8.C: Request for Proposal (RFP) for Well #9 Backup Generator 
(7:23 pm) 
 
General Manager Coyan provided the staff report and fielded questions from the Board. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 



  

4 

 

4 

DPMWD MINUTES September 05, 2023 
 

 

 
General Manager Coyan fielded inquires from public comment. 
 
Director Ross made a motion to approve the General Manager to release requests for proposals 
for a backup generator at Well #9. The motion was seconded by Director Dolk. The motion was 
approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote.  
 
Item 8.D: ACWA Board Officers’ Election for President & Vice President 
(7:38 pm) 
 
Director Dolk presented the report. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Trish Harrington provided general comments regarding the presentation. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
Director Dolk made a motion to support Cathy Green for President. The motion was seconded 
by Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 4 Yes/1 No (Ross) roll call vote.  
 
Director Pratt made a motion to support Dr. Michael Saunders for Vice President. The motion 
was seconded by Director Dolk. The motion was approved on a 4 Yes/1 No (Matteoli) roll call 
vote.  
 

9. FIELD REPORT: Verbal report 
 

Item 9.A: Field Report on Current and Upcoming Projects 
(7:46 pm) 
 
Field Manager Jenner summarized the staff report. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. Seeing no one come forward, President 
Saunders closed public comment. 
 

10. DIRECTOR REPORT ON COMMITTEE MEETINGS: Verbal report 
 Each Board Member will have 5 minutes to report out on all associated committees 
 

Item 10.A: Director Dolk 
  American Water Works Association (AWWA) 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) 
Item 10.B: Director Matteoli 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Agriculture 
  Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Groundwater 
  Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) 
Item 10.C: Director Ross 
  California Rural Water Authority (CRWA) 
  California Special Districts Association (CSDA) 
Item 10.D: Director Saunders 
  Joint Powers Insurance (JPIA) 
 



  

5 

 

5 

DPMWD MINUTES September 05, 2023 
 

 

Item 10.E: Director Pratt 
  Regional Water Authority (RWA) 
  Water Forum 
(7:51 minute) 
 
Directors provided brief reports on committee meetings they attended or would attend at future 
meetings. 
 

11. GENERAL MANAGERS COMMENTS: Verbal report 
(7:56 pm) 
 
General Manager Coyan provided an update on general District matters. 
 

12. CLOSED SESSION:  

 
Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation 
Initiation of litigation pursuant to Gov. Code § 54956.9(d)(4): 1 case. 
 
This items was heard out of order. 
 

13. DIRECTORS COMMENTS: Verbal information, non-action comments. 
(7:57 pm) 
 
Director Dolk stated a desire to pursue collection on delinquent accounts and requested a 
report on pipes locations. 
 
Director Ross requested a report on which pipes are being laid and where they are going and 
noted he supported transparency with the public on this matter. He also requested it be made 
clear what will happen to the District if Prop 218 does not go forward. 
 

14. FUTURE AGENDA REQUESTS: Directors can suggest topics they would like on future agendas 
(8:03 pm) 
 
Requests were made and supported by the Board to have future agenda items on accessory 
dwelling units; Water Forum financial support; and presentation of Districts goals, strategic 
plan, and staffing. 
 

12. CLOSED SESSION:  

 
Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation 
Initiation of litigation pursuant to Gov. Code § 54956.9(d)(4): 1 case. 
 
This items was heard out of order. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. Seeing no one come forward, he closed the 
public comment.  
 
President Saunders recessed the open session and convened the closed session at 8:15 p.m.  
 
The open session reconvened at 8:43 p.m.  



  

6 

 

6 

DPMWD MINUTES September 05, 2023 
 

 

 
President Saunders reported there was no reportable action. 
 

15. ADJOURNMENT: Next Regular Board of Directors meeting is scheduled for September 18, 2023 

 

Director Ross made a motion to adjourn. Director Dolk seconded the motion. There being no 
further business, the Board of Directors meeting adjourned at 8:44 p.m. 
 
 
APPROVAL: ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ _________________________________ 
Ryan Saunders, President of the Board  Norma I. Alley, MMC, Clerk of the Board 



 

 

 

ITEM #5.E 

Approval of Minutes of the September 13, 2023 Special Meeting 



  

1 

 

1 

DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 13, 2023 
 

 

 

 

 
SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

September 13, 2023 6:00 PM 
1817 Maryal Drive, Suite 300, Sacramento 95864 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 

 
President Saunders called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: 

 
Directors Present: President Ryan Saunders, Carl Dolk, Bob Matteoli, Gwynne 

Pratt, and David Ross 
 
Staff Present: General Manager  Adam Coyan 
 Office Manager Victoria Hoppe 
 Field Manager Mike Jenner 
 Assistant Legal Counsel Lauren Bernadette 
 
A quorum of the Board was present. 
 

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: Members may pull an item from the agenda. 

 
Director Ross made a motion to adopt the agenda. The motion was seconded by Director Pratt. 
The agenda was adopted on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS: The Board of Directors welcomes participation at these meetings. Matters 

under the jurisdiction of the Board that are not posted on the agenda may be addressed by the public, 
California law prohibits the Board from acting on any matter which is not on the posted agenda, unless the 
members determines that it is an emergency or other situation specified in Government Code Section 
54954.2. Public comments are limited to five (5) minutes per individual. Please make your comments 
directly to the DPMWD Chair. Comments will be accepted via teleconference and in writing.  

 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments regarding Prop 218 proposal and costs. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 



  

2 

 

2 

DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 13, 2023 
 

 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR: All items under Consent Calendar will be considered together by one action 

of the Board, any Member or members of the public may request that an item be removed and considered 
separately. 

 
There were no Consent Calendar items to consider. 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING:  

 
There were no Public Hearing items to consider. 
 

7. OLD BUSINESS:  

 
There were no Old Business items to consider. 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS:  

 
Item 8.A: Summary of Objections Received Pursuant to District Policy Number 3240 

Regarding Exhaustion Procedures for 2023 Proposition 218 Process   
 
Assistant Legal Counsel Bernadette summarized the staff report and reported there were 45 
Summary of Objections received prior to the deadline, which none of the comments allege a 
procedural or substantive legal objection to the process or rates; therefore, recommended the 
Board direct District staff and legal counsel to proceed with the Proposition 218 protest hearing 
on September 18, 2023.   
 
President Saunders called for public comment.  
 
Trish Harrington provided general comments regarding the report. 
 
Carol Rose provided general comments regarding the report. 
 
Roy Wilson provided general comments regarding the report. 
 
Seeing no further comment, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 
Assistant Legal Counsel Bernadette and General Manager Coyan responded to inquiry from 
public comment. 
 
Director Dolk made a motion directing District staff and legal counsel to proceed with the 
Proposition 218 protest hearing on September 18, 2023. The motion was seconded by Director 
Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 

9. FIELD REPORT:  

 
September field report will be provided at the October 02, 2023 regular meeting. 
 

10. DIRECTORS REPORT ON COMMITTEE MEETINGS: Verbal report                       Each 

Board Member will have 5 minutes to report out on all associated committees 
 
Director reports on committee meeting updates will be provided at the October 02, 2023 regular 
meeting. 



  

3 

 

3 

DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 13, 2023 
 

 

 

11. GENERAL MANAGER’S COMMENTS:  

 
There were no comments from the General Manager. 
 

12. CLOSED SESSION:  

 
There were no Closed Session items to consider. 
 

13. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS: Verbal information, non-action comments. 

 
There were no comments from Directors. 
 

14. FUTURE AGENDA REQUESTS: Directors can suggest topics they would like on future agendas 

 
There were no Future Agenda Requests to consider. 
 

15. ADJOURNMENT: Next Regular Board of Directors meeting is scheduled for September 18, 2023 

 
Director Ross made a motion to adjourn. Director Pratt seconded the motion. There being no 
further business, the Board of Directors meeting adjourned at 6:31 p.m. 
 
 
APPROVAL: ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ _________________________________ 
Ryan Saunders, President of the Board  Norma I. Alley, MMC, Clerk of the Board 



 

 

 

ITEM #5.F 

Approval of Minutes of the September 18, 2023 Regular Meeting 



1 DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 

 

 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 
 

September 18, 2023  6:00 PM 

ZOOM PARTICIPATION WAS NOT OFFERED FOR THIS MEETING 

LOCATION: 

El Camino Fundamental High School 
Cafeteria 4300 El Camino Avenue, 

Sacramento 95821 
 

 

 

President Saunders called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

 

Directors Present: President Ryan Saunders, Carl Dolk, Bob Matteoli, Gwynne Pratt, David  
 Ross 
 
Staff Present: General Manager   Adam Coyan 
 Office Manager   Victoria Hoppe 
 District Council   Lauren Bernadett 
 Field Manager   Mike Jenner 
 Bartle Wells Consultant  Doug Dove 
 
A quorum of the Board was present. 

 

 

Director Ross made a motion to adopt the agenda. The motion was seconded by Director Pratt.  

 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 

2. ROLL CALL: 

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: Members may pull an item from the agenda. 



2 DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 

 

 

 
 

 
The agenda was adopted on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 

 
 Roy Wilson expressed wanting to see the Board start to re-establish communication with Sac 
Suburban for potential consolidation. 

 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment. 
 

 
 

Item 5.A:   Approval of Warrants and Payroll 
 
Director Dolk inquired about the pipe that broke, for which a USA alert was issued in January.  
 
General Manager Coyan commented that the USA alert markings are only good for 30 days 
and that when they are digging and are within two or three feet of the main, they hand dig 
because service connections come off and they don't mark the service connections. General 
Manager Coyan confirmed that the District is billing the contractor for the broken pipe repair. 
 
Trish Harrington inquired about the AV services for $2,080 to Terrapin. 
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment.  
 
Director Ross made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar. The motion was seconded by 
Director Dolk. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 
 

There were no Public Hearing items to consider. 

There were no Old Business items to consider. 

 

 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR: All items under Consent Calendar will be considered together by one action of 

the Board, any Member or members of the public may request that an item be removed and considered 
separately. 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS: The Board of Directors welcomes participation at these meetings. Matters 

under the jurisdiction of the Board that are not posted on the agenda may be addressed by the public, 
California law prohibits the Board from acting on any matter which is not on the posted agenda, unless the 
members determines that it is an emergency or other situation specified in Government Code Section 
54954.2. Public comments are limited to five (5) minutes per individual. Please make your comments 
directly to the DPMWD Chair. Comments will be accepted via teleconference and in writing. 

6. PUBLIC HEARING: 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 



3 DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 

 

 

 

Item 8.A:     Proposition 218 Protest Hearing and Potential Adoption of Resolution No. 
23-0918 and Ordinance No. 2023-01 Contingent Upon Results of Protest 
Tabulation 

 
Director Dolk made a motion to open the Proposition 218 Protest Hearing. Director Ross 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Bartle Wells Associates Rate Consultant Doug Dove gave a PowerPoint presentation on the 
proposed rate increases. 
 
Director Ross asked for clarification regarding the rates being monthly or every two months. 
 
President Saunders made a quick announcement regarding the number of protests needed 
to reach a majority protest. The number of connections was 1,975. 
 
President Saunders called for public comment. 
 
Roy Wilson inquired about his rates doubling at the end of the 5th year and wanted to know 
the amount the District could afford regarding Proposition 218. He made a comment about 
combining with Sac Suburban being an option. He also inquired about what guarantees the 
District has for getting a loan at 4% without spending a lot of money to obtain the loan and 
wanted to know which repairs the District can afford to pay. 
 
Trish Harrington also made a comment about consolidating with Sac Suburban Water 
District. She wanted to know why the District is not spending more time on steel pipe 
replacement rather than the wells. She inquired about the order in which improvements are 
being made for Prop. 218. and what percentage of the money is going to O&M. She also 
wanted to know how can the water rates be increased without having a loan arranged. 
 
Joyce Graddy inquired about the rate increase making Del Paso Manor the second highest 
in Sacramento. 
 
Ellen Hawk inquired about the size of her water service pipes. 
 
Larry Penny wanted to know how lot sizes are determined and whether the 9-foot easement 
was part of their lot.  

 
Carol Rose thanked the Board for their service and expressed appreciation for the rate 
increase. 
 
Brian Neward inquired about staff salaries.  
 
Joanne inquired about the costs to repair wells and pipes when the District contracts for 
repairs, how much requests for proposals and contracts would cost, and the procedure 
regarding lowest bids. 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 



4 DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 

 

 

 
Marcie Hutchinson gave support to the Board and gave positive feedback regarding the rate 
increases. 
 
Beverly Barden wanted to know if the refurbishment for infrastructure was being mapped out 
and documented. 
 
Fernando Gonzalez inquired about paying for infrastructure and suggested looking into Section 
219 of the Water Resource Development Act for source funding and made a comment about 
there not being enough rate payers in the District to afford repairs. 
 
A commenter who did not state his name wanted to know why his neighbor's pipe leak hadn't 
been repaired as it's been an issue for over a year.  
 
Seeing no further comments, President Saunders closed public comment.  
 
Director Ross motioned to close the Prop. 218 Protest Hearing. The motion was seconded by 
Director Pratt. Motion to close was unanimous. 
 
(0:31 minutes) 

 

Director Saunders announced that the tabulations team would begin counting the protests 
received by the District to determine whether a majority of the parcel owners or customers of 
record of the identified parcels have presented written protests to the proposed fee. Director 
Saunders reminded the audience that no more than one protest will be counted for each 
parcel. If there is a majority protest or at least 988 validated protests have been received, 
then the board will not move forward with the adopting the rate as proposed. If there is not a 
majority protest of at least 988 protests, then the board may move forward to consider 
adopting the rates as proposed. 
 
President Saunders called for a 10-minute recess to allow the tabulation team to count the 
protests. Director Ross motioned to recess until 7:10 p.m. The motion was seconded by 
Director Pratt. The motion was unanimous.  
 
Regular meeting resumed at 7:11 p.m.  
 
After the tabulations team counted all protests received by the close of the public hearing, 
Director Saunders announced that the District received 51 protests. With 51 protests 
received and 1,975 connections in the district, a majority of the property owners and 
customers of record did not submit protests to the proposed rates. Director Saunders 
announced that the Board may consider adoption of the rates as proposed. 
 
President Saunders moved to adopt Resolution No. 23-0918 Ratification of Protest 
Tabulation. Director Ross motioned to adopt resolution. The motion was seconded by 
Director Pratt. The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 
 
President Saunders moved to adopt Ordinance No. 2023-01 Adopting and Implementing 
Protested Rates Effective November 1, 2023, Contingent Upon Result of Protest Tabulation. 
Director Pratt motioned to adopt the ordinance. The motion was seconded by Director Ross. 
The motion was approved on a 5 Yes/0 No vote. 



5 DPMWD MINUTES SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 

 

 

 

 
 

September field report will be provided at the October 02, 2023 regular meeting. 
 

Committee meeting updates will be provided at the October 02, 2023 regular meeting. 
 

 

There were no General Manager's Comments to consider. 
 

No reportable action. 

 

Director Dolk thanked everyone from the District for coming out. Director Matteoli agreed and 
thanked everyone for their patience. Director Pratt, Director Ross, and President Saunders 
thanked everyone as well for coming out. 

 

. 

No future agenda requests. 
 

 

Director Ross Director Ross made a motion to adjourn. Director Pratt seconded the motion. 
There being no further business, the Board of Directors meeting adjourned at 7:18 p.m. 

 

APPROVAL:      ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________  _____________________________ 

Ryan Saunders, President of the Board  Kelaiah Johnson, Interim Board Clerk 

 

 

 
 

 

9. FIELD REPORT: Verbal report 

10. DIRECTORS REPORT ON COMMITTEE MEETINGS: Verbal report 

11. GENERAL MANAGER’S COMMENTS: Verbal report 

12. CLOSED SESSION: 

13. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS: Verbal information, non-action comments. 

14. FUTURE AGENDA REQUESTS: Directors can suggest topics they would like on future agendas 

15. ADJOURNMENT: Next Regular Board of Directors meeting is scheduled for October 02, 2023 



 

 

 

ITEM #5.G 

Approval of Warrants and Payroll 



Del Paso Manor Water District

VENDORS PAID / APPROVED ‐ SEPTEMBER 2023

VENDORS NAME DESCRIPTION CIP AMOUNT CHECK #
ACWA JPIA Health $549.41 10775
ADP Payroll
ADP Taxes Payroll Taxes
Appletree Answers Answering service $517.91 CC
AT&T Internet; Phone/Fax $85.60 CC
AT&T Phone $343.59 CC
AT&T Phone $211.33 CC
AT&T Mobility Cell Phones; iPads $442.94 CC
BSK Labs $5,786.00 10776
CalPers Employee Contribution ‐ Classic $2,190.30 EFT
CalPers Employee Contribution ‐ Pepra $3,184.55 EFT
CalPers Health $10,494.70 EFT
CalPers Unfunded Liability ‐ Classic $5,958.92 EFT
DEX.YP Yellow Pages $15.50 CC
Emigh Hardware Material/Supplies $245.06 10777
Flowline Contractors, Inc. Annette Leak Repair $10,489.00 10762
Kronick, Moskovitz, Tiedemann & Girard Services Rendered Through July 2023 $22,394.08 10763
Kronick, Moskovitz, Tiedemann & Girard Services Rendered Through August 2023 $12,429.26 10778
Leaf Photocopy Machine Lease   $172.92 10764
Leaf Photocopy Machine Lease $277.76 10779
Legacy Cleaning Services Maryal Office  $160.00 CC
Loewen Pump Maintenance Well 9 Seal $1,402.87 10765
Mailrite Print and Mail, Inc Flat Rate Billing (July/August 2023) $1,916.36 10766
Mailrite Print and Mail, Inc Prop 218 Rate Increase Notices $1,997.11 10766
Mailrite Print and Mail, Inc Prop 218 Notices $5,539.54 10780
Munibilling Merchant Return Fee (August 2023) $10.00 10781
PG&E Gas $8.04 EFT
Regional Government Services (RGS) July 2023 Clerk Services $974.60 10767
Richardson & Company 21/22 Annual Audit $10,700.00 10768
Robert Merritt CPA ‐ Services Rendered Through August 2023 $1,330.00 10782
Sacramento Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) Special District Assessment (FY 2023‐24) $235.00 10783
Sacramento Sububan Water District (SSWD) Mutual Aid Agreement (07/01/2023 ‐ 07/31/2023) $483.00 10769
Sierra Chemical Company Chemicals $588.00 10770



Del Paso Manor Water District

VENDORS PAID / APPROVED ‐ SEPTEMBER 2023

Sierra Chemical Company Chemicals $462.00 10784
Smud Account# 7000000179 $13,691.74 10771
Stacey Shorey Reimbursement for COE $112.98 10772
Streamline Website $249.00 CC
tak Communications, Inc 2116 Lorenzo Lane $7,823.94 10785
Terrapin Technology Group 8/21/2023 AV Services $2,080.00 10786
Terrapin Technology Group Software / Computers $167.05 10786
Tripepi Smith & Associates, Inc. 08/21/2023 218 Workshop $1,526.57 10787
Uinta Holdings, LLC October 2023 Rent $2,570.00 10788
Umpqua Bank District Credit Card $3,454.95 10789
USA BlueBook 4268 Stock $240.74 10773
USA BlueBook 4268 Stock $371.68 10790
VOYA August 2023 Employee Contribution $500.00 10774
Wex Bank Gas $462.43 EFT
Wizix Technology Group, Inc. Photocopy Machine $238.98 CC

MONTHLY TOTAL‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐> $0.00 $135,085.41

Approved at 09/05/2023 Regular Meeting

Approved at 09/18/2023 Regular Meeting

TOTAL CHECKS ISSUED: 29

PAID VIA CREDIT CARD (CC): 15

PAID VIA ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER (EFT): 6

* DISTRICT FILES INCLUDES INVOICES BEHIND CREDIT CARD BILL WHICH ARE AVAILABLE FOR REVIEW AT THE DISTRICT OFFICE



Del Paso Manor Water District

VENDORS PAID / APPROVED ‐ SEPTEMBER 2023

UMPQUA DISTRICT CREDIT CARD ‐ PAID SEPTEMBER 2023
VENDORS NAME DESCRIPTION AMOUNT PAID DATE
Appletree Answers Answering service $517.91 9/9/2023
AT&T Internet; Phone/Fax $85.60 9/19/2023
AT&T Phone $343.59 9/6/2023
AT&T Phone $211.33 9/6/2023
AT&T Mobility Cell Phones; iPads $442.94 9/19/2023
DEX.YP Yellow Pages 15.50 9/6/2023
Legacy Cleaning Services Maryal Office  160.00 9/12/2023
Streamline Website 249.00 9/6/2023
Wizix Technology Group, Inc. Photocopy Machine 238.98 9/6/2023
Chipotle Staff Lunch 94.44 9/1/2023
Nextdoor 218 Ad 11.12 9/3/2023
Zoom Cloud Recording 40.00 9/4/2023
Walgreens Office Supplies 34.76 9/25/2023
Amazon Office Supplies 54.89 9/5/2023
Amazon Office Supplies 48.98 9/5/2023

2,549.04



Del Paso Manor Water District

OCTOBER 2023 VENDORS FOR APPROVAL

VENDORS NAME DESCRIPTION CIP AMOUNT CHECK #
All Phase Construction Refund for Hydrant Use Permit/Fees $857.70
CalPers Health $10,494.70
CalPers Unfunded Liability ‐ Classic $5,958.92
DEX.YP Yellow Pages $15.50
Forsgren Associates, Inc. Services Rendered Thru 08/25/2023 (Well 02 Engineering) $190.00
Forsgren Associates, Inc. Services Rendered Thru 08/25/2023 (Well 6B Modification) $200.00
Forsgren Associates, Inc. Services Rendered Thru 08/25/2023 (Well 07 Support) $3,127.50
Forsgren Associates, Inc. Services Rendered Thru 08/25/2023 (Well 09 Engineering) $636.25
Forsgren Associates, Inc. Services Rendered Thru 08/25/2023 (On‐Call Services) $6,926.25
Iconix Waterworks (US) Inc. 4268 Stock $222.78
Legacy Cleaning Services Maryal office  $160.00
Munibilling Billing System (4th Quarter Subscription & Merchant Fees) $1,936.00
Natomas Lock & Key 4268 Stock (Padlocks)   $120.71
PG&E Gas $8.32
Regional Government Services (RGS) August 2023 Clerk Services $1,652.13
Sacramento County Utilities Utilities $242.68
Sierra Chemical Company Chemicals $420.00
Smud Account# 7000000179 $12,826.77
Streamline Website $249.00
Uinta Holdings, LLC November 2023 Rent $2,570.00
Umpqua Bank District Credit Card $2,549.04
USA BlueBook 4268 Stock $100.82
VOYA September 2023 Emp. Contribution $500.00
Wex Bank Gas $676.87
Wizix Technology Group, Inc. Photocopy Machine $97.45

MONTHLY TOTAL‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐> $0.00 $52,739.39



Del Paso Manor Water District

BOD Compensation Expense Summary

SEPTEMBER 2023

DOLK MATTEOLI PRATT ROSS SAUNDERS

Board Meetings 
9/5/2023 DPMWD ‐ Regular Board Meeting 1 1 1 1 1

9/13/2023 DPMWD ‐ Special Board Meeting 1 1 1 1 1
9/18/2023 DPMWD ‐ Regular Board Meeting 1 1 1 1 1

DPMWD ‐ Emergency Board Meeting
ADHOC Committee Meetings 
Director Compensation Committee Meeting

9/25/2023 Finance Standing Committee Meeting  1
General Counsel Review Committee
General Manager Evaluation Committee
LAFCo 2x2 Meeting
SSWD / DPMWD 2X2 Committee
Succession Planning Committee 
Other Meetings 
American Water Works Association (AWWA) (Dolk)
Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) (Dolk)
Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Agriculture (Matteoli)

Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) Groundwater (Matteoli)

California Rural Water Authority (CRWA) (Ross)
California Special Districts Association (CSDA) (Ross)
Ethics Training (AB1234)
Joint Powers Insurance (JPIA) (Saunders)

09/11 & 09/18 2023 Legal Councel Meeting 2
Regional Water Authority (RWA) (Pratt) 1
Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) (Matteoli / Pratt) 1
Sacramento Suburban Water District (SSWD)
Sexual Harassment Prevention Training (AB1825)

9/6 & 9/11 2023 Water Forum (Pratt) 2
September Monthly Meeting Totals

TOTAL  MEETINGS  3 4 6 4 5
TOTAL COMPENSATED MEETINGS  3 4 6 3 4

TOTAL  COMPENSATION  $300 $400 $600 $300 $400

SEPTEMBER 2023 MEETINGS



 

 

 

ITEM #8.A 

Budget to Actuals 



Del Paso Manor Water District
Expense Budget To Actual Comparison
July 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023 Notes

Year to Date
July 1, 2023 Percent of

to September 30, 2023 Budget Budget

Revenues

Water Sales 321,495                              1,358,847         23.66%
C.I.P. Revenue 107,986                              598,811            18.03%
Other water sales 571                                     -                       Not budgeted
Other customer charges 60                                       -                       Not budgeted
Interest income -                                         30,000              0.00%
Misc. income -                                         -                       Not budgeted

Total Revenues 430,112                              1,987,658         21.64%

Employee Related

Management Salaries 28,124                                160,000            17.58%
Staff Salaries 54,831                                328,051            16.71%
Director Fees 2,400                                  22,000              10.91%
Payroll Taxes 6,530                                  41,000              15.93%
PERS Retirement 23,768                                100,500            23.65%
Health 17,193                                90,000              19.10%
Retiree Health Benefits & OPEB 16,085                                80,000              20.11%

Total Employee Related 148,931                              821,551            18.13%

Administration

Insurance 13,906                                59,500              23.37%
Office Expense 30,627                                91,500              33.47%
Audit Fees 10,700                                12,000              89.17%
Legal Fees 28,457                                200,000            14.23%
Election Related -                                         3,000                0.00%
Miscellaneous 10,260                                5,000                205.20% 1                  
Professional Administration Fees 13,626                                131,700            10.35%
Bank Charges 378                                     2,000                18.90%
Professional Dues 36,098                                58,500              61.71%
Professional Meetings -                                         10,000              0.00%
Cert/Continuing Education -                                         5,000                0.00%

Total Administration 144,052                              578,200            24.91%

Operations

Conservation -                                         3,400                0.00%
Power 13,709                                112,000            12.24%
Repairs & Maintenance 30,599                                216,000            14.17%
Lab Fees 10,960                                7,000                156.57%
Backflow Program -                                         2,000                0.00%
Engineering 18,177                                250,000            7.27%
City Water -                                         7,000                0.00%
Capital/Equipment Expenditures -                                         60,000              0.00%

Total Operating 73,445                                657,400            11.17%

Total Employee Related, Administration and Operating Expenses 366,428                              2,057,151         17.81%

C.I.P.

New Pipeline -                                         50,000              0.00%
Well #2 -                                         950,000            0.00%
Well # 6B -                                         50,000              0.00%
Well #9 -                                         360,000            0.00%
Interest Expense & Principal Debt Payment -                                         325,000            0.00%

Total C.I.P. -                                         1,735,000         0.00%

Amounts above are not audited 

Notes

1 Misc. expenses include employee relocation and operating interest expenses



September 2023 Budget

Percentage 
of Budget

Employee Related

5102.10 ꞏ Management salaries 28,124.00 160,000.00 17.58%

5102.15 ꞏ Field salaries 38,785.00 250,000.00 15.51%

5102.20 ꞏ Office manager salary 16,046.00 78,051.00 20.56%

5102.05 ꞏ Director fees 2,400.00 22,000.00 10.91%

5102.30 ꞏ Payroll taxes 6,530.00 41,000.00 15.93%

6451.00 ꞏ PERS/retirement 23,768.00 100,500.00 23.65%

6501.00 ꞏ Employee healthcare (CalPers) 17,193.00 90,000.00 19.10%

6502.00 ꞏ Retiree health benefits 16,085.00 80,000.00 20.11%

Administration

5251.00 ꞏ Insurance

5251.05 ꞏ Liability 9,322.00 40,000.00 23.31%

5251.10 ꞏ Property 4,585.00 4,500.00 101.89%

5251.15   Workers Compensation 0.00 15,000.00 0.00%

6151.00 ꞏ Office expense

6151.05 ꞏ District office lease 10,280.00 32,000.00 32.13%

6151.10 ꞏ Phone service 1,064.00 4,500.00 23.64%

6151.15 ꞏ Internet provider 1,403.00 5,000.00 28.06%

6151.20 ꞏ Sewer & garbage (Lusk) 237.00 2,000.00 11.85%

6151.21 ꞏ Miscellaneous (office other) 0.00 0.00 N/A

6151.25 ꞏ Postage 12,785.00 20,000.00 63.93%

6151.30 ꞏ Printing 0.00 1,000.00 0.00%

6151.35 ꞏ Computers & supplies 90.00 3,500.00 2.57%

6151.40 ꞏ Office supplies 2,080.00 7,500.00 27.73%

6151.45 ꞏ Answering service 1,482.00 5,500.00 26.95%

6151.50 ꞏ Office furniture 0.00 2,000.00 0.00%

6151.55 ꞏ Payroll preparation 278.00 2,000.00 13.90%

6151.60 ꞏ GASB 75 valuation 0.00 2,000.00 0.00%

6151.70 ꞏ Janitorial 480.00 2,500.00 19.20%

Office expense - other 447.00 0.00 N/A

6251.00 ꞏ Audit 10,700.00 12,000.00 89.17%

6255.00  Election related 0.00 3,000.00 N/A

6301.00 ꞏ Legal 28,457.00 200,000.00 14.23%

6401.00 ꞏ Misc 10,261.00 5,000.00 205.22%

6601.00 ꞏ Professional Admin fees

6601.05 ꞏ SWRCB annual fees 0.00 16,000.00 0.00%

6601.10 ꞏ NDPES permit 0.00 1,500.00 0.00%

6601.15 ꞏ Cal Pers actuarial reports 700.00 700.00 100.00%

6601.25 ꞏ Air Quality permits 0.00 5,000.00 0.00%

6601.30 ꞏ Encroachment permits 0.00 500.00 0.00%

6601.35 ꞏ CPA fees 2,565.00 18,000.00 14.25%

6601.00 ꞏ Professional admin fees - other 10,361.00 60,000.00 17.27%

6601.50 ꞏ Public relations 0.00 30,000.00 0.00%



6171.00 ꞏ Bank fees 378.00 2,000.00 18.90%

6561.00 ꞏ Professional dues

6561.05 ꞏ ACWA 4,867.00 11,000.00 44.25%

6561.10 ꞏ AWWA 244.00 700.00 34.86%

6561.15 ꞏ CSDA 4,093.00 8,300.00 49.31%

6561.20 ꞏ CRWA 750.00 1,000.00 75.00%

6561.25 ꞏ RWA 4,423.00 9,500.00 46.56%

6561.30 ꞏ SGA 21,243.00 25,000.00 84.97%

6561.35 ꞏ SAWWA 0.00 1,000.00 0.00%

6561.00 ꞏ Professional dues - other 478.00 2,000.00 23.90%

6551.00 ꞏ Professional meetings 0.00 10,000.00 0.00%

6610.00  Certification/continuing education 0.00 5,000.00 0.00%

Operations

5151.00 ꞏ Power

5151.05 ꞏ PG&E 17.00 2,000.00 0.85%

5151.10 ꞏ SMUD 13,692.00 110,000.00 12.45%

5201.00 ꞏ R & M

5201.05 ꞏ Leak repairs 21,342.00 104,000.00 20.52%

5201.10   Field Equipment 0.00 2,000.00 0.00%

5201.15 ꞏ Field supplies 1,671.00 35,000.00 4.77%

5201.20 ꞏ Fuel for vehicles 848.00 9,000.00 9.42%

5201.25   Vehicle repair and maintenance 718.00 3,000.00 23.93%

5201.35 ꞏ Chlorine 2,709.00 11,000.00 24.63%

5201.45 ꞏ Well repair & maintenance 1,403.00 6,000.00 23.38%

5201.55 ꞏ Field staff cellular service 1,425.00 6,000.00 23.75%

5201.00  R & M other 0.00 0.00 N/A

5201.70  SSWD Mutual Aide Field Staff 483.00 40,000.00 1.21%

5301.00 ꞏ Lab fees (H2O testing) 10,960.00 7,000.00 156.57%

5451.00   City water 0.00 7,000.00 0.00%

5452.00   Backflow program 0.00 2,000.00 0.00%

5351.00  Engineering 18,177.00 250,000.00 7.27%



 

 

 

ITEM #8.B 

Salary Survey 



DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

BOARD MEETING 

DATE:  October 02, 2023 AGENDA ITEM NO.  8.B 

SUBJECT: Salary Survey 

STAFF CONTACT: 

Adam Coyan, General Manager 

BACKGROUND: 

In early September/ October 2022 the district asked Bienati Consulting Group to conduct a salary 

survey. On November 2, 2022, the report was delivered to the District, and on December 19, 

2022 the salary survey was presented to the board for their review. The board adopted the survey 

with the direction that it would be delivered to Bartle Wells Associates.  

I conducted an in-depth review of the salary survey, made some updates, included districts not 

previously included and removed the districts that were not a good match to the district. The 

resulting review is summarized in the attached chart, graphs and job description and salary 

schedules. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive and review the salary survey and make adjustment to the salary schedule as 

recommended.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
Salary Survey Review Summary 
Salary Survey Review Chart 
Selected District Salary Schedules and Job Descriptions 
Bienati Consulting Group, Inc. Salary Survey
Current Salary Survey Approved 10/17/2022
Proposed Salary Survey
Resolution 23-1002-1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT: 

This item is an update to an existing structure and does not need a CEQA review. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

Financial impact is within approved F/Y 23/24 budget.



W
at
e
r 
D
is
tr
ic
t

O
ffi
ce
 M

an
ag
er

Fi
el
d 
M
an
ag
er

O
&
M
 T
ec
h 
II/
 C
C

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

Si
ze

Ra
nc
ho

 M
ur
ie
ta
 C
SD

Di
st
ric
t S

ec
re
ta
ry

U
til
iti
es
 S
up

er
vi
so
r

U
til
ity

 W
or
ke
r I
II 

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

50
‐7
0 

Sa
la
ry

$6
0,
57

6‐
$8

4,
13
2

$7
4,
89

2‐
$1

04
01
6

$5
9,
06

4‐
$6

7,
12
8

$1
47

,0
96

‐$
19

4,
16
0

El
k 
G
ro
ve
 W

at
er
 D
ist
ric
t

Se
ni
or
 U
til
ity

 B
ill
in
g 
Sp
ec
ia
lis
t

W
at
er
 D
ist
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
II

W
at
er
 D
ist
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

30
Sa
la
ry

$7
3,
36

1‐
$8

9,
16
9

$7
3,
36

1‐
$8

9,
16
9

$6
4,
91

6‐
$7

8,
89
4

$1
92

,3
45

Sa
n 
Ju
an

 W
at
er
 D
ist
ric
t

Ac
co
un

tin
g 
Te
ch
ni
ch
ia
n 
III

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

49
Sa
lr
ay

$7
8,
70

7‐
$9

4,
45
2

$7
8,
70

7‐
$9

4,
45
2

$7
1,
26

0‐
$8

5,
50
8

$2
31

,9
82

Fl
or
in
 C
ou

nt
y 
W
D 
(2
02

1)
Tr
an
sp
ar
en

t C
A.

O
ffi
ce
 M

an
ag
er

Fi
el
d 
Su
pe

rv
iso

r
Eq
ui
pm

en
t O

pe
ra
to
r

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

N
o 
Da

ta
Sa
lr
ay

$9
0,
09
0

$7
2,
41

7
$5

4,
14

9
14

4,
49

0 
Ba

se
 h
ou

rly
Ri
o 
Li
nd

a/
 E
lv
er
ta
 W

at
er
 D
ist
ric
t

Ac
co
un

t S
pe

ci
al
ist

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
Sy
st
em

 O
pe

ra
to
r/
 F
or
em

an
Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
Sy
st
em

 O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

16
Sa
lr
ay

$6
2,
25

4‐
$7

5,
75
3

$6
7,
20

4‐
$8

1,
76
4

$4
9,
87

8‐
$6

0,
69
4

11
9,
53

7
Fa
ir 
O
ak
s W

at
er
 D
ist
ric
t

Ad
m
in
ist
ar
tiv

e 
Sp
ec
ia
lis
t

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
Sy
st
em

 L
ea
d 
W
or
ke
r

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
Sy
st
em

 O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

43
Sa
lr
ay

$5
7,
67

8‐
$7

7,
83
3

$6
4,
31

3‐
$8

6,
77
7

$5
4,
10

0‐
$7

3,
02
8

$1
65

,5
26

‐2
23

.4
75

Ca
rm

ic
ha
el
 W

at
er
 D
ist
ric
t

Ad
m
in
ist
ra
tiv

e 
Sp
ec
ia
lis
t I
I

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
II

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

29
Sa
lr
ay

$8
8,
69

9‐
$1

07
,8
1 4

$8
5,
19

9‐
$9

6,
29
9

$7
5,
23

7‐
$8

5,
03
9

$2
01

,9
51

G
eo

rg
et
ow

n 
Di
vi
de

 P
U
D

O
ffi
ce
 M

an
ag
er

Fi
el
d 
Su
pe

rin
te
nd

en
t

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

30
Sa
lr
ay

$8
8,
40

0‐
$1

08
,1
6 0

$8
0,
35

0‐
$9

7,
65
6

$5
9,
50

8‐
$7

2,
34
2

$1
69

,0
00

Ci
tr
us
 H
ei
gh
ts
 W

at
er
 D
ist
ric
t

Se
ni
or
 C
us
to
m
er
 S
er
vi
ce
 S
pe

ci
al
ist

W
at
er
 D
ist
rib

ut
io
n 
Le
ad

 W
or
ke
r

W
at
er
 D
ist
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

44
Sa
lr
ay

$7
7,
93

7‐
$1

05
,2
6 8

$8
0,
68

3‐
$1

08
,8
88

$7
3,
29

9‐
$9

8,
98
7

$1
87

,8
86

‐$
25

3,
65
6

Sa
cr
am

en
to
 S
ub

ur
ba
bn

 W
at
er
 D
ist
ric
t

Ex
ec
ut
iv
e 
As
sis
ta
nt
 to

 G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

Fo
re
m
an

 D
ist
rib

ut
io
n

Di
st
rib

ut
io
n 
O
pe

ra
to
r I
I

G
en

er
al
 M

an
ag
er

60
Sa
lr
ay

$7
2,
46

8‐
$1

03
,5
2 6

$8
9,
28

8‐
$1

11
,6
10

$6
9,
45

8‐
$8

6,
82
2

$2
49

,8
23

Av
er
ag
e

$7
5,
01

7‐
$9

3,
61
9

$7
6,
64

1‐
$9

4,
30
4

$6
30

86
‐$
76

,2
59

$1
63

,6
53

‐$
19

80
41

40
D
P
M
W
D
 C
u
rr
e
n
t 
Sa
la
ry
 S
ch
e
d
u
le

$5
4,
82

9‐
$6

9,
95
0

$8
6,
53

4‐
$1

10
,4
58

$6
6,
62

2‐
$8

4,
98
9

$1
35

,0
00

Su
gg
e
st
e
d
 R
an

ge
 A
d
ju
st
m
e
n
t 

$7
8,
76

7‐
$9

8,
29
9

N
o 
Ad

ju
st
m
en

t
N
o 
Ad

ju
st
m
en

t
N
o 
Ad

ju
st
m
en

t

Bi
en

at
i S
ug
ge
st
ed

 S
te
p 
In
cr
ea
se
 p
g.
12

St
ep

 1
$7

8,
76

7
St
ep

 1
$7

8,
05

1
St
ep

 2
$8

2,
67

3
St
ep

 2
$8

2,
79

3
St
ep

 3
$8

6,
57

9
St
ep

 3
$8

6,
93

3
St
ep

 4
$9

0,
48

5
St
ep

 4
$9

1,
27

9
St
ep

 5
$9

4,
39

2
St
ep

 5
$9

5,
84

3
St
ep

 6
$9

8,
29

9
St
ep

 6
$1

00
,6
3 6

Re
vi
ew

 o
f S
al
ar
y 
Su
rv
ey

O
ff
ic
e
 M

an
ge
r 
Su
gg
e
st
e
d
 S
te
p
 In

cr
e
as
e
s



Review and Analysis of Bienati 2022 Salary Survey 

 

Selection of Districts: 

 I reviewed the districts, agencies and municipalities that were selected for salary 

comparisons and made some corrections. I eliminated irrigation districts because they are not 

an accurate comparison to DPMWD. They do supply water to customers, but they only sell 

water in bulk for primarily agriculture interests. I also eliminated any districts that were outside 

the immediate area because of the difference in cost-of-living. Finally, I also eliminated any 

comparisons to private water companies. With the differences in benefits and retirement they 

were not a good fit. 

 

Selection of Comparison Positions: 

 For comparison to a bigger district, I always chose to select a lower-level position for the 

comparison. This was done because of the different responsibilities that come with a larger 

district. I also only selected positions that were the best fit for the positions and minimum 

qualification.  

 

Creating a Range and Steps: 

 The amounts got averaged by high and low, when there was only one data point, I used 

it in the average for both the high and low. The suggested range adjustment was calculated by 

taking the average range and adding 5%.  

I reviewed Bienati’s Salary Survey and questioned some of the comparisons that he 

included. I did not review Bienati’s recommended increases prior to compiling my chart and 

data. Further, I downloaded each job description and salary schedule from the districts that I did 

include, these documents are attached as well as Bienati’s Salary Survey. I was very surprised 

that my suggested range adjustment was so close to Bienati’s. If you compare my chart to what 

Bienati produced it is very interesting that we arrived at the same numbers even though we 

included different districts and different job titles. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

0 10000 20000 30000 40000 50000 60000 70000 80000 90000 100000

DPMWD

Rancho Murieta WD

Elk Grove WD

San Juan WD

Florin County WD

Rio Linda WD

Fair Oaks WD

Carmichael WD

Georgetown DWD

Citrus Heights WD

SSWD

Average

Low Range

Low Range

0 20000 40000 60000 80000 100000 120000

DPMWD

Rancho Murieta WD

Elk Grove WD

San Juan WD

Florin County WD

Rio Linda WD

Fair Oaks WD

Carmichael WD

Georgetown DWD

Citrus Heights WD

SSWD

Average

High Range

High Range



Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Accounting Technician Monthly 4,557.26$           4,785.07$           5,024.31$           5,275.52$           5,539.31$           5,816.31$          
Hourly 26.292$               27.606$               28.986$               30.436$               31.958$               33.556$              
Annual 54,687.12$         57,420.84$         60,291.72$         63,306.24$         66,471.72$         69,795.72$        

Accountant Monthly 5,345.59$           5,612.87$           5,893.53$           6,188.20$           6,497.61$           6,822.45$          
Hourly 30.840$               32.382$               34.001$               35.701$               37.486$               39.360$              
Annual 64,147.08$         67,354.44$         70,722.36$         74,258.40$         77,971.32$         81,869.40$        

Office Technician Monthly 3,447.47$           3,619.76$           3,800.80$           3,990.85$           4,190.36$           4,399.88$          
Hourly 19.889$               20.883$               21.928$               23.024$               24.175$               25.384$              
Annual 41,369.64$         43,437.12$         45,609.60$         47,890.20$         50,284.32$         52,798.56$        

Equipment Mechanic Monthly 5,502.24$           5,777.35$           6,052.45$           6,327.59$           6,602.69$           6,877.81$          
Hourly 31.744$               33.331$               34.918$               36.505$               38.092$               39.680$              
Annual 66,026.88$         69,328.20$         72,629.40$         75,931.08$         79,232.28$         82,533.72$        

Plant Operator III Monthly 5,970.98$           6,269.51$           6,568.08$           6,866.62$           7,165.16$           7,463.72$          
Hourly 34.448$               36.170$               37.893$               39.615$               41.337$               43.060$              
Annual 71,651.76$         75,234.12$         78,816.96$         82,399.44$         85,981.92$         89,564.64$        

Plant Operator II Monthly 5,447.33$           5,719.70$           5,992.07$           6,264.44$           6,536.81$           6,809.17$          
Hourly 31.427$               32.998$               34.570$               36.141$               37.712$               39.284$              
Annual 65,367.96$         68,636.40$         71,904.84$         75,173.28$         78,441.72$         81,710.04$        

Plant Operator I Monthly 4,677.24$           4,911.09$           5,144.96$           5,378.81$           5,612.68$           5,846.53$          
Hourly 26.984$               28.333$               29.682$               31.032$               32.381$               33.730$              
Annual 56,126.88$         58,933.08$         61,739.52$         64,545.72$         67,352.16$         70,158.36$        

Operator in Training Monthly 4,075.02$           4,278.77$           4,482.53$           4,686.26$           4,890.01$           5,093.77$          
Hourly 23.510$               24.685$               25.861$               27.036$               28.212$               29.387$              
Annual 48,900.24$         51,345.24$         53,790.36$         56,235.12$         58,680.12$         61,125.24$        

Utility Worker III Monthly 4,922.96$           5,169.10$           5,415.23$           5,661.39$           5,907.54$           6,153.69$          
Hourly 28.402$               29.822$               31.242$               32.662$               34.082$               35.502$              
Annual 59,075.52$         62,029.20$         64,982.76$         67,936.68$         70,890.48$         73,844.28$        

Utility Worker II Monthly 4,475.39$           4,699.17$           4,922.96$           5,146.71$           5,370.49$           5,594.25$          
Hourly 25.820$               27.111$               28.402$               29.693$               30.984$               32.275$              
Annual 53,704.68$         56,390.04$         59,075.52$         61,760.52$         64,445.88$         67,131.00$        

Utility Worker I Monthly 3,877.66$           4,071.55$           4,265.42$           4,459.31$           4,653.18$           4,847.08$          
Hourly 22.371$               23.490$               24.608$               25.727$               26.845$               27.964$              
Annual 46,531.92$         48,858.60$         51,185.04$         53,511.72$         55,838.16$         58,164.96$        

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5

Patrol Officer I Monthly 3,390.58$           3,602.48$           3,814.40$           4,026.29$           4,238.21$          
Hourly 19.561$               20.784$               22.006$               23.229$               24.451$              
Annual 40,686.96$         43,229.76$         45,772.80$         48,315.48$         50,858.52$        

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5

Patrol Officer II Monthly 4,511.66$           4,737.24$           4,974.11$           5,222.81$           5,483.95$          
Hourly 26.029$               27.330$               28.697$               30.132$               31.638$              
Annual 54,139.92$         56,846.88$         59,689.32$         62,673.72$         65,807.40$        

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5

Gate Officer I Monthly 2,688.99$           2,857.05$           3,025.10$           3,193.16$           3,361.23$          
Hourly 15.513$               16.483$               17.453$               18.422$               19.392$              
Annual 32,267.88$         34,284.60$         36,301.20$         38,317.92$         40,334.76$        

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5

Gate Officer II Monthly 3,792.16$           3,981.77$           4,180.85$           4,389.90$           4,609.39$          
Hourly 21.878$               22.972$               24.120$               25.326$               26.593$              
Annual 45,505.92$         47,781.24$         50,170.20$         52,678.80$         55,312.68$        

2023 ‐ 6‐Step Wage Schedule

Effective January 1, 2023‐ December 31, 2023

2023 ‐ 5‐Step Wage Schedule

Effective January 1, 2023‐ December 31, 2023

Rancho Murieta CSD Represented



Rancho Murieta Community Services District 
Unrepresented Salary Schedule 
Date Effective November 1, 2022 

 
District Position 

Monthly Salary Range 
Minimum Control Point Maximum 

Chief Plant Operator $7,477 $8,308 $9,231 
Director of Finance and  
Administration 

 $9,641 $12,051 $13,390 

Director of Operations $9,641 $12,051 $13,390 
District Secretary $5,048 $6,310 $7,011 
General Manager $12,258 $14,709 $16,180 
Security Supervisor $6,639 $7,967 $8,764 
Security Sergeant $4,834 $5,800 $6,380 
Utility Supervisor $6,241 $7,801 $8,668 

 



Z:\awilder\Employment Ads \District Secretary\District Secretary - exempt 12-2019.doc 

1 

 

 

RANCHO MURIETA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

DISTRICT SECRETARY 

DEPARTMENT: ADMINISTRATION 

 
FLSA OVERTIME STATUS: EXEMPT 

BARGAINING UNIT: N/A 

 
APPROVED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS – December 4, 2019 

 

SUMMARY: Performs a variety of professional, high-level, confidential and complex 
administrative support duties using discretion and independent judgement for the General 
Manager and Board of Directors in relation to District operations and on major 
assignments. Independently manages the scheduling and preparation of the Board of 
Directors’ and Committees’ agendas and minutes, functions as recording secretary for the 
Board and completes related preparation and follow-up materials or action in support of 
Board activities. Performs a variety of administrative support and official record 
preparation, retention and maintenance duties. Notarizes a variety of legal documents. 
 
SUPERVISION: Receives general direction from the General Manager. 
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES include the following. Other duties may 
be assigned. 
 

 Exercises discretion and independent judgment in the performance of 
complex professional functions related to District operation and major 
assignments. 

 
 Prepares, assembles, publishes, files, manages and distributes agendas, 

support documentation, and minutes of board and committee meetings, 
public hearings, public and legal notices election documents, and conflict of 
interest disclosure statements. 

 
 Manages District election proceeding with Sacramento County; Files 

Director and staff Statements of Economic Interests as well as other 
documentation as necessary with the county and state and other appropriate 
agencies and organizations. 

 
 Attests the signature of the President of the Board of Directors on all 

ordinances, resolutions, and other official documents. 
 

 Establishes, publishes and posts ordinance, hearings, resolutions, and 
board meetings and publishes and posts notices for bids as required by the 
Brown Act and other statutes. 



Z:\awilder\Employment Ads \District Secretary\District Secretary - exempt 12-2019.doc 

2 

 

 

 Attends meetings of the Board of Directors and other Committees in the 
capacity of official recording secretary. 

 

 
 

 Takes and transcribes minutes of proceedings for permanent records, 
ensures that minutes and actions of the Board of Directors are properly 
recorded and that subsequent actions are taken in compliance with the legal 
requirements imposed on and by the Board. 

 
 Manages and maintains preparation of newsletter and website and social media 

communications. 
 

 Manages and maintains records management program in coordination with 
other departments; prepares and maintains schedule of records retention 
and destruction; maintains library; 

 
 Formulates and responds to requests for information by Board members, 

staff and the public, in compliance with adopted Board guidelines on official 
records and documents. 

 
 Conducts independent confidential, professional administrative and 

technical, services for the General Manger, Board of Directors and other 
staff; provides District-wide general support services such as public 
information, document preparation, and communications. 

 
 Manages conference scheduling and travel arrangements for General 

Manager, Board of Directors and staff. 
 

 Maintains files pertaining to election for Board of Directors and swears in 
newly elected and re-elected Board members. 

 
 Manages claims against the District; coordinates review, recommendations 

and responses for closure of claims. 
 

 Provides assistance to other staff and works on special projects as assigned. 
 
QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS: To perform this job successfully, an individual must 
be able to perform each essential duty satisfactorily. The requirements listed below are 
representative of the knowledge, skill, and/or ability required. Reasonable accommodations 
may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions. 
 
Knowledge of modern office methods, procedures and equipment, and ability to 
transcribe from electronic recordings; Excellent English usage, spelling, grammar, 
and punctuation; comprehensive filing and indexing systems; intermediate to 
advanced skill level in Word, Excel, Adobe Acrobat Pro, Powerpoint, Outlook, Internet, 
social media and website creation and maintenance.  Experience with electronic file 
management, SharePoint file management a plus. 



Z:\awilder\Employment Ads \District Secretary\District Secretary - exempt 12-2019.doc 

3 

 

 

Ability to manage the business and record keeping functions of the Board of Directors; 
perform professional, difficult, responsible, complex and confidential administrative and 
office support work and effectively relieve the General Manager of routine administrative 
duties; manage difficult record keeping involved with the maintenance of official District 
records, legal records, files, contracts, bonds, investments, and related records; prepare 
clear, concise, and accurate records and reports; operate a personal computer at a skill 
level and with the degree of accuracy to meet job requirements; utilize word processing, 
spreadsheet and data base computer software and computer equipment; deal 
professionally, knowledgeably and courteously with the public and other staff when 
answering questions, inquiries and disseminating information about District functions, 
business, and actions. 
 
EDUCATION AND/OR EXPERIENCE: The following minimum combination of training and 
experience which would provide the required knowledge and ability, is qualifying.  
 
Education: AA degree or equivalent college level coursework preferably in office support 
and business management. 
 
Four years of extensive and increasingly responsible public or private agency 
administrative experience with regular public contact. 
 
LICENSE AND/OR CERTIFICATES: Possession of the category of California Driver's 
license required by the State Department of Motor Vehicles to perform the essential duties 
of the position. Continued maintenance of a valid driver's license, insurability, and 
compliance with established District vehicle operation standards are a condition of 
continuing employment. Obtain appointment as a Notary Public for the State of California 
within six months of appointment to the position. 
 
Appointment to this position is made in accordance with Chapter 2, Section 2 of the District 
Code. 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS: The physical demands described here are representative of 
those that must be met by an employee to successfully perform the essential functions of 
this job. Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities 
to perform the essential functions. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee is regularly required to stoop, kneel, 
crouch, or crawl. The employee frequently is required to stand, walk, sit, and climb or 
balance. The employee is occasionally required to use hands to finger, handle, or feel 
objects, tools, or controls; reach with hands and arms; talk or hear; and taste or smell. 
 
Specific vision abilities required by this job include close vision, distance vision, color 
vision, peripheral vision, depth perception, and the ability to adjust focus. 



Z:\awilder\Employment Ads \District Secretary\District Secretary - exempt 12-2019.doc 

4 

 

 

The employee must occasionally lift and/or move up to 25 pounds. 
 
WORK ENVIRONMENT: The work environment characteristics described here are 
representative of those an employee encounters while performing the essential functions 
of this job. Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable individuals with 
disabilities to perform the essential functions. 
 
The noise level in the work environment is usually quiet. 



 1 

Z:\suzanne\Personnel\Job Descriptions\Utilities Supervisor 05-21-2014.docx  

 

 RANCHO MURIETA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 

 UTILITIES SUPERVISOR 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

DEPARTMENT: WATER/WASTEWATER/DRAINAGE 

 

FLSA OVERTIME STATUS: NON-EXEMPT  

BARGAINING UNIT: N/A 

 

APPROVED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS - 05-21-2014           

 

SUMMARY: Responsible for the daily planning, organization, coordination and 
supervision of a staff of employees assigned to the construction, repair, and maintenance 
of water distribution systems, sewer collection systems, drainage systems, buildings, 
grounds and other facilities; to perform a variety of technical and administrative support 
functions including site inspections, verification of code compliance, plan checks; and to 
perform other related work as required. 
 
SUPERVISION:  Receives general supervision from the Director of Field Operations; 
Provides direct supervision over Utility Workers. 
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES include the following; Other duties may 
be assigned. 
 

 Responsible for the planning, organization, coordination, evaluating and 
supervision of employees assigned to the construction, repair, and maintenance of 
water distribution and sewer collection systems, drainage systems, buildings, 
grounds and other facilities;  

 

 recommends  and implements proposed changes and enhancements to systems 
and facilities operation; responds to complaints and requests for information; 
prepares and maintains reports of completed job orders and the status of jobs in 
progress; 

 

 inspects job sites, before, during, and after, to monitor work progress, assure 
satisfactory completion and plan new assignments; prepares requisitions for 
system operations and maintenance supplies, equipment and materials; develops 
cost estimates for labor, materials, and projects; supervises special projects as 
required;  

 

 conducts regular safety meetings, participates as a member of the District safety 
committee; investigates and completes necessary incident reports and accident 
reports; maintains records, prepares and submits required reports for appropriate  
agencies;  



 2 

Z:\suzanne\Personnel\Job Descriptions\Utilities Supervisor 05-21-2014.docx  

 

 implements preventative maintenance programs;; monitors and applies best 
management practices as related to Stormwater system in the District;   

 

 supervises backflow testing and monitoring program for the District;  
 

 conducts plan checks and inspects all underground water, sewer and drainage 
new construction to ensure compliance with District standards; coordinates 
location and marking of USA’s (underground service alerts) for underground 
facilities.  
 

 Respond to customer complaints and or service requests concerning water, sewer, 
and drainage; 
 

 Coordinates meter reading, disconnects/reconnects, new water service  billings; 
 

 Supervises and directs emergency repair work and shutdowns; 
 

 Maintains a variety of logs, files, inventory and records in electronic format. 
 

QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS: 
To perform this job successfully, an individual must be able to perform each essential 
duty satisfactorily. The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, 
skill, and/or ability required.  
 
Excellent skills with computers, computer applications and software, including but not 
limited to Excel, Word, Power Point, asset management and database software. 
 
Ability to supervise personnel in a wide range of operations, repair, and maintenance work 
at water, wastewater (underground utilities) and drainage facilities. Develop, implement 
and maintain comprehensive asset management and preventative maintenance program. 
Maintain responsibility for operations and maintenance at assigned facilities. Monitor and 
manage the progress of multiple projects.  Diagnose a variety of operating problems and 
take effective corrective actions. Communicate clearly and precisely verbally and written. 
Maintain logs, charts, records, reports, and budgets. Mentor and train less experienced 
staff. Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships. Work unusual shifts, 
weekends, evenings, and holidays when required, as well as on Standby for emergency 
response.  
 
Coordinate training, monitoring, testing and sampling operations with District staff. 
 
  
EDUCATION AND/OR EXPERIENCE: 
Any combination of training and experience, which would likely provide the required 



 3 

Z:\suzanne\Personnel\Job Descriptions\Utilities Supervisor 05-21-2014.docx  

 

knowledge and ability, is qualifying. A typical way to obtain this knowledge and ability 
would be: 
 
Minimum Education:  High School diploma and/or equivalent. 
 
Four years of substantial and increasingly responsible construction and maintenance 
experience involving water distribution, wastewater collection and drainage system 
facilities, including at least one year in a lead or supervisory capacity. 
 
CERTIFICATES, LICENSES, REGISTRATIONS: 
Possession of the category of California Driver's license required by the State Department 
of Motor Vehicles to perform the essential duties of the position.  Continued maintenance 
of a valid driver's license, insurability, and compliance with established District vehicle 
operation standards are conditions of continuing employment. 
 
Possession and maintenance of a minimum water distribution certification consistent with 
the level required for the District’s water system, which is currently a Grade 2 Water 
Distribution Operator's Certificate, issued by the California Department of Public Health, 
within 18 months of entering this position is required, and; 
 
Possession and maintenance of a Backflow and Tester Certificate issued by the State of 
California or AWWA within 18 months of entering this position is required.  
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS: 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an 
employee to successfully perform the essential functions of this job. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee is frequently required to stand; walk; 
sit; use hands to manipulate, handle, and feel objects, tools, controls; reach with hands 
and arms; climb and balance; stoop, kneel, crouch, crawl; talk hear; and taste and smell. 
 
The employee must frequently lift and/or move up to 50 pounds. Specific vision abilities 
required by this job include close vision, distance vision, color vision, peripheral vision, 
depth perception, and the ability to adjust focus. 
 
WORK ENVIRONMENT: 
The work environment characteristics described here are representative of those an 
employee encounters while performing the essential functions of this job. Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the 
essential functions. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee frequently works near moving 
mechanical parts and is frequently exposed to wet and/or humid conditions. The 
employee occasionally works in high, precarious places and in outside weather conditions 



 4 

Z:\suzanne\Personnel\Job Descriptions\Utilities Supervisor 05-21-2014.docx  

 

and is occasionally exposed to fumes or airborne particles, toxic or caustic chemicals, 
biological hazards, extreme heat, and vibration, risk of electrical shock. 
 
The noise level in the work environment is usually loud. 
 
COMMENTS: 
Employees appointed to positions in this class are required to be neatly groomed as 
needed to wear respiratory protection or other safety equipment. 



 
 1 

 RANCHO MURIETA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 
 UTILITY WORKER III 
______________________________________________________________________ 
DEPARTMENT: WATER/WASTEWATER 
 
FLSA OVERTIME STATUS: NON-EXEMPT  
BARGAINING UNIT: OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 3 
 
APPROVED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS -  June 21, 2023 

 
SUMMARY:  Performs a variety of skilled and semiskilled routine duties in the 
construction, repair, and maintenance of water distribution and collection systems; 
drainage system maintenance; buildings and grounds maintenance; installation, 
maintenance and repair of water service lines and meters; to operate a variety of 
equipment; and to perform other related duties as required.  Oversees Utility I & II workers. 
 
SUPERVISION:  Receives direct supervision from the Utility Supervisor. 
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES include the following. Other duties may 
be assigned. 
 

• Performs a variety of skilled and skilled laboring tasks in the construction and 
maintenance of water distribution and collection systems, drainage system, roads, 
pipelines and other District facilities;  

 
• inspects job sites to check on work progress, assure satisfactory completion and 

plan new assignments; 
 
• maintains districts open channels and ditch systems; 
 
• investigates customer complaints related to water, wastewater and drainage 

system operation; reads residential and commercial meters; 
 

• works in or around hazardous panels and equipment; assists operations staff as 
needed; 

 
• observes variations in operating conditions and makes appropriate suggestions or 

adjustments; 
 

• reads residential and commercial meters;  enters data into computer; 
 

• mark out District utilities for USAs; 
 
 



 
 2 

• makes water and sewer line repairs; 
 

• updates and maintains daily shift log; tracks meter, distribution, and other repairs on 
Districts network; 

 
• operates backhoe, dump truck, jetting unit or other equipment;  

 
• performs a wide variety of maintenance work according to District needs. 

 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS:  
This is the advanced working level in the Utility Operator series.  Incumbents are expected 
to perform the more difficult operations and maintenance assignments with minimum 
guidance and supervision in the repair and maintenance of District water distribution, 
collection systems and related buildings, grounds and facilities; to provide work direction 
and assist the Utility Supervisor; to have daily responsibility for field operations and its 
maintenance; train other staff to operate a variety of power driven equipment and tools 
utilized in construction and maintenance activities, safety equipment, and all aspects of 
distribution operations. 
 
QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS: 
To perform this job successfully, an individual must be able to perform each essential duty 
satisfactorily. The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skill, and 
ability required.  
 
Must have ability to perform a variety of unskilled and semi-skilled work in construction 
repair and maintenance tasks above and below ground.  
 
Ability to oversee and train personnel in a wide range of repair and maintenance work at 
water, wastewater and drainage facilities; Effectively operate a variety of light and 
moderately heavy mechanical equipment. Read and interpret sewer and water system 
maps and engineering drawings. Keep records and prepare reports as needed.  Skillfully 
use hand and power tools. Safely operate backhoe and related equipment in and around 
other utilities. Use computer equipment and related peripheral equipment to enter and 
extract information. Perform strenuous manual labor. Insure proper use and maintenance 
of Personal Protective Equipment. Read and write at the level required for successful job 
performance. Follow and give written and oral instructions. Oversee the completion of 
tasks and projects independently and as a team. Work unusual shifts, weekends, 
evenings, and holidays when required, as well as work standby and respond to 
emergency calls. Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships. Fill in for 
District Utility Supervisor position and duties as necessary. 
 
 
 
 
EDUCATION AND/OR EXPERIENCE: 



 
 3 

Any combination of training and experience, which would likely provide the required 
knowledge and ability, is qualifying; 
 
Minimum Education:  High School diploma and/or equivalent. 
 
Candidates must be 18 years of age prior to appointment because of the hazards of the 
job, as defined by the Fair Labor Standards Act. 
 
Three years of experience as a Utility Worker II with Rancho Murieta Community Services 
District or equivalent work elsewhere, and 
 
Two years of general laboring work involving repair and maintenance of water distribution 
and collection equipment, grounds, facilities and systems. 
 
CERTIFICATES, LICENSES, REGISTRATIONS: 
Possession of the category of California Driver's license required by the State Department 
of Motor Vehicles to perform the essential duties of the position.  Continued maintenance 
of a valid driver's license, insurability, and compliance with established District vehicle 
operation standards are a condition of continuing employment. 
 
Possession and maintenance of a Water Distribution 1 Certificate issued by the California 
Public Department of Health and must obtain Water Distribution 2 Certificate within 18 
months of entering this position. Incumbent must complete the appropriate amount of 
continuing education hours as required by the State of California to maintain the 
certification. 
 
Failure to obtain and maintain the appropriate credentials may constitute a cause for 
termination from this appointment. 
 
Possession of higher Water Distribution Operator certification Grades and CWEA 
collection system operator I certification is highly desired and will be mandatory should the 
system change and require it.  
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS: 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an 
employee to successfully perform the essential functions of this job.  
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee is frequently required to stand; walk; 
sit; use hands to handle or feel objects, tools, or controls; reach with hands and arms; 
climb or balance; stoop, kneel, crouch, or crawl; and talk or hear. 
 
 
The employee must frequently lift and/or move up to 50 pounds. Specific vision abilities 
required by this job include close vision, distance vision, color vision, peripheral vision, 
depth perception, and the ability to adjust focus.  Must meet the rating capacity of 



 
 4 

equipment in order to perform duties of the position; Frequently bend, stoop, squat, 
kneel, crouch and reach above the shoulder;  Wear respirators as needed to perform 
work. 
 
WORK ENVIRONMENT: 
The work environment characteristics described here are representative of those an 
employee encounters while performing the essential functions of this job. Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the 
essential functions. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee frequently works in outside weather 
conditions and is frequently exposed to wet and/or humid conditions. The employee 
occasionally works near moving mechanical parts and in high, precarious places and is 
occasionally exposed to toxic or caustic chemicals and vibration, risk of electrical shock. 
 
The noise level in the work environment is usually loud. 
 
COMMENTS: 
Employees appointed to positions in this class are required to be neatly groomed as 
needed to wear respiratory protection or other safety equipment. 
 
Appointment to this position falls under a one year probationary period with the District. 
 
 
 
 



Position Grade Step I Step II Step III Step IV Step V

Administrative Assistant I 35 43,950.40$   46,134.40$   48,422.40$      50,856.00$    53,393.60$    

1,690.40$     1,774.40$     1,862.40$        1,956.00$      2,053.60$      

21.13$          22.18$          23.28$             24.45$           25.67$           

Administrative Assistant II 41 50,856.00$   53,393.60$   56,056.00$      58,864.00$    61,796.80$    

1,956.00$     2,053.60$     2,156.00$        2,264.00$      2,376.80$      

24.45$          25.67$          26.95$             28.30$           29.71$           

CIP Worker (Temporary) 46 57,491.20$   60,340.80$   63,356.80$      66,539.20$    69,846.40$    

2,211.20$     2,320.80$     2,436.80$        2,559.20$      2,686.40$      

27.64$          29.01$          30.46$             31.99$           33.58$           

Conservation Coordinator 50 63,356.80$   66,539.20$   69,846.40$      73,361.60$    76,980.80$    

2,436.80$     2,559.20$     2,686.40$        2,821.60$      2,960.80$      

30.46$          31.99$          33.58$             35.27$           37.01$           

Customer Service Specialist I 31 39,832.00$   41,849.60$   43,950.40$      46,134.40$    48,422.40$    

1,532.00$     1,609.60$     1,690.40$        1,774.40$      1,862.40$      

19.15$          20.12$          21.13$             22.18$           23.28$           

Customer Service Specialist II 37 46,134.40$   48,422.40$   50,856.00$      53,393.60$    56,056.00$    

1,774.40$     1,862.40$     1,956.00$        2,053.60$      2,156.00$      

22.18$          23.28$          24.45$             25.67$           26.95$           

Engineering Technician I 52 66,539.20$   69,846.40$   73,361.60$      76,980.80$    80,849.60$    

2,559.20$     2,686.40$     2,821.60$        2,960.80$      3,109.60$      

31.99$          33.58$          35.27$             37.01$           38.87$           

Engineering Technician II 53 68,140.80$   71,552.00$   75,129.60$      78,894.40$    82,846.40$    

2,620.80$     2,752.00$     2,889.60$        3,034.40$      3,186.40$      

32.76$          34.40$          36.12$             37.93$           39.83$           

Engineering Technician III 59 78,894.40$   82,846.40$   86,985.60$      91,332.80$    95,908.80$    

3,034.40$     3,186.40$     3,345.60$        3,512.80$      3,688.80$      

37.93$          39.83$          41.82$             43.91$           46.11$           

Financial Services Specialist I 56 73,361.60$   76,980.80$   80,849.60$      84,926.40$    89,169.60$    

2,821.60$     2,960.80$     3,109.60$        3,266.40$      3,429.60$      

35.27$          37.01$          38.87$             40.83$           42.87$           

Financial Services Specialist II 62 84,926.40$   89,169.60$   93,620.80$      98,280.00$    103,188.80$  

3,266.40$     3,429.60$     3,600.80$        3,780.00$      3,968.80$      

40.83$          42.87$          45.01$             47.25$           49.61$           

GIS Technician I 51 64,916.80$   68,140.80$   71,552.00$      75,129.60$    78,894.40$    

2,496.80$     2,620.80$     2,752.00$        2,889.60$      3,034.40$      

31.21$          32.76$          34.40$             36.12$           37.93$           

GIS Technician II 55 71,552.00$   75,129.60$   78,894.40$      82,846.40$    86,985.60$    

2,752.00$     2,889.60$     3,034.40$        3,186.40$      3,345.60$      

34.40$          36.12$          37.93$             39.83$           41.82$           

Intern I 7 22,193.60$   23,296.00$   24,481.60$      25,667.20$    26,977.60$    

853.60$        896.00$        941.60$           987.20$         1,037.60$      

10.67$          11.20$          11.77$             12.34$           12.97$           

ELK  GROVE  WATER  DISTRICT

Annual, Bi-Weekly & Hourly Wage

As of July 1, 2021 (COLA 3.97%)

Non-Exempt Positions



Position Grade Step I Step II Step III Step IV Step V

Intern II 24 33,592.00$   35,297.60$   37,044.80$      38,875.20$    40,851.20$    

1,292.00$     1,357.60$     1,424.80$        1,495.20$      1,571.20$      

16.15$          16.97$          17.81$             18.69$           19.64$           

Meter Reader 37 46,134.40$   48,422.40$   50,856.00$      53,393.60$    56,056.00$    

1,774.40$     1,862.40$     1,956.00$        2,053.60$      2,156.00$      

22.18$          23.28$          24.45$             25.67$           26.95$           

Operations Foreman 60 80,849.60$   84,926.40$   89,169.60$      93,620.80$    98,280.00$    

3,109.60$     3,266.40$     3,429.60$        3,600.80$      3,780.00$      

38.87$          40.83$          42.87$             45.01$           47.25$           

Operator in Training 37 46,134.40$   48,422.40$   50,856.00$      53,393.60$    56,056.00$    

1,774.40$     1,862.40$     1,956.00$        2,053.60$      2,156.00$      

22.18$          23.28$          24.45$             25.67$           26.95$           

Senior Utility Billing Specialist 56 73,361.60$   76,980.80$   80,849.60$      84,926.40$    89,169.60$    

2,821.60$     2,960.80$     3,109.60$        3,266.40$      3,429.60$      

35.27$          37.01$          38.87$             40.83$           42.87$           

Utility Billing Specialist 46 57,491.20$   60,340.80$   63,356.80$      66,539.20$    69,846.40$    

2,211.20$     2,320.80$     2,436.80$        2,559.20$      2,686.40$      

27.64$          29.01$          30.46$             31.99$           33.58$           

Water Distribution Supervisor 60 80,849.60$   84,926.40$   89,169.60$      93,620.80$    98,280.00$    

3,109.60$     3,266.40$     3,429.60$        3,600.80$      3,780.00$      

38.87$          40.83$          42.87$             45.01$           47.25$           

Water Distribution Operator I 46 57,491.20$   60,340.80$   63,356.80$      66,539.20$    69,846.40$    

2,211.20$     2,320.80$     2,436.80$        2,559.20$      2,686.40$      

27.64$          29.01$          30.46$             31.99$           33.58$           

Water Distribution Operator II 51 64,916.80$   68,140.80$   71,552.00$      75,129.60$    78,894.40$    

2,496.80$     2,620.80$     2,752.00$        2,889.60$      3,034.40$      

31.21$          32.76$          34.40$             36.12$           37.93$           

Water Distribution Operator III 56 73,361.60$   76,980.80$   80,849.60$      84,926.40$    89,169.60$    

2,821.60$     2,960.80$     3,109.60$        3,266.40$      3,429.60$      

35.27$          37.01$          38.87$             40.83$           42.87$           

Water Treatment Supervisor 60 80,849.60$   84,926.40$   89,169.60$      93,620.80$    98,280.00$    

3,109.60$     3,266.40$     3,429.60$        3,600.80$      3,780.00$      

38.87$          40.83$          42.87$             45.01$           47.25$           

Water Treatment Operator I 46 57,491.20$   60,340.80$   63,356.80$      66,539.20$    69,846.40$    

2,211.20$     2,320.80$     2,436.80$        2,559.20$      2,686.40$      

27.64$          29.01$          30.46$             31.99$           33.58$           

Water Treatment Operator II 51 64,916.80$   68,140.80$   71,552.00$      75,129.60$    78,894.40$    

2,496.80$     2,620.80$     2,752.00$        2,889.60$      3,034.40$      

31.21$          32.76$          34.40$             36.12$           37.93$           

Non-Exempt Positions
Annual, Bi-Weekly & Hourly Wage

As of July 1, 2021 (COLA 3.97%)

ELK  GROVE  WATER  DISTRICT



Position Grade Step I Step II Step III Step IV Step V

Water Treatment Operator III 56 73,361.60$   76,980.80$   80,849.60$      84,926.40$    89,169.60$    

 2,821.60$     2,960.80$     3,109.60$        3,266.40$      3,429.60$      

35.27$          37.01$          38.87$             40.83$           42.87$           

Water Utility Supervisor 60 80,849.60$   84,926.40$   89,169.60$      93,620.80$    98,280.00$    

3,109.60$     3,266.40$     3,429.60$        3,600.80$      3,780.00$      

38.87$          40.83$          42.87$             45.01$           47.25$           

Water Utility Operator I 46 57,491.20$   60,340.80$   63,356.80$      66,539.20$    69,846.40$    

2,211.20$     2,320.80$     2,436.80$        2,559.20$      2,686.40$      

27.64$          29.01$          30.46$             31.99$           33.58$           

Water Utility Operator II 51 64,916.80$   68,140.80$   71,552.00$      75,129.60$    78,894.40$    

2,496.80$     2,620.80$     2,752.00$        2,889.60$      3,034.40$      

31.21$          32.76$          34.40$             36.12$           37.93$           

Water Utility Operator III 56 73,361.60$   76,980.80$   80,849.60$      84,926.40$    89,169.60$    

2,821.60$     2,960.80$     3,109.60$        3,266.40$      3,429.60$      

35.27$          37.01$          38.87$             40.83$           42.87$           

ELK  GROVE  WATER  DISTRICT
Non-Exempt Positions

Annual, Bi-Weekly & Hourly Wage

As of July 1, 2021 (COLA 3.97%)



Position Grade Step I Step II Step III Step IV Step V

General Manager --- 192,345$      

Assistant General Manager 82 138,278$      145,226$      152,485$         160,098$       168,126$       

Finance Manager 79 128,502$      134,930$      141,669$         148,762$       156,208$       

Senior Civil Engineer 75 116,542$      122,387$      128,502$         134,930$       141,669$       

Operations Manager 75 116,542$      122,387$      128,502$         134,930$       141,669$       

Finance Supervisor 71 105,706$      110,989$      116,542$         122,387$       128,502$       

Human Resources Administrator 70 103,189$      108,368$      113,797$         119,454$       125,445$       

Associate Civil Engineer 69 100,693$      105,706$      110,989$         116,542$       122,387$       

Program Manager 69 100,693$      105,706$      110,989$         116,542$       122,387$       

Management Analyst 66 93,621$        98,280$        103,189$         108,368$       113,797$       

Human Resources Specialist 62 84,926$        89,170$        93,621$           98,280$         103,189$       

Associate Engineer 61 82,846$        86,986$        91,333$           95,909$         100,693$       

As of July 1, 2021 (COLA 3.97%)

Annual Salary

Exempt Positions

ELK  GROVE  WATER  DISTRICT



Class Specification Date/Revision: July 1, 2022 

 

   FLORIN RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT/ 
ELK GROVE WATER DISTRICT 

CLASS SPECIFICATION 
 

FRCD/EGWD is an equal opportunity employer.   
Employment is at-will. 

 
 

POSITION:     Utility Billing Specialist I/II/III/Senior 
DEPARTMENT/DIVISION:  Finance 
DIRECTLY REPORTS TO:   Finance Supervisor 
FLSA:      Non-exempt  
DIRECTLY SUPERVISES:  N/A  
   

Job Definition 

Classifications in this series perform the full range of utility billing and customer service functions for the 
District. The customer service facet of the Finance Department is responsible for a variety of utility billing 
tasks associated with receiving, processing, maintaining, and updating customer accounts and transactions, 
while providing exceptional customer service. 
 

Distinguishing Characteristics 
 

Utility Billing Specialist I This is the entry level in the Utility Billing Specialist series. Positions in this class 
generally require minimal related work experience. The Utility Billing Specialist I works under close 
supervision while learning job tasks, progressing to relatively less supervision as procedures and processes 
of assigned tasks are learned. Receives close supervision from the Finance Supervisor. 
 
Utility Billing Specialist II This is the junior level in the Utility Billing Specialist series. Employees at this 
level receive relatively less instruction or assistance than the Utility Billing Specialist I position and are fully 
aware of the operating procedures and policies within the work unit. Positions in this class are typically filled 
by advancement from the Utility Billing Specialist I once the individual meets the qualifications and 
performance standards of the II level and demonstrates an ability to perform all facets of the position. The 
Utility Billing Specialist II performs assigned tasks while progressively increasing their responsibility, 
knowledge, and work experience. Receives general supervision from the Finance Supervisor. 
 
Utility Billing Specialist III This is the journey level class in the Utility Billing Specialist series. Positions at 
this level act as support for the Senior Utility Billing Specialist. Positions in this class are typically filled by 
advancement from the Utility Billing Specialist II level once the individual meets the qualifications and 
performance standards of the Utility Billing Specialist III and demonstrates an ability to perform the more 
complex facets of the position. Receives general supervision from the Finance Supervisor. 
 
Senior Utility Billing Specialist This is the advanced-journey level in the Utility Billing Specialist series. 
Positions at this level are distinguished from other classes within the series by the level of responsibility 
assumed, complexity of duties assigned, independence of action taken, by the amount of time spent 
performing the duties. Individuals in this position perform the most difficult and responsible types of duties 
assigned to classes within this series and are required to be fully trained in all procedures related to assigned 
areas of responsibility. Receives minimal supervision from the Finance Supervisor. 
 
 
 



Examples of Essential Duties 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

• Communicates with customers, in person, via telephone, and email to discuss and resolve problems and 
concerns related to their water service. 

• Receives and responds to complaints about District service. 

• Resolves a variety of problems related to meter readings, high consumption, delinquent accounts, 
disconnects, re-connects, non-reads, and improper billings. 

• Posts payments to customer accounts, both physical and electronic payment files. 

• Follows District cash handling procedures. 

• Reconciles assigned cash drawer; may assist with the preparation of daily bank deposits. 

• Processes customer payment arrangements. 

• Performs diagnostics on water related questions or concerns and refers customer to proper staff for 
resolution. 

• At the II level: 
o Processes opening/closing of accounts.  
o Posts electronic payment files. 
o Processes insufficient fund transactions. 
o Resolves problems with delinquent accounts. 
o Issues customer past due notices. 
o Maintains customer payment arrangement and files.  
o Files accounts payable invoices on a weekly basis. 

• At the III level: 
o Researches and applies District policies and regulations regarding establishment and maintenance of 

billing accounts. 
o Processes all account transactions and adjustments in accordance with customer bankruptcies. 
o Maintains all billing records and files related to customer bankruptcies, demands, and liens. 
o Maintains records for all construction permits issued to contractors. 
o Maintains records and reports unique to utility billing. 
o Processes all demand requests. 
o Processes refunds. 
o Reviews delinquent accounts and manages dunning/collection processes. 
o Establishes a list of delinquent accounts, including spreadsheets. 
o Prints door hangers and shut off tags. 
o Processes claims of lien. 
o Generates collections on delinquent bills. 

• At the Senior level: 
o Maintains on-line payment registrations. 
o Maintains Automated Clearing House (ACH) on customer accounts. 
o Drafts ACH files on accounts.  
o Reconciles ACH payment issues.  
o Compiles monthly billings. 
o Coordinates with Technical Services on new development projects/new construction.  
o Works with Distribution Supervisor to coordinate meter reading functions.  
o Receives and maintains meter stock. 
o Creates new accounts/service locations for new construction. 
o Sequences metered accounts for new development. 
o Invoices customers for hydrants, backflow devices, meter boxes, etc. 
o Prepares various billing and statistical reports. 



o Reconciles service complaints and billing problems. 
o Coordinates with Program Manager on customer outreach (bill inserts, etc.). 
o Leads utility billing team when required. 

 

Qualifications 
 

Utility Billing Specialist I 
 

Knowledge of: 

• English usage, spelling, grammar, and punctuation. 

• Principles of customer service. 

• Basic operation of automated office machines including calculator, computer, keyboard, printers, 
scanners and other peripherals, copier, and facsimile machine. 

• Basic arithmetic including addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division; calculation of decimals, 
ratios, percentages, and fractions. 

• Windows and Windows based programs. 
 

Ability to: 

• Perform basic ten key. 

• Perform basic data entry. 

• Learn basic functions of the District billing program. 

• Perform mail and bank pickup. 
• Make arithmetic calculations quickly and accurately. 

• Analyze and evaluate customer complaints.  

• Maintain sufficient inventory of supplies for administration division. 

• Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with coworkers, outside agencies, and the 
public.  

• Represent the District in a positive and professional manner. 

• Communicate with District management, co-workers, and the public in written and oral form. 
 

Utility Billing Specialist II 
 

In addition to the qualifications for the Utility Billing Specialist I: 
 

Knowledge of: 

• District policies, procedures, and standards.  

• General functions of District billing program.  

• General billing practices and record keeping methods.  
 

Ability to: 

• Perform proficient ten key. 

• Perform proficient data entry. 

• Perform a variety of difficult and sensitive utility billing functions.   

• Maintain and update payment and billing records. 
 

 
 
 



Utility Billing Specialist III 
 

In addition to the qualifications for the Utility Billing Specialist II: 
 

Knowledge of: 

• Bankruptcy and lien process.  

• Construction meter process. 
 
Ability to: 

• Perform reconciliation of difficult accounts receivable transactions. 

• Audit and adjust financial records. 

• Analyze and evaluate financial and account records drawing logical conclusions and making decisions. 

• Interpret, understand, apply, and explain utility rules, procedures, policies, codes, and ordinances. 

• Compose clear and concise reports. 

• Use and operate a calculator, computer, utility billing software, and other office equipment. 

• Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with outside vendors and contractors. 

• Communicate with outside vendors and contractors in written and oral form. 
 

Senior Utility Billing Specialist 
 

In addition to the qualifications for the Utility Billing Specialist III: 
 

Knowledge of: 

• In depth functions of District billing program.  

• Meter reading software. 
 
Ability to: 

• Resolve billing software malfunctions. 

• Lead and monitor team to achieve project goals.  

• Lead a project with little to no supervision. 

• Prioritize and manage tasks; apply critical thinking skills. 

• Communicate proficiently with District management, co-workers, the public, outside vendors and 
contractors in written and oral form. 

 

Physical Requirements 
• Using fine gross motor coordination in performing data entries into the computer while sitting for 

prolonged periods of time. 

• Coordinate eyes, hands, and fingers to perform semi-skilled tasks including typing and calculating. 

• Hear normal conversation in person and/on the telephone. 

• Vision must be sufficient to accomplish the duties of the position, which may include operating a 
company vehicle. 

• Lift, carry, push, and pull 25 pounds. 

• Travel infrequently by vehicle for District related duties and activities. 

• Intermittently twist and reach office equipment. 
 

Required Certifications and Licenses 
Possession of a valid Class C Driver’s License. 



Required Education and Experience 

High school diploma or equivalent; and 

 
Utility Billing Specialist I 

 
One (1) year of customer service experience.  

 
Utility Billing Specialist II 

 
Two (2) years of increasingly responsible customer service experience. 

 
Utility Billing Specialist III 

 
Three (3) years of increasingly responsible customer service experience. 
 

Senior Utility Billing Specialist 
 
Five (5) years of increasingly responsible customer service experience. 
 
 

 
 



Class Specification Date/Revision: July 1, 2022 

 

FLORIN RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT/ 
ELK GROVE WATER DISTRICT 

CLASS SPECIFICATION 
 

FRCD/EGWD is an equal opportunity employer.   
Employment is at-will. 

 
 

POSITION:     Water Distribution OIT/I/II/III   
DEPARTMENT/DIVISION:  Distribution/Utility 
DIRECTLY REPORTS TO:   Water Distribution Supervisor  
FLSA:      Non-exempt  
DIRECTLY SUPERVISES:   N/A  
 

Job Definition 
Classifications in this series perform the full range of assigned duties for the operations and maintenance 
functions of the distribution system. The Distribution and Utility Departments are responsible for a 
variety of maintenance and construction tasks associated with the installation, repair and replacement of 
existing distribution system facilities and appurtenances. 
 

Distinguishing Characteristics 
 

Water Distribution Operator in Training This is the entry level position in the Water Distribution 
Operator series. Positions in this class generally require minimal related work experience. Water 
Distribution Operators in Training work under close supervision while learning job tasks, progressing to 
relatively less supervision as procedures and processes of assigned tasks are learned. Receives close 
supervision from the Water Distribution Supervisor. 
 

Water Distribution Operator I This is the first certified level in the Water Distribution Operator series. 
Employees at this level receive relatively less instruction or assistance than the Operator in Training 
position and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies within the work unit. Positions in this 
class are typically filled by advancement from the Operator in Training level once the individual meets the 
qualifications and performance standards of the I level and demonstrates an ability to perform all facets of 
the position. Receives general supervision from the Water Distribution Supervisor. 
 

Water Distribution Operator II This is the second certified level in the Water Distribution Operator series. 
Employees at this level receive relatively less instruction than the Water Distribution Operator I and are 
fully aware of the operating procedures and policies within the work unit. Positions in this class are 
normally filled by advancement from the I level once the individual meets the qualifications and 
performance standards of the II level, demonstrates an ability to perform all facets of the position, and 
meets any other assessment requirements to move to the II level. Receives general supervision from the 
Water Distribution Supervisor. 
 

Water Distribution Operator III This is the third certified level in the Water Distribution Operator series. 
Positions at this level are distinguished from other classes within the series by the level of responsibility 
assumed, complexity of duties assigned, independence of action taken, by the amount of time spent 
performing the duties. Individuals in this position perform the most difficult and responsible types of 
duties assigned to classes within this series and are required to be fully trained in all procedures related to 
assigned areas of responsibility. Receives minimal supervision from the Water Distribution Supervisor. 

 



Examples of Essential Duties 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

• Repairs main and service line leaks and breaks; replaces lines as needed. 

• Repairs water system infrastructure such as gate valves, meter connections, angle stops, service pipes, 
and corporation stops as needed. 

• Taps main lines for new or replacement service. 

• Performs a variety of maintenance and repair tasks on water distribution facility system elements such 
as fire hydrants, air relief valves, blow-offs, pressure control stations, sample stations, and general 
District facilities and equipment as needed. 

• Cleans dead-end lines by discharging water until no apparent odor, taste or color exists, fully 
complying with all required permit conditions. 

• Reads meters, shuts services off, and/or removes meters as directed. 

• Shuts down main lines in emergencies (under supervision) 

• Distributes customer notices. 

• Operates various equipment (air compressor, jackhammer, etc.) and forklift (upon certification). 

• At the I level: 
o Shuts down main lines in emergencies (without supervision) 
o Performs traffic control (DOT) 
o Performs on-call duty as scheduled. 

• At the II level: 
o Conducts tail gate meetings as required. 
o Performs hot asphalt/road repair. 
o May perform inspections. 

• At the III level: 
o Assists contractors and representatives of other utilities with location of District facilities. 
o Responds to customer complaints regarding water quality, low and high pressure, and water 

consumption resulting in high bill. 
o Performs inspections. 
o Schedules and leads work crews when required. 
o  Provides training and direction to crews as required.  

 

Qualifications 
 

Water Distribution Operator in Training 
 
Ability to: 

• Operate District vehicles. 

• Use a telephone for communication with District staff. 

• Use office equipment such as computer terminals, copiers, and facsimile machines. 

•  Communicate orally with District management, co-workers, and the public in a variety of settings. 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Water Distribution Operator I 
 

In addition to the qualifications for the Water Distribution Operator in Training: 
 

Knowledge of: 

• District policies, procedures, and standards. 

• Principals of work safety. 

• Basic equipment maintenance and repair. 

• Trench shoring and safety practices. 

• Laws, regulations, and ordinances applicable to water treatment, distribution operations, and 
underground utility installations, methods, and repairs. 

• Mathematical principals related to water measurement and distribution systems. 

• Principals of traffic control measures. 

• Operating principals, methods, materials, and equipment used in water system installation, 
maintenance, construction, and repair work. 

• Disinfection procedures and protocol.  

• Aspects of water quality, including sampling and monitoring, types of contaminants and potential 
adverse health impacts, aesthetic qualities (taste, odor, etc.) and applicable local, state, and federal 
regulations. 

• Computer operations and software such as: Cityworks, Microsoft: Word, Excel, Access, and Outlook. 
 

Ability to: 

• Work independently. 

• Use hand tools: cut-off saw, jack hammers, pipe beveler, powder puff, and miscellaneous hand tools as 
required predicated by demonstrated knowledge and ability. 

• Operate main valves properly to avoid water hammer, as necessary. 

• Use equipment: air compressor, bobcat, dump trucks, trash pumps, and vacuum excavators. 

• Call in and mark an Underground Service Alert (USA) for District work. 

• Calculate chlorine dosages. 

• Read and calibrate a chlorine residual kit. 

• Communicate with District management, co-workers, and the public in written and oral form. 
 

Water Distribution Operator II 
 

In addition to the qualifications for the Water Distribution Operator I: 
 

Knowledge of: 

• Proficient in rules and regulations of trench shoring and safety practices. 

• Set-up and run laser levels (Distribution Department) 

• Confined space laws and procedures.  
 
Ability to: 

• Use equipment: backhoe loader, bobcat with all attachments, cold planer, drum roller, hydro-
pneumatic pump, and oiler. 

• Locate District utilities for a USA. 

• Use pocket penetrometer. 



• Repair asphalt and understand process. 

• Set-up and run laser levels (Utility Department) 

• Install water mains and appurtenances with little supervision. 

• Calculate concrete and asphalt quantities. 

• Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with outside vendors and contractors. 

• Communicate with outside vendors and contractors in written and oral form. 
 

Water Distribution Operator III 
 

In addition to the qualifications for the Water Distribution Operator II: 
 

Knowledge of: 

• Laws, regulations, and ordinances applicable to water treatment and distributions operations. 
 

Ability to: 

• Lead, monitor, and supervise a team to achieve project goals.  

• Plan and orchestrate work. 

• Lead a project with little to no supervision. 

• Prioritize and manage tasks; apply critical thinking skills. 

• Assess irregularities, think clearly under pressure, and take appropriate corrective action. 

• Perform in emergency situations. 

• Read, analyze, interpret, understand, and implement directions. 

• Directs emergency operations and repair work, when required. 

• Use equipment: excavator, backhoe, directional bore rig, directional locator. 

• Order materials. 

• Work with engineers to develop plans. 

• Proficient with all equipment necessary to perform hot asphalt/road repairs. 

• Read and interpret piping and instrumentation diagrams, maps, and drawings. 

• Operate and maintain District water pumping plants and treatment facilities. 

• Communicate proficiently with District management, co-workers, the public, outside vendors and 
contractors in written and oral form. 

 
Physical Requirements 
• Carry, push, reach, and lift equipment and parts weighing up to 90 pounds. 

• Stoop, kneel, crouch, crawl, and climb during field maintenance and repair work. 

• Regularly work in an outdoor environment, with exposure to dust and dirt, including adverse weather 
conditions. 

• Walk on uneven terrain. 

• Sit for extended periods of time. 

• Hear and see within normal ranges. 
 

Required Certifications and Licenses 
Possession of a valid Class C Driver’s License; and 
 

 



Water Distribution Operator in Training 
 

• Must obtain a State of California Water Distribution Operators certificate D1 within eighteen months 
of employment. 

• Must obtain a State of California Water Treatment Operators certificate T1 within eighteen months of 
employment. 

 
Water Distribution Operator I 

 

• Possession of State of California Water Distribution Operators certificate D1. 

• Possession of State of California Water Treatment Operators certificate T1. 
 

Water Distribution Operator II 
 

• Possession of State of California Water Distribution Operators certificate D2. 

• Possession of State of California Water Treatment Operators certificate T2. 
 

Water Distribution Operator III 
 

• Possession of State of California Water Distribution Operators certificate D3. 

• Possession of State of California Water Treatment Operators certificate T2. 

 
Required Education and Experience 
 

Water Distribution Operator in Training 
 

Possession of a high school diploma or equivalent. 
 

Water Distribution Operator I 
 

Possession of a high school diploma or equivalent. One (1) year of experience with EGWD, classified as 
an Operator in Training; or One (1) year of increasingly responsible work experience in water pipeline 
construction work, and performing work in the operation, maintenance, and repair of water 
distribution/treatment facility systems. 
 

Water Distribution Operator II 
 

Possession of a high school diploma or equivalent. Two (2) years of experience with EGWD or Two (2) 
years of increasingly responsible work experience in water pipeline construction work, and performing 
work in the operation, maintenance, and repair of water distribution/treatment facility systems at another 
water utility. 
 

Water Distribution Operator III 
 

Possession of a high school diploma or equivalent. Three (3) years of experience with EGWD or Three (3) 
years of increasingly responsible work experience in water pipeline construction work, and performing 
work in the operation, maintenance, and repair of water distribution/treatment facility systems 

 
 
  



Exempt Positions

Minimum Maximum (Annual Salaries based on 2080 Hours) Minimum Maximum

Accountant  $           44.82  $           53.78 Associate Engineer  $       128,169.60  $ 153,816.00 

Accounting Technician I  $           31.02  $           37.22 Customer Service Manager  $       141,585.60  $ 169,915.20 

Accounting Technician II  $           34.26  $           41.11 Director of Engineering Services  $       172,764.80  $ 207,313.60 

Accounting Technician III  $           37.84  $           45.41 Director of Finance  $       172,764.80  $ 207,313.60 

Administrative Assistant - Board Secretary  $           46.64  $           55.97 Director of Operations  $       172,764.80  $ 207,313.60 

Chief Operator  $           61.01  $           73.22 Field Services Manager  $       141,585.60  $ 169,915.20 

CMMS/GIS Coordinator  $           48.53  $           58.24 Information Technology Manager  $       141,585.60  $ 169,915.20 

Construction Inspector I  $           38.61  $           46.33 Safety/Regulatory Compliance Coordinator  $       119,558.40  $ 143,457.60 

Construction Inspector II  $           42.64  $           51.17 Senior Engineer  $       141,585.60  $ 169,915.20 

Construction Inspector III  $           47.11  $           56.53 Water Resources Manager  $       141,585.60  $ 169,915.20 

Customer Service Technician I  $           28.64  $           34.37 Water Treatment Plant Manager  $       157,976.00  $ 189,550.40 

Customer Service Technician II  $           31.64  $           37.97 General Manager (Contract)  $       231,982.40  $ 231,982.40 

Customer Service Technician III  $           34.95  $           41.94 

Distribution Lead Worker  $           53.08  $           63.70 

Distribution Operator I  $           34.26  $           41.11 

Distribution Operator II  $           37.84  $           45.41 

Distribution Operator III  $           41.80  $           50.16 

Distribution Operator IV  $           46.18  $           55.41 

Distribution Maintenance Temporary Helper  $           21.04  $           21.04 

Electrical & Instrumentation Technician  $           52.55  $           63.07 

Engineering Technician I  $           36.73  $           44.08 

Engineering Technician II  $           40.57  $           48.69 

Engineering Technician III  $           44.82  $           53.78 

Information Technology Technician I  $           37.47  $           44.96 

Information Technology Technician II  $           41.39  $           49.67 

Maintenance Chief  $           58.05  $           69.66 

Meter Maintenance Technician  $           37.84  $           45.41 

Meter Technician  $           35.65  $           42.78 

Pump Station Lead  $           58.05  $           69.66 

Pump Station Operator  $           46.18  $           55.41 

Pump Station Technician  $           50.50  $           60.60 

Purchasing Agent  $           39.38  $           47.26 

Senior Accountant  $           52.03  $           62.44 

Utilities Coordinator  $           48.05  $           57.66 

Utilities Maintenance Worker I  $           28.36  $           34.03 

Utilities Maintenance Worker II  $           31.33  $           37.59 

Utilities Mechanic I  $           38.22  $           45.87 

Utilities Mechanic II  $           42.22  $           50.67 

Water Efficiency Helper  $           27.25  $           32.70 

Water Efficiency Lead Worker  $           40.57  $           48.69 

Water Efficiency Technician I  $           33.25  $           39.90 

Water Efficiency Technician II  $           36.73  $           44.08 

Water Treatment Plant Operator I  $           36.37  $           43.64 

Water Treatment Plant Operator II  $           40.17  $           48.21 

Water Treatment Plant Operator III  $           44.38  $           53.25 

Water Treatment Plant Operator IV  $           49.02  $           58.82 

EFFECTIVE:  July 1, 2023

SAN JUAN WATER DISTRICT

COMPENSATION SCHEDULE

Hourly Rate Range
Non-Exempt Positions

Annual Rate Range



 San Juan Water District 
9935 Auburn Folsom Road 

Granite Bay, California 95746 
(916) 791-0115 
www.sjwd.org 

 
Position Description 

Accounting Technician III 
 

Status: Non-Exempt, Confidential In Nature and Non-Safety Sensitive 
 
Supervisor: Director of Finance 

 
Effective Date: January 28, 2022 

 
Supervision Received and Exercised 
Receives immediate supervision from the Director of Finance and technical and functional 
supervision from the Finance and Administrative Services Analyst and Accountant.  May provide 
technical and functional supervision over administrative support personnel. 

 
Primary Function 
To perform a variety of technical and administrative accounting and financial data transactions 
related to accounts payable, accounts receivable, inventory, general ledger, payroll, human 
resources and customer service; to perform duties requiring specialized knowledge; and to 
provide administrative support to the Director of Finance. 

 

 
Essential Duties - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
• Plan, prioritize and review the work of staff assigned to a variety of technical and clerical 

accounting duties. 
• Develop schedules and methods to accomplish assignments ensuring work is completed in 

a timely and efficient manner. 
• Maintain accounting records or systems such as accounts payable, accounts receivable, 

cash receipts, inventory, payroll and utility billing; run, audit and review associated reports. 
• Post and maintain the general ledger in accordance with account classifications. 
• Perform the Accounts Payable process following the approved procedures, and/or serve as 

primary back-up to the preparer. 
• Perform new hire orientation process. 
• Process workers compensation and disability claims and ensure proper reports are filed.  
• Coordinate open enrollment; respond to payroll and benefit program questions; serve as 

liaison to benefit providers.  Administer COBRA, leave and disability programs. 
• Maintain confidential personnel files.  
• Prepare a variety of account and bank reconciliations. 
• Provide  back  up  for  other  Customer  Service  Technician  and  Accounting  Technician 

positions when required. 
• Prepare and/or review a variety of complex financial and human resource reports in 

conformance with internal and external requirements.   
• Prepare and process payroll and related remittances such as payroll taxes and benefit 

payments, including preparation and remittance of quarterly tax reports and annual W-2’s or 

http://www.sjwd.org/


Accounting Technician III 
Page 2 
 

serve as primary back-up for this function.   
• Administer and report payroll taxes; prepare, pay, analyze, and reconcile all required payroll 

taxes; prepare, reconcile and file W-2s or serve as primary back-up for this function. 
• Establish and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other District 

employees and the public using principles of good customer service. 
• Provide administrative assistance to the department.  
• Perform other duties as assigned. 

 
Minimum Qualifications 
Knowledge of: 
• English usage, grammar, spelling and punctuation. 
• Modern office practices, procedures, and equipment related to the processing and recording 

of financial records and transaction. 
• Business math. 
• Generally accepted accounting principles and technical processes. 
• Technical principles of governmental accounting. 
• Principles and practices of technical and functional supervision and training. 
• Principles and practices of customer service. 

 
Ability to: 
• Provide technical and functional supervision over assigned staff; effectively train staff. 
• Perform the most complex duties related to the performance of technical accounting duties. 
• Intermittently, review documents related to department operations; observe, identify and 

problem solve office operations and procedures; understand, interpret and explain 
department policies and procedures; explain operations and problem solve office issues for 
the public and with staff. 

• On a continuous basis, sit at desk and/or stand at counter for long periods of time; 
intermittently twist and reach office equipment; write and use keyboard to communicate 
through written means. 

• Understand the organization and operation of the Finance and Administrative Services 
Division. 

• Meet and assist the public effectively. 
• Organize and prioritize work activities. 
• Interpret and apply administrative and departmental policies. 
• Compile and maintain records and files. 
• Perform basic arithmetical calculations and financial record keeping activities. 
• Uses automated spreadsheets and other fiscal record keeping systems. 
• Perform detailed numerical work with speed and accuracy. 
• Efficiently operate computers and applicable software and 10 key. 
• Initiate and maintain effective safety practices. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, orally and in writing. 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of 

work. 
 

Education and Experience: 



Accounting Technician III 
Page 3 
 

Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge and 
abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities would be: 

 
Education:  Equivalent to graduation from high school with two semesters of college level 
accounting courses. 

 
Experience:  Three years of responsible journey experience equivalent to either a Customer 
Service Technician II or Accounting Technician II with San Juan Water District. 

 
License or Certificate: 
Possession of, or the ability to obtain and maintain, a California Driver’s License with a 
satisfactory driving record. Individuals who do not meet this requirement due to a physical 
disability will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

 
Physical Capabilities 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an 
employee to successfully perform the essential functions of this job. Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform functions. 
 
Physical Requirements Rarely 

(0-12%) 
Occasionally 

(12-33%) 
Frequently 
(34-66%) 

Regularly 
(67-100%) 

Seeing 
Hearing 
Standing/Walking 
Climbing/Stooping/Kneeling 
Lifting/Pulling/Pushing 
Approximate Maximum Weight to Lift 
Fingering/Grasping/Feeling 
Describe Working Conditions 

   √ 
   √ 
 √   
 √   
 √   
 50 Pounds   
   √ 
100 Percent Indoors 

 



San Juan Water District 
9935 Auburn Folsom Road 

Granite Bay, California 95746 
(916) 791-0115 
www.sjwd.org 

 

 

Position Description 

Distribution Operator III 

Status: Non-Exempt, Safety Sensitive 

Supervisor: Field Services Manager 

Effective Date: August 2, 2018 

 

Supervision Received and Exercised 
Receives general supervision from the Field Services Manager and receives technical and functional 
supervision from the Distribution Lead Worker. Does not provide supervision to others. 
 
Primary Function 
To perform a variety of technical activities involving pipeline construction, meter installation and repair, 
reservoir repair, and general maintenance and repair of Wholesale transmission and Retail distribution 
pipelines, storage tanks, pump stations, and appurtenances. 

 
Essential Duties - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 Perform routine construction, maintenance and repair of the District’s Wholesale and Retail 
distribution pipelines and appurtenances, service connections, and meter installations and pump 
station operation. 

 Comply with California Department of Public Health Code of Regulations, Title 17 and Title 22. 

 Comply with CalOSHA safety regulations and the District’s IIPP program. 

 Install, change, troubleshoot and relocate service connections. 

 Check pressures; perform tests for chlorine. 

 Notify customers of shut-off for emergencies and scheduled maintenance. 

 Restore pavements, landscapes and roadbeds upon completion of pipeline repairs or new 
construction. 

 Assist in the installation, repair or replacement of pumps, meters, hydrants, valves, air vacs, blow-
offs and pipelines. 

 Perform basic facilities locations. 

 Perform flushing for water quality. 

  Perform safe operation and maintenance on light to heavy equipment and tools. 

 Follow the District’s safety standards.  

 Respond to call back for after working hour emergencies and “on-call” duties as required. 

 Establish and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other District employees and 
the public using principles of good customer service.  

 Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
Minimum Qualifications 
Knowledge of: 

 General principles of water distribution systems and related facilities. 

 Methods, material, equipment, and tools used for the maintenance of structures, pipelines, mains, 
meters, valves, and hydrants.  



Distribution Operator III 
Page 2 

 

 Principles and practices of customer service. 

 Distribution operator math.  

 Safe work practices.   
 

Ability to: 

 Proficiently operate and maintain field operations equipment and tools. 

 Conduct basic facilities locations.  

 Prepare and maintain simple records of scheduled work. 

 Initiate and maintain effective safety practices. 

 Apply District, State and Federal policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 

 Identify and correct safety hazards. 

 Work long hours, when required, including evening hours. 

 Communicate clearly and concisely, orally and in writing. 

 Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of work. 
 

Education and Experience: 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge and abilities is 
qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities would be: 
 

Education: 
Equivalent to graduation from high school supplemented with training in disinfection and advanced 
math. 
 

Experience: 
One year of responsible experience equivalent to Distribution Operator II with San Juan Water 
District. 
 

License or Certificate: 
Possession of, or ability to obtain and maintain, an appropriate valid California motor vehicle operator’s 
class A license, with air brake endorsement, within six months of hire or promotion.  Individuals who do 
not meet this requirement due to a physical disability will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 
 

Possession of a Grade III Water Distribution Operator’s Certificate issued by the State of California 
Department of Public Health.  
 

Physical Capabilities 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an employee to 
successfully perform the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodations may be made to 
enable individuals with disabilities to perform functions. 
 

Physical Requirements Rarely 
(0-12%) 

Occasionally 
(12-33%) 

Frequently 
(34-66%) 

Regularly 
(67-100%) 

Seeing     

Hearing     

Standing/Walking     

Climbing/Stooping/Kneeling     

Lifting/Pulling/Pushing     

Approximate Maximum Weight to Lift   75 Pounds  

Fingering/Grasping/Feeling     

Describe Working Conditions  10 Percent Indoors, 90 Percent Outdoors in Inclement 
Weather 

 



San Juan Water District 
9935 Auburn Folsom Road 

Granite Bay, California 95746 
 (916) 791-0115 
www.sjwd.org 

  

 

Position Description 

Distribution Operator I/II 

Status: Non-Exempt, Safety Sensitive  

Supervisor: Field Services Manager 

Effective Date: August 2, 2018 

 

Supervision Received and Exercised 
Distribution Operator I – Receives general supervision from the Field Services Manager and 
receives immediate technical and functional supervision from the Distribution Lead Worker. Does 
not provide supervision to others. 
 
Distribution Operator II - Receives general supervision from the Field Services Manager and 
receives immediate technical and functional supervision from the Distribution Lead Worker. Does 
not provide supervision to others. 
 
Primary Function 
To assist with routine activities in pipeline construction, meter installation and repair and general 
maintenance and repair of the District’s Wholesale transmission and Retail distribution pipelines, 
appurtenances and pump station operation. 
 
Essential Duties - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 Excavate mains and operate pneumatic tools.  

 Operate system valves resulting in shutting down mains for required repairs. 

 Comply with the California Department of Public Health Code of Regulations, Title 17 and 
Title 22. 

 Comply with CalOSHA safety regulations and the District’s IIPP program. 

 Comply with NPDES permit regulations. 

 Comply with SWPPP regulations. 

 Identify and repair leaks. 

 Operate light equipment.  

 Assist in the repair and installation of meters.  

 Work independently in the absence of on-site supervision. 

 Use and operate hand tools, mechanical and power tools and other equipment required for 
the work in a safe and efficient manner. 

 Set up traffic control devices prior to the performance of street activities; direct and control 
traffic around work sites. 

 Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other District employees 
and the public using principles of good customer service. 

 Perform emergency response duties in accordance with State regulations for Special Districts. 

 Perform related duties as assigned. 

http://www.sjwd.org/


Distribution Operator I/II 
Page 2 

 
Minimum Qualifications 
 

Distribution Operator I 
 
Knowledge of: 

 Basic math. 

 Basic uses and purposes of general construction tools and equipment. 

 Principles and practices of customer service. 

 Safe work practices. 

 
Ability to: 

 Learn to operate and maintain field operations equipment and tools. 

 Learn to prepare and maintain simple records of scheduled work. 

 Work long hours including evening hours and “on-call duties as required. 

 Initiate and maintain effective safety practices.  

 Establish and maintain effective working relations with those contacted in the course of work. 

 Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 

 
Experience and Education: 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge and 
abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities would be: 
 

Education: 
Equivalent to graduation from high school. 
 
Experience: 
None required. 
 

License or Certificate: 
Possession of a valid California motor vehicle operator’s class C license.  
Possession of a Grade I Water Distribution Operator’s Certificate issued by the State of California 
Department of Public Health within six months of hire or promotion, and a Grade II Water 
Distribution Operator’s Certificate within one and half years after obtaining position. 
 

Distribution Operator II 
 
In addition to the qualifications for Distribution Operator I: 
 
Knowledge of: 

 General principles of water distribution systems and related facilities. 

 Methods, material, equipment, and tools used for the maintenance of structures, pipelines, 
mains, meters, valves, and hydrants. 

 
Ability to: 

 Independently operate and maintain field operations equipment and tools. 

 Independently prepare and maintain simple records of scheduled work. 

 Identify and respond to safety hazards. 

 Apply District, State and Federal policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 



Distribution Operator I/II 
Page 3 

 
Experience and Education: 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge and 
abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities would be: 

 
Education: 
Equivalent to graduation from high school.  
 
Experience: 
One year of experience performing duties equivalent to Distribution Operator I with San Juan 
Water District. Positions in this class are flexibly staffed and are normally filled by 
advancement from level I if incumbents have met the minimum qualifications and have 
demonstrated the ability to perform the responsibilities required at the higher performance 
level.  
 

License or Certificate: 
Possession of a valid California motor vehicle operator’s class C license.   
Possession of a Grade II Water Distribution Operator Certificate from the State of California 
Department of Public Health prior to appointment as a Distribution Operator II.  
 
Physical Capabilities 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an 
employee to successfully perform the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform functions. 
 

Physical Requirements Rarely 
(0-12%) 

Occasionally 
(12-33%) 

Frequently 
(34-66%) 

Regularly 
(67-100%) 

Seeing     
Hearing     
Standing/Walking     

Climbing/Stooping/Kneeling     

Lifting/Pulling/Pushing     

Approximate Maximum Weight to Lift   75 Pounds  

Fingering/Grasping/Feeling     
Describe Working Conditions  10 Percent Indoors, 90 Percent Outdoors in Inclement 

Weather 

 



Rio Linda/Elverta Community Water District

Publicly Available Pay Schedule per CCR Section 570.5

COLA 3.5% Effective Date: 11/28/2021 - All Positions Other than General Manager

COLA 3.0% Effective Date: 11/28/2021 - General Manager 

Classification/Position Title Contract Salary Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Time Basis
Admin Assistant $26.36 $27.42 $28.51 $29.65 $30.84 $32.07 Hourly
Accounting Specialist $29.93 $31.13 $32.37 $33.67 $35.02 $36.42 Hourly
Conservation Coordinator/Customer Service Tech 1 $22.81 $23.72 $24.67 $25.66 $26.69 $27.75 Hourly
Customer Service Tech 1 $22.81 $23.72 $24.67 $25.66 $26.69 $27.75 Hourly
Customer Service Tech 2 $26.29 $27.34 $28.43 $29.57 $30.75 $31.98 Hourly
Distribution System Operator 1 $20.42 $21.24 $22.09 $22.97 $23.89 $24.84 Hourly
Distribution System Operator 2 $23.98 $24.94 $25.94 $26.98 $28.05 $29.18 Hourly
Distribution System Operator 3 $28.76 $29.91 $31.11 $32.35 $33.65 $34.99 Hourly
Distribution System Operator 3/Foreman $32.31 $33.61 $34.95 $36.35 $37.80 $39.31 Hourly
Laborer $15.69 $16.32 $16.97 $17.65 $18.36 $19.09 Hourly
Operations Superintendent (Salaried Position) $86,474.28 $89,933.25 $93,530.58 $97,271.81 $101,162.68 $105,209.19 Annual
Utility Worker $18.07 $18.79 $19.55 $20.33 $21.14 $21.99 Hourly
General Manager (Salaried Position) 119,537.22 Annual

Annual COLA Increase 3.5% 103.50%

Step Increase 4 % 104.00%

Classification/Position Title Salary No Step Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6
Operations Superintendent (Salaried Position) 3,325.93 3,458.97 3,597.33 3,741.22 3,890.87 4,046.51
General Manager (Salaried Position) 4,597.59

Bi-Weekly Salary



3 
 

 

2023 Fair Oaks Water District – Salary Ranges 

 
 

TITLE ANNUAL PAY RANGE 

Assistant General Manager (E) $137,000.00 to $185,000.00 

Operations Manager (E) 

Technical Services Manager (E) 

$121,701.00 to $166,774.00 

Finance Manager (E) $117,208.00 to $155,522.00 

Operations Superintendent (E) $93,683.00 to $126,485.00 

Engineer (E) 

Human Resource Administrator (E)  

Maintenance Supervisor (E)  

   Operations Supervisor (E) 

Water Supply Operator (E)  

 

$82,908.00 to $111,925.00 

 

  Sr. Financial Analyst                                       $75,566.40 to $102,024.00 

Construction Inspector 

Information Technology Technician  

Water Quality Technician 

Distribution System Operator IV 

 
 

$69,867.20 to $94,328.00 

Distribution System Lead Worker 

Field Customer Service Lead Worker 

Distribution System Operator III 
 

 
$64,313.60 to $86,777.60 

Administrative Specialist 

Financial Analyst 

Financial Analyst Customer Service 

Water Efficiency Specialist 

 
 

$57,678.40 to $77,833.60 

Customer Service Representative II 

Distribution System Operator II 

Field Customer Service Representative II 

Inventory Technician 

 
 

$54,100.80 to $73,028.80 

Distribution System Operator I 

Field Customer Service Representative I 

 
$46,987.20 to $63,440.00 

Customer Service Representative I $43,035.20 to $58,052.80 

Employment by Contract 

General Manager (E) $165,526.00 to $223,475.00 
 

Effective Date January 1, 2023 / Board Approved February 21, 2023 



                 Page 1 of 4 

                                                                                                                                                Administrative Specialist 

    

  

 

      
 

DEPARTMENT: Finance & Administration 

FLSA STATUS: Non-Exempt 

DIRECTLY REPORTS TO: Finance Manager 

DIRECTLY SUPERVISES: N/A 

JOB DESCRIPTION DATE: November 1, 2021 

ANNUAL SALARY RANGE: $51,168.00 – $69,076.80 

JOB CLASSIFICATION: Regular Full-Time 

 

 

General Statement of Job 

 
Under the direct supervision of the Finance Manager, the Administrative Specialist performs a wide variety 

of responsible administrative work in support of the management team. This work requires the application 

of highly developed administrative and technical skills in such areas as finance, purchasing, contract 

administration support, data analysis and entry, website maintenance, onsite IT support, report writing, and 

records retention, among other responsibilities. 

 

Essential Functions 

 
The statements contained herein reflect general details as necessary to describe the principal functions of 

this job, the level of knowledge, the skills typically required and the scope of responsibility. These are not 

to be construed as exclusive or all-inclusive.  Other duties may be required and assigned. 

 
1. Provides administrative support to management staff. 

2. Acts as District’s purchasing agent; solicits sources of supplies and analyzes prices, discount rates, 

delivery dates, transportation charges, previous performance, commitments and indications of 

financial responsibility and recommends the most advantageous offer for the District’s goods and 

services. 

3. Reconciles bank statements. 

4. Maintains and monitors compliance deadlines. 

5. Maintains landline phone system and cell phone program. 

6. Assembles and compiles Board meeting materials and minutes. 

7. Maintains and updates content on District website as directed by management. 

8. Tracks safety and safety inspections. 

9. Assists with financial reconciliations. 

10. Prepares bid packages, including purchasing specifications and proposal requests, assists in analyzing 

responses to identify which one best meets the District’s needs. 

11. Performs commonly used methods to award and cost analysis functions to perform well-defined and 

contract actions. 

12. Maintains file for each contract including original contract, all correspondence, amendments, 

clarifications and payment schedules. 

13. Assists in ensuring that the contractor is in compliance with labor, legal requirements and government 

regulations related to labor compliance. 

                     Fair Oaks Water District 

                                Job Description 

 

                           Administrative Specialist 
 



                 Page 2 of 4 

                                                                                                                                                Administrative Specialist 

    

  

14. Provides contract summaries and ensures contract is executed in accordance with the District’s 

policies and procedures. 

15. Responsible for processing budget transfers, project adjustments and ensuring approved project setup, 

billing and close-out. 

16. Schedules meetings involving multiple participants and/or locations; prepares and distributes 

agendas and meeting materials; maintains appointment calendars for management. 

17. Sets up and maintains meeting rooms and equipment, including the Board room. 

18. Acts as onsite information technology support. 

19. Coordinates audit of external information technology services. 

20. Maintains, and updates filing systems in accordance with records retention programs; documents 

retention storage; creates reference material. 

21. Responsible for maintaining Board Policies, Resolutions, and other documents. 

22. Responsible for reviewing, proofreading, and finalizing assigned documents. 

23. Compiles statistical data to create reports and track information. 

24. Prepares presentations, newsletter bill inserts, information pamphlets and other documents as 

assigned. 

25. Assists with obtaining, implementing and maintaining grant programs. 

26. Assists with year-end audit. 

27. Establishes and maintains cooperative working relationships with co-workers, outside agencies, and 

the public. 

28. Maintains records in accordance with District policy and procedures. 

29. May work overtime as required with additional compensation. 

 

Job Standards/Specifications 

 

Knowledge of: 

• Research and report preparation, including technical report and business letter writing. 

• Principles and practices of organization and administrative support. 

• Principles and practices of contract administration. 

• Principles and procedures of fiscal, administrative and statistical record keeping, reporting and 

compliance. 

• Principles, procedures, and practices related to the purchasing of materials and equipment for a public 

agency. 

• Principles and practice of document maintenance using electronic and manual document filing and 

retrieval systems. 

• Advanced clerical techniques and skills, including attention to detail and interpersonal skills. 

• Office procedures, methods and equipment including computers and applicable software applications 

such as word processing, spreadsheets, databases and web maintenance. 

 

Ability to: 

• Provide highly specialized administrative support to the management team as assigned. 

• Listen and communicate effectively both orally and in writing with a mastery of English grammar, 

business writing, punctuation, and spelling; ability to compose and appropriately format 

correspondence and reports. 

• Work independently using good judgment, tact, and discretion. 

• Establish and maintain effective working relationships within the District, agencies, suppliers, vendors, 

and the public. 

• Utilize standard office equipment and Microsoft suite of computer software. 

• Prepare and present clear, concise, accurate and complete documents. 

• Review documents, make recommendations and necessary changes. 



                 Page 3 of 4 

                                                                                                                                                Administrative Specialist 

    

  

• Coordinate and prioritize multiple administrative, clerical and financial tasks or activities. 

• Analyze facts and make sound recommendations. 

• Plan, initiate and complete work assignments with minimum direction. 

• Efficiently operate computers and applicable software. 

• Maintain accurate records and filing system. 

• Apply general finance principles to the analysis of financial and accounting transactions. 

 

Typical Physical Activities  

• Exert light to moderate physical effort in sedentary to moderate work involving sitting most of the time 

but may involve walking or standing for brief periods.  

• Use fine and gross motor coordination in preparing reports and walking to meetings, driving and 

entering data into the computer.  

• Travel by vehicle for FOWD related duties and activities.  

• Coordinate eyes, hands and fingers to perform semi-skilled tasks including typing and calculating.  

• Hearing and vision within normal ranges with or without correction.  

• Work may require lifting up to 30 pounds unaided. 

 

Environmental Factors  

• Work primarily in an office environment, some outdoor work may be required.  

•  Irregular or extended work hours: Occasionally required to change working hours or work overtime.  

 

Desired Qualifications 

• Bachelor’s degree in business administration or a related field. 

• Minimum of three years’ professional experience performing high level administrative and related 

work. 

• Experience and competency in composing business letters, reports and other office correspondence. 

• Ability to take initiative and plan, organize, coordinate and perform work in various situations with 

diverse demands. 

• Advanced skill in current Microsoft Office applications. 

• Any combination of education, training and experience may qualify if it would provide the skills, 

knowledge, and abilities to accomplish the job requirements.   

 

Required Licenses/Certifications 

• Valid California driver’s license. 

• High School Diploma. 
    

 

I have received, read and understand the above job description. 

 

Name (Please Print):  

Fair Oaks Water District is an equal opportunity employer and makes employment decisions on the basis of 
merit.  We want to have the best available person in every job.  District policy prohibits unlawful discrimination 
based on race, color, creed, sex, religion, marital status, age, nation origin or ancestry, physical or mental 
disability, medical condition including genetic characteristics, sexual orientation, or any other consideration made 
unlawful by federal, state or local laws.  All such discrimination is unlawful.  In compliance with the American 
Disabilities Act, Fair Oaks Water District will provide reasonable accommodations to qualified individuals with 
disabilities and encourages both prospective employees and incumbents to discuss potential accommodations. 



                 Page 4 of 4 

                                                                                                                                                Administrative Specialist 

    

  

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 

 

 

Supervisor (Please Print): 

 

 

Signature: 

 

 

Date: 

 

 

 General Manager: Tom R. Gray 

 

 

Signature: 

 

 

Date: 

 



 

Page 1 of 3 

Distribution System Lead Worker 

Print Date 01/19/18 

 

      
 

DEPARTMENT: Operations & Maintenance 

FLSA STATUS: Non-Exempt 

DIRECTLY REPORTS TO: Operations Superintendent 

DIRECTLY SUPERVISES: N/A 

JOB DESCRIPTION DATE: January 1, 2018 

ANNUAL SALARY RANGE: $57,055 - $77,025 

JOB CLASSIFICATION: Regular Full-Time, DOT Safety Sensitive 

 

General Statement of Job: 

 
Under general supervision of the Operations Superintendent, this position administers the underground 

service alert program; responds to requests for location information on underground water system 

infrastructure; maintains fire hydrants; assists in the performance of water supply and water quality 

duties; drives and operates vehicles and equipment. 

 

Essential Functions: 

 
The statements contained herein reflect general details as necessary to describe the principle functions of 

this job, the level of knowledge, the skills typically required and the scope of responsibility. These are not 

to be construed as exclusive or all-inclusive. Other duties may be required and assigned. 

 

1. Administers the underground service alert (USA) program; locates and marks water services, valves 

and mains as required by Underground Service Alert; marks areas for proposed excavation projects. 

Documents all USA requests and actions. 

2. Administers the fire hydrant maintenance program; inspects, operates, refurbishes and repairs fire 

hydrants; maintains records for hydrant maintenance and repair activities; prioritizes and makes 

recommendations for hydrant replacement projects. 

3. Administers the blow-off and air-release maintenance program; inspects, operates, refurbishes and 

repairs blow-offs and air-release valves; maintains records for blow-offs and air-release valve 

maintenance and repair activities; prioritizes and makes recommendations for blow-offs and air-

release valve replacement projects. 

4. Assists in administering new business and capital budget projects; provides primary support to staff 

assigned to the new business process. 

5. Assists in completing duties related to water supply and water quality. 

6. Maintains a variety of files and records in accordance with District policies and procedures.  

7. Subordinate liaison with Sacramento County Construction Management Inspector related to County 

improvement projects or District pavement projects in the County right-of-way.  

8. May assist in Coordinating surface restoration work with the District authorized paving contractor. 

9. May assist in administering inspections on the maintenance, repair, and construction of the District 

water system and facilities. 

10. Builds and maintains positive working relationships with co-workers and the public using principles 

of good customer service. 

11. Drives a truck, forklift or other light equipment; may operate a dump truck or heavy equipment.   

Fair Oaks Water District 

Job Description 
 

Distribution System Lead Worker 



 

Page 2 of 3 

Distribution System Lead Worker 

Print Date 01/19/18 

12. May operate a vehicle in excess of 26,001 Gross Vehicle Weight Rating (GVWR) requiring a 

California Commercial Class ‘A’ driver’s license in adherence of the Department of Transportation 

(DOT) regulations. 

13. Checks assigned vehicle on a daily basis to ensure safe and dependable operation; may perform minor 

repairs to vehicles and equipment. 

14. Performs "on call" duties during off-hours of operation.  

15. May work overtime with additional compensation. 

16. Adheres to all policies, procedures and standards of FOWD and pertinent Federal, State, and local 

laws relating to position functions. 

 

Other Duties 

1. May be required to alternate among such duties as landscaping, concrete work, painting, carpentry, 

caulking, and welding. 

2. May perform traffic control.  

3. May be routinely required to dig and backfill trenches using hand tools or mechanical equipment. 

4. May assist in approving backflow prevention assembly installation and testing 

5. May assist in administering the cross-connection and backflow prevention program. 

 

Job Standards/Specifications 

 
Knowledge of: 

• Knowledge of construction safety laws, rules and regulations. 

• Knowledge of principles used in the design of water systems. 

• Knowledge of water quality regulations and requirements. 

• Knowledge of cross-connection control regulations and how they apply to the waterworks 

industry. 

• Knowledge of general landscaping, irrigation techniques, methods and troubleshooting. 

• Knowledge of DOT regulations for performing safety sensitive functions. 

• Working knowledge of Microsoft Office software applications. 

 

Ability to: 

• Ability to communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 

• Ability to interpret designs, plans, and understand construction specifications. 

 

Typical Physical Activities 

• Travel regularly by vehicle for District related duties and activities. 

• Manual labor requiring use of manual and power tools. 

• Exert considerable physical effort in moderate to heavy work involving stooping/kneeling, 

pushing/pulling, climbing/balancing and lifting/carrying. 

• Lift, carry, push, and/or pull objects weighing up to 100 pounds. 

• Operate various types of machinery and equipment such as the drill press, tapping machine, 

grinder, compactor, boring machine, hydraulic pump, jackhammer, pipe locator, and spade. 

• Hearing and vision within normal ranges with or without correction. 

 
Environmental Factors 

• Exposure to the sun: Work time spent outside a building and exposed to the sun. 

• High Temp: Considerable work time in hard manual labor in temperatures between 80 or more 

degrees. 

• Wetness: May get part or all of the body and/or clothing wet. 

• Noise: Occasionally there are unusually loud sounds. 



 

Page 3 of 3 

Distribution System Lead Worker 

Print Date 01/19/18 

• Slippery surfaces: Occasional work on unusually slippery surfaces. 

 

Desired Qualifications: 

• Minimum of four years’ experience in general pipeline and related construction. 

• Minimum of two years’ experience working as a California Distribution Operator Grade II or 

higher. 

• California Certified Cross Connection Control Specialist.  

• California Certified Backflow Prevention Assembly Tester.  

• Any combination of training and experience may qualify if it would provide the skills, 

knowledge, and abilities to accomplish the job requirements. 

 

Required Licenses/Certifications: 

• California Certified Water Distribution Operator Grade II. 

• California Certified Water Treatment Operator Grade II or ability to obtain one within one-year 

of employment. 

• Graduation from high school or equivalent. 

• Valid California motor vehicle operators commercial class A license or ability to obtain one 

within one-year of employment. 

 

 

I have received, read and understand the above job description. 

 

Name (Please Print): 

 

Signature:       Date: 

 

 

Operations Superintendent: Neil Tamagni 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 

 

 General Manager: Tom R. Gray 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 
Fair Oaks Water District is an equal opportunity employer and makes employment decisions on the basis of 
merit.  We want to have the best available person in every job.  District policy prohibits unlawful discrimination 
based on race, color, creed, sex, religion, marital status, age, nation origin or ancestry, physical or mental 
disability, and medical condition including genetic characteristics, sexual orientation, or any other consideration 
made unlawful by federal, state or local laws.  All such discrimination is unlawful.  In compliance with the 
American Disabilities Act, Fair Oaks Water District will provide reasonable accommodations to qualified 
individuals with disabilities, and encourages both prospective employees and incumbents to discuss potential 
accommodations. 
 



Page 1 of 4 

Distribution System Operator II 

Print Date 05/30/23 

 

      
 

DEPARTMENT: Operations and Maintenance 

FLSA STATUS: Non-Exempt 

DIRECTLY REPORTS TO: Operations Supervisor or Operations Superintendent 

DIRECTLY SUPERVISES: N/A 

JOB DESCRIPTION DATE: January 1, 2023 

ANNUAL SALARY RANGE: $54,100.80 - $73,028.80 

JOB CLASSIFICATION: Regular Full-Time, DOT Safety Sensitive 

 

General Statement of Job: 

 

Under general supervision of the Operations Supervisor or Operations Superintendent, performs 

a variety of tasks in maintenance and construction activities with the Fair Oaks Water District 

(FOWD); assists in the installation of water mains, meters and other related water distribution 

facilities; operates heavy equipment and hydraulic and pneumatic tools; assists in service work 

which may include concrete work, landscaping, painting, welding and any other related duties 

that may be required. 

 

Essential Functions: 

 

The statements contained herein reflect general details as necessary to describe the primary 

functions of this job, the level of knowledge, the skills typically required and the scope of 

responsibility. These are not to be construed as exclusive or all-inclusive.  Other duties may be 

required and assigned. 

 

1. Performs routine and specialized work in the installation, maintenance and repair of water 

distribution facilities and appurtenances. 

2. Performs emergency repair work and shutdowns. 

3. Responds to customer complaints such as water waste, low pressure and water quality. 

4. Drives a truck or other light equipment, may operate a dump truck or heavy equipment such 

as backhoes and loaders; operates a jackhammer, shovels, tamps and rakes asphalt, digs and 

backfills ditches, operates other equipment, including excavation equipment devices and 

tools used in maintaining a water distribution system and facilities; may operate a forklift. 

5. May operate a vehicle in excess of 26,001 GVWR with a Class A CA driver’s license in 

adherence of the Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations. 

6. May be routinely required to dig and backfill trenches using hand tools or mechanical 

equipment. 

7. Maintains and submits records of materials used on jobs as required; writes location cards 

when necessary; makes reports and completes assigned paperwork as required. 

8. Reads and maintains meters and automated meter reading systems as needed. 

9. Checks assigned vehicle on a daily basis to ensure safe and dependable operation.  May 

perform minor repairs to vehicles and equipment; maintains FOWD vehicles and facilities in 

a clean and orderly manner.  

Fair Oaks Water District 

Job Description 
 

Distribution System Operator II  



Page 2 of 4 

Distribution System Operator II 

Print Date 05/30/23 

10. Stocks vehicles to ensure materials are on hand for each job; maintains a truck tool inventory. 

11. Performs "on call" duties during off-hours of operation as needed. 

12. Works overtime as required and approved with additional compensation. 

13. Adheres to all policies, procedures and standards of FOWD and pertinent federal, state and 

local laws relating to position functions. 

 

Other Duties 

 

• Notifies for water shutdowns, emergency or otherwise as required. 

• Performs traffic control duties, as necessary. 

 

Job Standards/Specifications 

 

Knowledge of: 

• Methods of water systems installation and repair. 

• Equipment, tools, materials and methods of the water systems installation and repair. 

• Water quality issues related to the operation of water systems. 

• Installation, maintenance, repair, and testing of water meters. 

• FOWD policies and procedures related to customer services and customer relations. 

• Proper work safety standards. 

 

Ability to: 

• Ability to add, subtract, multiply, divide; calculate decimals, ratios, percentages, and 

fractions and read a tape measure rapidly and accurately. 

• Perform basic work assignments in the installation, maintenance, and repair of water service 

systems and meters. 

• Perform skilled installation, servicing, repair of meters. 

• Operate motor vehicles and power-driven equipment used in water service work. 

• Deal tactfully and courteously with the public.  

• Follow oral and written directions. 

 

Typical Physical Activities: 

 

• Manual labor requiring continuous bending, kneeling, lifting and use of manual and power 

tools. 

• Travel regularly by vehicle for FOWD related duties and activities. 

• Exert considerable physical effort in moderate to heavy work involving stooping/kneeling, 

pushing/pulling, climbing/balancing and lifting/carrying. 

• Lift, carry, push, and/or pull objects weighing up to 100 pounds. 

• Operate various types of machinery and equipment such as the drill press, tapping machine, 

grinder, compactor, boring machine, hydraulic pump, jackhammer, pipe locator, and spade. 

• Differentiate between and perceive color, sound, smell, taste, texture and form. 

• Operate a variety of automated office machines. 

• 20/20 sight preferred or equivalent using corrective lenses, as necessary. 

 

 

 



Page 3 of 4 

Distribution System Operator II 

Print Date 05/30/23 

Environmental Factors: 

 

• Work both indoors and outdoors, during all types of weather. 

• Exposure to the sun: 50% to 100% work time spent outside a building and exposed to the 

sun. 

• High temp: Considerable work time in hard manual labor in temperatures above 80 

degrees. 

• Wetness: More than 10% of the work time getting part or all of the body and/or clothing 

wet. 

• Noise:  Occasionally there are unusually loud sounds. 

• Slippery surfaces: Occasional work on unusually slippery surfaces. 

 

Desired Qualifications: 

 

• Minimum of two years’ experience in the water industry. 

• Knowledge of DOT regulations for performing safety sensitive functions. 

• Any combination of training and experience may qualify if it would provide the skills, 

knowledge, and abilities to accomplish the job requirements.   

 

Required Licenses/Certification: 

 

• California Distribution Operator Grade II. 

• Valid California motor vehicle operators commercial class A license or ability to obtain 

within two years of employment. 

• Graduation from high school or equivalent. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair Oaks Water District is an equal opportunity employer and makes employment decisions on the basis of merit.  
We want to have the best available person in every job.  District policy prohibits unlawful discrimination based on 
race, color, creed, sex, religion, marital status, age, nation origin or ancestry, physical or mental disability, and 
medical condition including genetic characteristics, sexual orientation, or any other consideration made unlawful by 
federal, state or local laws.  All such discrimination is unlawful.  In compliance with the American Disabilities 
Act, Fair Oaks Water District will provide reasonable accommodations to qualified individuals with disabilities 
and encourages both prospective employees and incumbents to discuss potential accommodations. 
 



Page 4 of 4 

Distribution System Operator II 

Print Date 05/30/23 

I have received, read and understand the above job description. 

 

Name (Please Print): 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 

 

Operations Superintendent: 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 

 

Manager: 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 

 

General Manager: Tom R. Gray 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 



Carmichael Water District



Carmichael Water District



 Page 1 of 4 
 

CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT 
Classification Specification 

 
Job Class:   Administrative Specialist Series (AA1 – AA2) 
FLSA Status:  Exempt  
Supervisor:   General Manager  
Effective Date:  May 2021  
 
Description 
Under occasional general supervision of the General Manager, the Administrative Specialist I/II performs difficult and 
responsible administrative work in support of the General Manager, Engineering Manager, and the Finance Manager; 
organizes and coordinates the human resources and payroll operations; assists with administrative functions for 
specific programs/projects; prepares technical and administrative reports; performs a variety of high-level, complex 
and sensitive, confidential administrative support duties of the District, and performs other duties as assigned. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics 
Administrative Specialist 1 (AA1): The Administrative Specialist I classification is a confidential exempt position 
which is characterized by its performance of a variety of routine and difficult assignments.  With experience and on-
the-job training, the work becomes progressively more diversified and complex with increasing independent 
judgment.  It is distinguished from the Administrative Specialist II in that the latter performs complex administrative 
projects and assignments requiring more independent judgment under general supervision.  This job classification is 
designated "Confidential" as the position many have access to information related to personnel and the administration 
of employee-employer relations. 
 
Administrative Specialist 2 (AA2): The Administrative Specialist II classification is a confidential exempt position 
which performs specialized and complex administrative work within the framework of District policy and exercises 
independent judgment under general supervision. It is distinguished from the Administrative Specialist I classification 
in that the latter is characterized by its performance of a variety of routine to difficult assignments initially under close 
supervision with the work becoming progressively more diversified and complex with increasing independent 
judgment as experience is gained. This job classification is designated "Confidential" and as the position will have 
access to information related to personnel and the administration of employee-employer relations.  
 
Supervision Received 
Supervision is provided by the General Manager and direction may be provided by the Engineering Manager and/or 
the Finance Manager. 
 
Supervision Exercised 
Administrative Specialist 1 (AA1): May exercise technical and functional direction over less knowledgeable or 
experienced District staff, temporary employees and volunteers.   
 
Administrative Specialist 2 (AA2): Exercises technical and functional direction over less knowledgeable or 
experienced District staff, temporary employees and volunteers.   
 
Essential Duties and Responsibilities 
The following duties are typical for this classification.  Depending upon the assignment, the employee may not perform 
all of the listed duties and/or may be required to perform additional or different duties from those set forth below to 
address business needs and changing business practices.  Management retains the right to add, remove, or change 
duties at any time. This position is required to be accessible to handle emergencies including:  evenings, weekends 
and holidays by assisting with necessary resources. 

  
Board Support 
Provides administrative support to Board and Management Staff; attends all regular and special Board meetings 
including during non-business hours, attends all Board Ad Hoc and committee meetings as assigned; assembles and 
prepares agendas and packets for Board meetings (e.g.: regular, special and committee meetings); maintains various 
tickler files and schedules to assist management staff with upcoming agenda and Board related deadlines; takes 
meeting minutes and prepares official record of Board meetings; schedules, coordinates and organizes facility usage 
(e.g.: board room, etc.); sets up and maintain meeting rooms and equipment, coordinates Board and Management 
conference/training registration; processes and maintains Board information (e.g. timesheets, files, and records, etc.); 
compiles Board expense reports for payment authorization; and coordinates and oversees the District’s Fair Political 
Practices Commission Form 700 filing.  



 Page 2 of 4 
 

 
Human Resources Support Functions 
Performs confidential duties related to Human Resources administration including benefits processing, assist payroll 
function, data collection, vacancy brochures, advertisement, new hire and resignation/termination employment 
coordination; review and assist in preparation of concise written documentation for personnel actions; review 
applications for employment; facilitate interviews of prospective employees; support and document District training; 
monitor local, state and federal regulations, legislation and laws  and attend training as assigned to support District 
compliance, and develop/present recommendations regarding areas of potential noncompliance. 
 
Program Support Functions 
Provides specialized programmatic support for the District; assists with program coordination, such as the City's 
insurance and safety programs, staff training programs, and other programs; verifies documentation requirements 
for agreements and service contracts, permits, and vendors; develops, coordinates, and monitors special projects 
and/or contracts; conducts community outreach efforts; assists with a variety of administrative issues and prepares 
or recommends process, policy, and procedural modifications; and calculates statistical information and prepares 
reports in compliance with state and federal laws and regulations. 
 
Administrative Support Functions 
Develops and maintains accurate, up-to-date files, statistical data, and records; and other related support functions; 
prepares necessary reports, RFPs, bids, and specifications for new equipment, contracts, services, and assigned 
projects; monitors and coordinates the updating of policies, such as the City's Administrative Regulations and other 
documents; drafts and prepares official District documents, such as resolutions, special awards, and other 
documents; may provide assistance to managers and to members of the Board, such as calendaring, travel 
arrangements, scheduling meetings, screening visitors/phone calls, and responding to mail, voicemail, and e-mail; 
creates and maintains status documents related to assigned projects; monitors projects, consultant services 
agreements, and special assignments; assists with monitoring of monthly expenditures; coordinates the flow of 
paperwork; processes and distributes mail; schedules meetings and appointments; prepares reports, letters, and 
other correspondence; prepares requisitions and warrants for payments; serves as the department representative for 
Agenda Manager and drafts related documents; proofreads and corrects documents; compiles statistical data to 
create reports and tracks information; analyzes complex and technical procedural questions by researching, 
interpreting and explaining policies, procedures and regulations; assists in preliminary data gathering, preparation of 
budget, and performance measures; may interface with the Engineering Department, Finance Department, 
Distribution Department, and Production Department on budgetary or payroll related matters; assists with special 
events; coordinates time keeping functions for the assigned department; reconciles purchase card statements; may 
maintain and update content on District web pages and social media posts; interprets and explains City policies and 
procedures; designs and modifies work methods, procedures, and forms; composes correspondence and responds 
to public requests; evaluates and coordinates response to Public Records Act requests, reviews work for 
thoroughness and accuracy; operates modern office equipment; and utilizes computer software programs, including 
Microsoft Office spreadsheet, database, word processing, presentation software, Adobe Acrobat, WordPress and 
other job specific systems. 
 
Policy and Compliance 
Comply with all District policies, procedures, rules and regulations including all safety standards, programs and 
procedures (e.g. Policy Manual, Rules and Regulations Manual, Emergency Response Plan, IIPP, etc.); maintain 
regular attendance and adhere to prescribed work schedule to conduct job responsibilities;  
 
Qualifications 
Demonstrated knowledge of:  
General functions and objectives of municipal government and administration; report writing techniques; principles 
and practices of project coordination; modern office procedures and methods; proper English usage, spelling, 
grammar, punctuation, and business format; basic principles and practices of accounting and budget monitoring; 
effective communication techniques; and computer operating systems and software applications.  
 
Demonstrated skills and ability to:  
Attain knowledge of the principles, methods, techniques, objectives and practices of human resources and payroll 
programs (i.e.:  public employment administration, health and welfare benefit administration, etc.); organize and 
coordinate the District’s human resources and payroll programs and functions; monitor programs and complete 
assignments on schedule and at times, under time sensitive deadlines; prepare summaries and reports; perceive 
needed changes and initiate suggestions for improvement; use independent judgment and exercise resourcefulness 
in addressing problems; develop solutions using initiative, tact, and good judgment; remain flexible and adapt to 
changing conditions; work under the pressure of deadlines; read, comprehend, interpret, and explain policies, 



 Page 3 of 4 
 

procedures, laws, ordinances, and regulations; establish and maintain effective working relationships with those 
contacted in the course of work; communicate effectively both verbally and in writing; work as a member of a team 
to accomplish goals; lead and train volunteer and/or temporary staff; operate a computer utilizing spreadsheet, 
database, word processing, and presentation software; respond to internal and external customers in a professional, 
creative, and cooperative manner; exemplify an enthusiastic, resourceful, and effective customer service attitude; 
and maintain confidentiality. Learn the operation, policy, and procedures of the District; and effectively apply the 
required knowledge and skills in the daily performance of assigned duties. 
 
Physical Requirements  
The conditions herein are representative of those that must be met by an employee to successfully perform the 
essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to 
perform the essential job functions.   

• Travel occasionally by airplane conducting District business. 
• Travel occasionally by vehicle for District related duties and activities. 
• Communicate orally and in writing with District management, co-workers, and the public in one-to-one and 

group settings.  
• Vision and hearing within normal ranges with or without correction. 
• Operate a variety of automated office machines (i.e.:  personal computer, copier, fax, etc.). 
• Regularly use electronic devices and telephone.   
• Regularly work in an office environment: 

o Work at a desk/table for an extended period of time; sit and stand for an extended period of time. 
o Ability to bend (neck and waist), squat, climb, crouch, stoop, kneel, twist, grasp, fine manipulation, 

push, pull, reach (above and below shoulder level), balance, stand, walk.   
o Ability to reach, lift, carry and move objects up to 25 pounds (e.g. storage boxes, large binders, 

books, outreach materials and supplies, tables, chairs, popup shade structures, etc.). 
o Repetitive use of hands. 

• Occasionally work in a field environment doing the following physical activities:  
o Sit, fine manipulation, and ride in a vehicle.  
o Walk, stand, squat, climb, bend, stoop, twist, repetitive use of hands, grasp, push, pull, reach above 

and below shoulder level, lift and carry up to 60 lbs., operate equipment and hand tools, and operate 
vehicle. 

o Stand and walk for extended time periods and on uneven terrain. 
 
Environmental and Working Conditions 
The environmental and working conditions herein are representative of those an employee encounters while 
performing the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable individuals with 
disabilities to perform the essential functions.   

• Regularly work in ambient room temperatures, lighting and traditional office equipment as found in a typical 
office environment. 

• Work outside of business hours (i.e. nights, weekends, holidays, etc.) as required to meet the needs of the 
District.  

• The performance of this position may occasionally require exposure to job site, distribution and production 
areas where: 

o Certain areas may require the use of personal protective equipment such as hard hats, safety 
glasses and hearing protection. 

o May be both indoors and outdoors in all weather conditions with exposure to dust, dirt, water and 
significant temperature changes between cold and heat; on various types of terrain and footing which 
may be slippery or uneven; around moving objects or vehicles; in small/tight spaces. 

o May be around machinery with moving parts or stationary equipment; near hazardous chemicals; 
exposed to fumes/smoke/gases. 

 
Education, Experience and Training 
Required:  

• A bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in Human Resources, 
Business Administration, Pubic Administration, Finance, Accounting or a closely-related field. An associate’s 
degree with a minimum of five (5) years of professional experience equivalent to the essential duties and 
responsibilities may be considered in lieu of the Bachelor’s degree education requirement. 

 
Administrative Specialist 1 (AA1): No experience through five (5) full-time years of increasingly responsible 
professional experience performing administrative and related work similar to the Essential Duties and 
Responsibilities listed in the job description preferably in a public agency. 



 Page 4 of 4 
 

 
Administrative Specialist 2 (AA1): Minimum of five (5) full-time years of broad and extensive  professional experience 
performing high-level administrative and related work similar to the Essential Duties and Responsibilities listed in the 
job description preferably in a public agency, and/or a Master’s degree as described below.  

 
Desirable: 
Any equivalent combination of education and experience which provides the knowledge and abilities necessary to 
perform the work – for example:      

• Master’s Degree (MBA/MPA) from an accredited college or university in Human Resources Management, 
Business, Public Administration, Finance, Accounting or a closely-related field.   

• Ten (10) or more full-time years of broad and extensive professional experience performing high-level 
administrative and related work preferably in a public agency. 

• Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM), California Public Employers Labor Relations Association 
(CalPELRA), or related certifications 

Licenses  
• Possess a valid State of California Class C driver’s license.  
• Proof of good driving record as evidenced by freedom from multiple or serious traffic violations or accidents 

for at least two years duration.    
 
License Maintenance:  Employee is responsible to maintain licenses as a condition of 
continued employment.  

 
NOTE:  The specific statements shown in each section of this job description are not intended to be all-
inclusive.  They represent typical elements and criteria that are performed by most incumbents, but other related 
duties may be performed.  Not all duties listed are necessarily performed by each individual. 



 Distribution Operator Series (Effective August 20, 2018)                                                                Page 1 of 6 

 

 

CARMICHAEL WATER DISTRICT 
Classification Specification 

Job Class:   Distribution Operator (DO) Series (DO1 – DO3)  
FLSA Status:  Non-Exempt  
Supervisor:   Field Superintendent 
Effective Date:  August 20, 2018 

Description 
Under supervision, Distribution Operators in this series perform a variety of unskilled to skilled 
labor and technical work in the construction and maintenance of pipelines and water services; 
construction work in the fabrication and assembly of utility water projects. To organize and 
prioritize assigned workload and staff, in order to complete assigned projects. 

Distinguishing Characteristics 
Distribution Operator 1 (DO1):  This is an entry level class in the Distribution Operator series.  
Operators in this class work under close supervision while learning job tasks.  Positions at this 
level are distinguished from other classes or positions within the series by the ability to perform 
the full range of duties assigned.  Operators in this class are unable to perform on-call duties. 

Distribution Operator 2 (DO2):  This is the journey level class in the Distribution Operator series.  
Employees at this level are required to be fully trained in all procedures related to assigned areas 
of responsibility. Positions at this level are distinguished from other classes or positions within the 
series by the ability to perform the full range of duties assigned including being able to perform 
on-call duties.  

Distribution Operator 3 (DO3):  This is the journey level class in the Distribution Operator series.  
Employees at this level are required to be highly trained in all procedures related to assigned 
areas of responsibility. Positions at this level are distinguished from other classes or positions 
within the series by the possession of a California Department of Public Health (CDPH) Grade D3 
Certification, the ability to perform the full range of duties assigned at an advanced and 
independent level including assuming responsibility to direct a crew, problem solving skills, 
customer service skills, and being able to perform on-call duties. 

For open positions in this series, operators may be advanced provided they meet the required 
certification level, experience and minimum qualifications for the job class as described in the 
Distribution Operator Series job description. 

Supervision Received and Exercised 
Distribution Operator 1 (DO1):  Receives immediate supervision from the Superintendent or 
District Designated Representative and may receive technical and functional direction from 
journey level operators. 

Distribution Operator 2 (DO2):  Receives immediate supervision from a DO3 Operator, the Field 
Superintendent or District Designated Representative; and may receive technical and functional 
direction from other journey level operators. May exercise technical and functional direction over 
less certified or experienced distribution operators. Exercises technical and functional direction 
over assigned distribution operators in the absence of a DO3 operator on assigned crew. 



 Distribution Operator Series (Effective August 20, 2018)                                                                Page 2 of 6 

 

 

Distribution Operator 3 (DO3):  Receives immediate supervision from the Field Superintendent or 
District Designated Representative; and may receive technical and functional direction from other 
journey level operators. Exercises technical and functional direction over less certified or 
experienced distribution operators. Directs crew. 

Essential Duties and Responsibilities 

The following duties are typical for this classification series.  Depending upon the assignment, the 
employee may not perform all of the listed duties and/or may be required to perform additional or 
different duties from those set forth below to address business needs and changing business 
practices. 

 Perform a variety of duties associated with the repair and replacement of water distribution 
systems including main line, service line, fire hydrant, main line valve and meters. Duties 
include but are not limited to: 

o Locate and inspect properties for existing facilities and property usage. 
o Evaluate and make recommendations on improvements to existing facilities. 
o Construction and maintenance of facilities which requires a variety of unskilled or 

semi-skilled heavy labor (i.e. dig, cut, pipe fitting, load and unload equipment and 
materials)  

 Respond to, mark and locate District facilities for Underground Service Alert compliance. 

 Operate heavy equipment, dump truck, air compressor, backhoe, jackhammer, trencher, 
boring machine and variety of hand tools.  

 Ensure that all materials are properly managed and accurately recorded for each service 
order. 

 Ensure that all service orders and associated paperwork are completed accurately and 
returned each day. 

 Perform excellent timely customer service which includes but is not limited to: 
o Inform customers of scheduled work and work in progress (i.e. deliver notifications, 

speak with customer). 
o Investigate complaints, claims, reports of encroachment and vandalism. 
o Take necessary action to correct situations. 
o Perform customer shut off procedures (i.e. door-hangers, shut offs, lock ups, 

service reinstates). 
o Perform conservation patrol as required. 
o Collect routine water quality samples for laboratory testing. 

 Perform general maintenance activities (i.e. maintain, clean, oil, lube, store, etc.), and 
general housekeeping (i.e. sweep, clean, landscape, and trim bushes and trees), facilitate 
repairs as needed, and complete safety and compliance activities (i.e. inspection, logs, 
reports, etc.) which include but are not limited to: 

o Vehicles. 
o Equipment. 
o Facilities.   
o Tools. 
o Lockout/Tagout procedures. 
o Confined space procedures. 

 Attend, support and participate in training. 

 Participate and comply with safety programs and procedures for employees. 



 Distribution Operator Series (Effective August 20, 2018)                                                                Page 3 of 6 

 

 

 Comply with all District policies and procedures (i.e. Policy Manual, Rules and Regulations 
Manual, Emergency Response Plan, IIPP, etc.). 

 Ensure all work performed is completed to District standards. 

DO1 are expected to learn the essential duties with the assistance of the DO2, DO3 and 
direction of Superintendent.  DO1 will not perform shut offs and operate heavy or power 
equipment until qualified. 

Additional Essential Duties and Responsibilities for Distribution Operator 2 and 3 (DO2 - 
DO3) 

 Ensure daily direction and work performance of assigned employees (crew) including but 
not limited to: 

o follow all safety standards 
o secure job sites and work areas to protect District employees, the general public 

and vehicular traffic (i.e. traffic control) 
o employ proper personnel protective equipment (PPE) standards.  

 May provide training to other employees. 

 Perform on-call procedures as required, including evenings, weekends, holidays and 
emergencies. 

Qualifications 
Distribution Operator 1 (DO1): 
Operators in this class must possess knowledge and abilities identified below: 

Knowledge of: 

 Tools and equipment used in distribution system construction. 

 Customer service 

 Principles of mathematics, biology and chemistry. 

 Standard safety practices and programs. 

Ability to: 

 Safely operate motor vehicles and power-driven equipment (i.e. dump truck, air 
compressor, jackhammer, etc.) 

 Use a variety of hand and power tools.  

 Perform heavy physical labor requiring strength, dexterity and agility. 

 Follow both oral and written instructions. 

 Perform assigned duties. 

 Perform water distribution mathematical calculations. 

 Perform basic computer functions and familiarity with applicable software programs.  

 Communicate clearly and concisely both orally and in writing. 

 Exercise good judgment. 

 Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships. 

 Operate a variety of standard office equipment, telephone, electronic devices (i.e. laptop, 
smart phones, tablet, GPS, etc.), personal computer and software applications for word 
processing, graphic presentations, spreadsheets, and other job-related software. 



 Distribution Operator Series (Effective August 20, 2018)                                                                Page 4 of 6 

 

 

Distribution Operator 2 (DO2): 
Operators in this class must possess advanced knowledge and abilities of Distribution Operator 
1 (DO1) in addition to those identified below: 

Knowledge of: 

 Principles and practices of distribution system operations and maintenance processes. 

 Methods and materials used in distribution system construction. 

 Principles and practices of lead supervision. 

 Read and interpret piping and distribution diagrams, blue prints and maps. 

 Regulatory compliance requirements. 

 Conflict resolution.  

Ability to: 

 Safely operate additional power-driven equipment (i.e. backhoe, forklift, trencher, boring 
machine, etc.) 

 Diagnose distribution operational problems and correct or provide recommendations. 

 Communicate needed follow-up and schedule for field work. 

 Perform assigned on-call duty, making operational adjustments as required.  

 Work independently, demonstrating initiative and independent thinking. 

 Identify and correct unusual, inefficient, or dangerous operating conditions. 

 Maintain records and prepare reports.  

 Effectively train less qualified personnel. 

 Effectively manage time and workload to maximize productivity.  

 Effectively represent the District with the public, community groups, contractors, and other 
organizations.  

Distribution Operator 3 (DO3): 
Operators in this class must possess advanced knowledge and advanced abilities of 
Distribution Operator 2 (DO2) in addition to those identified below: 

Ability to: 

 Ensure regulatory compliance. 

 Ensure and correct standard safety practices and programs.  

 Draft, read and interpret piping and distribution diagrams, blue prints and maps. 

 Perform advanced level water distribution mathematical calculations. 

 Plan, schedule and coordinate field work. 

 Direct and explain processes clearly and concisely. 

Physical Requirements 

The physical requirements herein are representative of those that must be met by an employee 
to successfully perform the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodations may be 
made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential job functions. 

 May travel occasionally by airplane conducting District business. 

 Travel regularly by vehicle for District related duties and activities. 

 Communicate orally and in writing with District management, co-workers, and the public 
in one-to-one and group settings.  

 Vision and hearing within normal ranges with or without correction. 



 Distribution Operator Series (Effective August 20, 2018)                                                                Page 5 of 6 

 

 

 Regularly use telephone for communications.  

 Regularly use electronic devices.  

 Typically work in a field environment doing the following physical activities:  
o Occasionally:  sit, fine manipulation, ride in a vehicle.  
o Frequently:  walk, stand, squat, climb, crawl, twist, repetitive use of hands, grasp, 

push, pull, reach above and below shoulder level, lift and carry up to 60 lbs., 
operate equipment, operate stationary machinery, operate vehicle or mobile 
equipment, operate dump truck, equipment, heavy machinery, dig with a shovel 
and hand tools. 

o Heavy manual labor requiring continuous kneeling, bending, lifting, and operation 
of manual and power tools. 

o Differentiate between and perceive color, sound, smell, taste, texture and form.  

 Occasionally work in an office environment:  at a desk or table, sit or stand for extended 
time periods.  

Environmental and Working Conditions 
The environmental and working conditions herein are representative of those an employee 
encounters while performing the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodations 
may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions. 

 The performance of this position requires exposure to job site, distribution and production 
areas where: 

 Exposure to environmental conditions:  
o Occasionally:  Chemicals/Caustics, confined space, heights, allergenic 

plants/materials.  
o Frequently:  Dusts/mists/fumes/smoke/gases, wet damp surfaces, 

extreme heat/cold, noise.  

 Regularly work around machinery with moving parts or stationary equipment.  

 Regularly work on various types of terrain and footing which may be slippery or 
uneven.  

 Regularly work around moving objects or vehicles.  

 Certain areas require the use of personal protective and safety equipment (i.e. 
hard hats, steel toed boots, safety glasses and hearing protection). 

 Occasionally work indoors in ambient room temperatures and lighting and be around 
office equipment as found in a typical office environment. 

Education, Experience, and Certification  
Required:  

 Equivalent to the completion of the 12th grade.  

Distribution Operator 1 (DO1):   
o Possess and maintain a California State Water Resources Control Board 

(SWRCB) Grade D1 Certification within 12 months or 2 consecutive exam periods 
from date of hire.   

o Possess and maintain a SWRCB Grade D2 Certification within 24 months from 
date of hire.  



 Distribution Operator Series (Effective August 20, 2018)                                                                Page 6 of 6 

 

 

Distribution Operator 2 (DO2):   
o Possess and maintain a SWRCB Grade D2 Certification. 
o One full-time year equivalent to a Distribution Operator 1 (DO1) with the 

Carmichael Water District.  

Distribution Operator 3 (DO3):   
o Possess and maintain a SWRCB Grade D3 Certification. 
o Two full-time years of increasingly responsible experience working as a distribution 

operator including one full-time year equivalent to a Distribution Operator 2 (DO2) 
with the Carmichael Water District.   

Licenses  
Required: 

 Proof of good driving record as evidenced by freedom from multiple or serious traffic 
violations or accidents for at least two years duration. 

Distribution Operator 1 (DO1): 
o Possess and maintain a valid State of California Class C driver’s license. 
o Possess and maintain a valid State of California Class B commercial driver’s 

license within 24 months from date of hire. 

Distribution Operator 2 (DO2): 
o Possess and maintain a valid State of California Class B commercial driver’s 

license. 

Distribution Operator 3 (DO3): 
o Possess and maintain a valid State of California Class A commercial driver’s 

license. 

License and Certification Maintenance:  Employee is responsible to complete the 
designated number of contact hours (i.e.: continuing education and/or training 
requirements) and licensing requirements to maintain all required licenses and 
certifications as a condition of continued employment.  

NOTE:  The specific statements shown in each section of this job description are not intended to 
be all-inclusive.  They represent typical elements and criteria that are performed by most 
incumbents, but other related duties may be performed.  Not all duties listed are necessarily 
performed by each individual. 
 
 
 

 



JOB TITLE / JOB CLASS 2023 Base 
Hourly

2023 Base 
Monthly

2023 
Maximum 

Hourly

2023 Maximum 
Monthly

Organizational Leadership
General Manager (E) 90.33    15,657.18        121.95     21,138.69 
Assistant General Manager (E) 75.64    13,111.39        102.13     17,702.44 
Accounting Series

Director of Finance/ Director of Finance and Administrative 
Services/ Director of Administrative Services  (E) 68.77    11,920.98          92.85     16,093.98 

Accounting Manager /Principal Accountant (E) 50.38      8,732.18          68.01     11,787.87 
Senior Accountant (E) 43.11      7,472.41          58.19     10,087.56 
Accountant 39.19      6,793.78          52.90       9,168.97 
Customer Service Series
Senior Customer Services Specialist 37.47      6,495.70          50.61       8,771.55 
Customer Service Specialist 33.87      5,871.44          45.74       7,927.95 
Customer Service Technician 28.00      4,853.50          37.80       6,551.95 
Engineering Technical Series
Project Manager (E) 58.29    10,104.43          78.70     13,640.04 
Engineering Supervisor/Principal GIS Specialist (E) 45.40      7,869.83          61.29     10,623.71 
Engineering/GIS Specialist 39.48      6,844.39          53.31       9,240.22 
Engineering/GIS Technician 35.88      6,220.13          48.45       8,398.48 
Engineering Aide 31.20      5,408.40          42.15       7,305.56 
Construction Inspection Series
Construction Inspection Supervisor/Principal Construction 
Inspector (E)          44.16      7,654.25          59.61     10,333.14 

Senior Construction Inspector          38.39      6,655.05          51.84       8,985.26 
Construction Inspector          34.91      6,051.41          47.13       8,169.78 
Engineering Series
Director of Engineering /District Engineer (E)          75.64    13,111.39        102.13     17,702.44 
Principal Civil Engineer (E)          68.77    11,920.98          92.85     16,093.98 
Senior Civil Engineer (E)          62.53    10,837.42          84.40     14,629.87 
Associate Civil Engineer (E)          56.84      9,853.22          76.73     13,300.73 
Assistant Civil Engineer          49.43      8,569.08          66.74     11,568.54 
Assistant Engineer          39.48      6,844.39          53.37       9,251.46 
Information Technology (IT) Series
Information Technology Manager (E)          53.93      9,347.07          72.79     12,618.35 
Principal Information Technology Analyst (E)          49.03      8,497.84          66.18     11,471.06 
Senior Information Technology Analyst          44.56      7,723.61          60.17     10,428.74 
Information Technology Analyst          40.52      7,022.48          54.83       9,504.54 
Information Technology Technician          33.77      5,852.69          45.59       7,901.70 
Management Services (MS) Series
Administrative Services Manager/Principal Management 
Analyst/Chief Board Clerk (E)          50.97      8,835.28          68.83     11,930.35 

Attachment 4101.A1 SALARY SCHEDULE PROPOSED- EFFECTIVE JANUARY 2, 2023
HOURLY AND MONTHLY* SALARY RANGE

Citrus Heights Water District



JOB TITLE / JOB CLASS 2023 Base 
Hourly

2023 Base 
Monthly

2023 
Maximum 

Hourly

2023 Maximum 
Monthly

Senior Management Analyst (E)          44.32      7,682.36          59.85     10,374.38 
Management Analyst          40.29      6,983.12          54.41       9,431.42 
Management Technician          36.64      6,351.35          49.46       8,572.83 
Communications & Public Engagement Series 

Communications & Public Engagement Manager/Principal 
Communications & Public Engagement Analyst (E)          50.97      8,835.28          68.83     11,930.35 

Senior Communications and Public Engagement Analyst (E)          44.32      7,682.36          59.85     10,374.38 
Communications and Public Engagement Analyst          40.29      6,983.12          54.41       9,431.42 
Communications and Public Engagement Technician          36.64      6,351.35          49.46       8,572.83 
Water Distribution Series
Director of Operations  (E)          68.77    11,920.98          92.85     16,093.98 
Water Distribution Supervisor (E)          52.16      9,041.49          70.42     12,205.93 
Assistant Water Distribution Supervisor          44.59      7,729.23          60.20     10,434.37 
Water Distribution Lead Worker/Operator          38.79      6,722.54          52.35       9,073.36 
Water Distribution Operator II          35.24      6,109.53          47.59       8,248.51 
Water Distribution Operator I          32.05      5,554.62          43.27       7,500.53 
Water Distribution Worker          23.13      4,009.90          31.22       5,412.15 
Operations Specialist Series
Principal Operations Specialist          52.16      9,041.49          70.42     12,205.93 
Senior Operations Specialist          47.41      8,218.52          64.00     11,094.25 
Operations Specialist          40.72      7,058.10          54.96       9,525.16 
Operations Technician          37.01      6,415.09          49.97       8,660.94 
Water Efficiency Series
Water Efficiency Supervisor (E)          40.85      7,080.60          55.15       9,558.90 
Senior Water Efficiency Specialist          35.53      6,158.27          47.96       8,314.13 
Water Efficiency Specialist          32.29      5,595.87          43.60       7,558.64 
Water Efficiency Technician          29.37      5,089.71          39.63       6,868.76 
Water Resources Series
Water Resources Supervisor/Chief Operator (E)          52.16      9,041.49          70.42     12,205.93 
Water Resources Specialist          37.07      6,424.47          50.05       8,675.94 
Water Resources Technician          33.70      5,841.45          45.49       7,884.83 
Miscellaneous Series
Intern          15.50      2,686.66          26.79       4,643.54 

Citrus Heights Water District



SSWD



Citrus HeCitrusights Water District

SSWD



























November 2, 2022 

Mr. Alan Gardner, Esq. 
General Manager, Del Paso Manor Water District 
1817 Maryal Drive, Ste. 300 
Sacramento, CA 95864 

Dear Mr. Gardner: 

Please find my opinions and recommendations for a limited compensation study your District asked me 
to perform in early September/October 2022 for the DE:!I Paso Manor Wate� District. In performing this 
study I was being mindful of the limited budget (not to exceed $10,000) so· 1 did my level best to deliver a 
high quality outcome, while absorbing some expenses and reducing fees where possible. After 30 years 
in the water, wastewater sectors as an ':'f R-Management Consultant, I remain vigilant to ensuring your 
ratepayers and Board of Directors receive a fair, cost-effective, defensible outcome to any study I perform. 
I also remain sensitive to the needs of the operational/administrative teams ensuring we have an 
optimized analysis of their roles, needs and resources to deliver successful outcome on the mission in 
serving your ratepayer with a reliable, high quality water supply. Please find the following information: 

1.0 Approach employed in facilitating this study to offer defensible, comparable data benchmarks. 
2.0 Review of the five job descriptions reviewed for this study (over 100 pages of detailed back-up 

contained in appendix B and C). 
3.0 Targeted Water Agencies/Districts chosen and relevant information on size, complexity, 

comparability to the five positions under evaluation (detailed back-up contained in appendix C). 
4.0 Opinions and recommendations for proposed salary compensation ranges for targeted positions 

in the study. Please note certain hold harmless recognitions were given based on these opinions. 
5.0 Areas of future consideration for the District in terms of human capital issues. 

I welcome an opportunity for future discussion with you and your Board if they have any questions on my 
opinions and recommendations. We are indeed in unprecedented times in our industry with inflationary 
pressures at all levels, along with our strategic imperatives to attract, retain and motivate a successful 
workforce with an appropriate total compensation model to properly serve your ratepayers. I can be 
reached at 916.718.4115 or by e-mail at Larry@bienati.com. 

Sincerely, 

BIENA
�

I C NSUL NG GR·
·
·O· UP, INC. 

�--· / I � . ,q5.. � 
arry Bienati, Ph.D. SPHR, CCP, SHRM-SCP 

V Senior Principal w/appendices 









































































































































































































































































Position - Exempt Salary

General Manager 110,000$    

Position - Exempt Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Field Manager - Grade 27 45.07 47.34 49.70 52.18 54.79 57.53

Annually 86,534 90,893 95,424 100,186 105,197 110,458

Position - Non-Exempt Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Field Supervisor - Grade 24 38.94 40.89 42.93 45.07 47.34 49.70

Annually $80,995 $85,051 $89,294 $93,746 $98,467 $103,376

O&M Tech II/CC - Grade 20 32.03 33.63 35.32 37.09 38.94 40.86

Annually 66,622 69,950 73,466 77,147 80,995 84,989

O&M Tech II - Grade 16 26.36 27.68 29.06 30.51 32.03 33.63

Annually 54,829 57,574 60,445 63,461 66,622 69,950

Office Manager - Grade 16 26.36 27.68 29.06 30.51 32.03 33.63

Annually 54,829 57,574 60,445 63,461 66,622 69,950

O&M Tech I - Grade 11 20.65 21.69 22.77 23.90 25.10 26.36

Annually 42,952 45,115 47,362 49,712 52,208 54,829

Office Assistant - Grade 11 20.65 21.69 22.77 23.90 25.10 26.36

Annually 42,952 45,115 47,362 49,712 52,208 54,829

*Note: Each position has a Grade Level and starts at Step 1, with a 5% increase between Steps.

Del Paso Manor Water District
Salary Schedule*

Board Approved on October 17, 2022



Position - Exempt Salary

General Manager $    110,000

Position - Exempt Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Field Manager - Grade 27 45.07 47.34 49.70 52.18 54.79 57.53

Annually 86,534 90,893 95,424 100,186 105,197 110,458

Position - Non-Exempt Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Field Supervisor - Grade 24 38.94 40.89 42.93 45.07 47.34 49.70

Annually $80,995 $85,051 $89,294 $93,746 $98,467 $103,376

O&M Tech II/CC - Grade 20 32.03 33.63 35.32 37.09 38.94 40.86

Annually 66,622 69,950 73,466 77,147 80,995 84,989

O&M Tech II - Grade 16 26.36 27.68 29.06 30.51 32.03 33.63

Annually 54,829 57,574 60,445 63,461 66,622 69,950

Office Manager - Grade 16 37.88 39.75 41.62 43.50 45.39 47.26

Annually 78,767 82,673 86,579 90,485 94,392 98,299

O&M Tech I - Grade 11 20.65 21.69 22.77 23.90 25.10 26.36

Annually 42,952 45,115 47,362 49,712 52,208 54,829

Office Assistant - Grade 11 20.65 21.69 22.77 23.90 25.10 26.36

Annually 42,952 45,115 47,362 49,712 52,208 54,829

*Note: Each position has a Grade Level and starts at Step 1, with a 5% increase between Steps.

Del Paso Manor Water District
Salary Schedule*

PROPOSED DRAFT (9/21/2023)



RESOLUTION NO. 23-1002-1 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

TO AUTHORIZE AN IMMEDIATE ADJUSTMENT TO THE OFFICE MANAGER 
SALARY SCHEDULE 

 

 WHEREAS, the Del Paso Manor Water District (the "District") currently staffs four (4) full 
time at will employees.  

 WHEREAS, On December 19, 2022 at the regularly scheduled meeting a salary survey 
was conducted and presented to the board by Bienati Consulting Group, Inc. 

 WHEREAS, the current General Manager conducted his own salary survey and reviewed 
the past survey from December 19, 2022. 

WHEREAS, in light of the recent salary survey conducted, the District desires to make an 
immediate adjustment to the current salary schedule approved October 17, 2022 for the Office 
Manager position. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE DEL 
PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT:  

1. The Board of Directors does hereby find that the foregoing recitals are true and correct 
and hereby incorporates them into its findings.  

2. The Board of Directors does hereby approve an immediate adjustment to the proposed 
salary schedule as reviewed by the General Manager for the Office Manager position. 

3.  The Board of Directors finds that this action is exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act because compensation increases are not a “project” subject to CEQA 
because this approval would not have a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect impact on the 
environment. 
 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution was adopted by the Board of Directors of the Del Paso 
Manor Water District at a regular meeting held on the 2nd day of October 2023, by the following 
vote: 

AYES:  

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT: 

___________________________________ 
 Ryan Saunders, President 
 Board of Directors 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________________ 
Adam Gardner, General Manager 

 



 

 

 

ITEM #8.C 

Monthly Billing 



DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

BOARD MEETING 

DATE:  October 02, 2023 AGENDA ITEM NO.  8.C 
 

 

SUBJECT: Monthly Billing 
 

 

STAFF CONTACT: 

Adam Coyan, General Manager 

BACKGROUND: 

 

Del Paso Manor Water District currently has 2 separate billing cycles. Commercial/meter 

accounts are billing on or about the 16th of the month to the 15th of the following month.  

 

Invoices for commercial accounts are generated and mailed in-house. This requires staff to print, 

fold, stuff, seal, and add standard postage to about 100 +/- accounts. The average cost for postage 

each billing cycle is $63.00 +/- which calculates to an appropriate annual cost of $756. On top of 

the postage amount, there are additional costs for printing, cost of envelopes and staff time. 

 

Residential/flat rate accounts are billed bi-monthly (every other month/6 billing cycles per year). 

 

Invoices for residential accounts are emailed to the mailing house who in turn print, fold, stuff, 

seal, and mail via bulk mailing at a reduced postage amount. The average number of invoices 

mailed each billing cycle is 1,600 +/-. The total for processing invoices for F/Y 22/23 was 

approximately $11,654.  

 

Moving to monthly billing for both commercial and flat rate accounts will allow the billing 

process to be streamlined and consistent between the two types of accounts. This will also aid in 

more closely reconciling the budget to actuals and the annual audits. Furthermore, this will help 

rate payers budget monthly and lower the amount to be more manageable with monthly finances. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends moving to monthly billing for both commercial and residential accounts 

beginning November 1, 2023. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

N/A 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT: 

This item is not a project under Section 21065 of the California Public Resources Code, as it 

could not have any direct or indirect impact on the environment. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

The approved budget for printing/postage for FY 23/24 is $21,000. The added financial impact 

on the District for additional mailing will be approximately $4,000. 



 

 

 

ITEM #8.D 

Establishing the Time and Place to Hold One Regular Meetings on the 

First Monday of Each Month 



DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

BOARD MEETING 

DATE: October 02, 2023 AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.D 

SUBJECT: ESTABLISHING THE TIME AND PLACE TO HOLD ONE REGULAR 

MEETINGS ON THE FIRST MONDAY OF EACH MONTH 

STAFF CONTACT: 

General Manager 

BACKGROUND: 

The Del Paso Manor Water District ("District") currently holds two regular meetings of the 

Board of Directors, on the first and third Monday of each month at 6:00PM.  

In the past and in anticipation of the Proposition 218 process, staff recognized a need for two 

monthly meetings per month to address time-sensitive business. This in turn allowed the District 

to avoid continuous special meetings, helped with transparency for rate payers, and provided 

additional opportunities for the public to participate. 

Now that the Proposition 218 rate increases have been approved and passed, District staff is 

proposing that the Board of Directors hold one regular meeting on the first Monday of each 

month at 6:00PM. Should a regular meeting fall on a holiday, that meeting would be held on the 

Tuesday immediately following the Monday holiday. If approved by the Board, the new 

schedule would commence on October 02, 2023.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

If approved by the Board of Directors, returning to one regular meeting per month would result 

in a decrease in the typical hourly costs for General Counsel, RGS, District's consultants, 

secretarial services and staff time. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-1002-2 Establishing the Time and Place to Hold One Regular Meeting 

Per Month 

Attachments: 

Resolution 23-1002-2 Establishing the Time and Place to Hold One Regular Meeting Per 

Month 



RESOLUTION NO. 23-1002-2

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

ESTABLISHING THE TIME AND PLACE TO HOLD ONE REGULAR MEETING 
PER MONTH 

WHEREAS, the California Water Code §30521 mandates that the Board of Directors of a 
duly formed water district shall hold regular meetings at such time and place as may be agreed 
upon; and 

WHEREAS, the Del Paso Manor Water District ("District") currently holds two regular 
meeting of the Board of Directors on the first and third Monday of each month; and 

WHEREAS, the District has determined a need to return to one regular meeting a month 
to maintain efficient operations which will decrease District costs; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has agreed to hold one regular meeting and desire to 
comply with state law. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE DEL 
PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT that commencing on October 02, 2023 this Board's regular 
meeting shall be held on the first Monday of each month at 6:00 p.m. in the conference room of 
1817 Maryal Drive, Suite 300, Sacramento, California. 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution was adopted by the Board of Directors of the Del Paso 
Manor Water District at a regular meeting held on the 2nd day of October 2023, by the following 
vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT: 

ATTEST: 

Ryan Saunders, President 
Board of Directors 

Adam Coyan, General Manager 



 

 

 

ITEM #8.E 

Well 2 



DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

BOARD MEETING 

DATE:  October 2, 2023 AGENDA ITEM NO.  8.E 

SUBJECT: Well #2 

STAFF CONTACT: 

Adam Coyan, General Manager 

BACKGROUND: 

In 2009 Kennedy/ Jenks Consultants produced and delivered a master plan for Del Paso Manor 

Water District. In the master plan it highlights the deficiencies that exist in the system 

concerning water supply versus water demands. Since that time Del Paso Manor Water District 

had two wells put in standby status due to contamination, one well taken offline for onsite safety 

concerns, and one well pulled because of deferred maintenance concerns it’s not currently 

functional. 

On September 23, 2021 the Governor approved Senate Bill No. 552 

On November 3, 2021 the grand jury issued the findings of an investigation that had been 

conducted on Del Paso Manor Water District. Finding 1 on page 17 highlighted the deficiencies 

in providing flows for fire protection and consumption. 

On January 11, 2022 the board approve costs for Well No. 2 rehabilitation and Well No. 9 

backup generator. The summary total for Well No. 2 rehabilitation is $837,000. The engineering 

costs associated with the project were estimated to be $139,000, we currently have 

approximately $89,000 left in the budget. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the information from the presentation and decide a long-term plan to meet compliance 

standards. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Analysis 

Current Well Chart 

Kennedy/ Jenks Consultants 2009 Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan 

Senate Bill No. 552 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT: 

This item is not a project under Section 21065 of the California Public Resources Code, as it 

could not have any direct or indirect impact on the environment. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

This decision will have long-term implications. 



Groundwater Sources Capacity

(GPM) Status

Well #2 460 Offline

Well #3 580 Contaminated

Well #4 500 500

Well #5 460 460

Well #6B 1100 1100

Well #7 675 Offline

Well #8 1100 Conataminted

Well #9 1500 1500

  TOTAL CAPACITY 6375 3,560

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT

Water Sources & Capacity



Analysis 

 

Grand Jury Report Finding 1: The DPMWD has abdicated it’s mission to “provide safe drinking 

water in accordance with California and federal regulations and to maintain a reliable water 

supply for water consumption and fire protection.” 

 

Section64554c, Article 2 , Title 22: (c) Community water systems using only groundwater shall 

have a minimum of two approved sources before being granted an initial permit. The system shall be 

capable of meeting MDD (Maximum Day Demand) with the highest-capacity source offline.  

 

Summary: 

Del Paso Manor Water Districts calculated MDD from 2012 is 3,130 gal./min. as calculated 

by the State Water Resource Control Boards last inspection in 2020. This does not include 

fire flow requirements. If we took Well 9 offline, which is our biggest producer at 1,500 

gal./min we would currently only produce 2,060 gal./ min and would be in violation if the 

state conducted an inspection. 

 

Section 64554 a, Section 1, Article 2, Title 22: (1) For systems with 1,000 or more service 

connections, the system shall be able to meet four hours of peak hourly demand (PHD) with source 

capacity, storage capacity, and/or emergency source connections.  

 

Summary: 

Del Paso Manor Water Districts PHD is 4,700 gal./min. as calculated by the State Water 

Resource Control Boards last inspection in 2020. This does not include fire flow 

requirements. We can meet this requirement if we as a district are willing to pump 

contaminated water into our distribution system for consumption by our rate payers. 

 

Sacramento County Section 8 Water Supply 8-12: FIRE FLOWS: Required fire flows shall be 

determined by the adopted California Uniform Fire Code, the fire protection district having 

jurisdiction, and the County of Sacramento. Water distribution systems shall be designed to 

provide max day demand plus the required fire flow to each hydrant while maintaining 20 psi or 



greater residual pressure at the hydrant. For all projects, a note shall be placed on the water plan 

stating the design fire flow for the distribution system. The water distribution system for single 

family residential water areas is designed for 1,500 gpm. This will meet requirements for homes 

up to 3,600 square feet of combustible area, including garages and porches. Homes larger than 

3,600 square feet of combustible area are a special condition and may require increased fire 

flows with larger mains. Required fire flows are 1,750 gpm for homes from 3,600 to 4,800 

square feet of combustible area and 2,000 gpm for homes from 4,800 to 6,200 square feet or 

more of combustible area, or as required by the local Fire Department. The minimum fire flow 

required by the adopted California Uniform Fire Code for commercial/industrial water systems is 

1,500 gpm. For all new commercial/industrial projects the Water Agency shall require a 

distribution system designed for 3,000 gpm. Larger buildings or projects may require fire flows 

up to 4,000 gpm and may require water system upgrades or private supplemental water supplies. 

 

Summary: 

Fire flow requirements at the AT&T building are 3,500 gal./min if we add that to MDD 

of 3,130 gal./min. the resulting demand as required by Sacramento County for fire flow is 

6,630 gal./min. See attached graph for current Del Paso Manor Water District flows. We 

are currently not able to meet this goal even if well 2 was working and we were willing to 

use contaminated water sources and unsafe wells by OSHA standards, well 7. 

 

California Well Standards, Part III Destruction of Water Wells, Section 20 Purpose of Destruction, 

Section 21 Definition of Abandoned Well: A well is considered 'abandoned' or permanently inactive if 

it has not been used for one year, unless the owner demonstrates intention to use the well again. In 

accordance with Section 115700 of the California Health and Safety Code, the well owner shall 

properly maintain an inactive well as evidence of intention for future use in such a way that the 

following requirements are met: 

• (1) The well shall not allow impairment of the quality of water within the well 

and groundwater encountered by the well. 

• (2) The top of the well or well casing shall be provided with a cover, that is secured by a 

lock or by other means to prevent its removal without the use of equipment or tools, to 

prevent unauthorized access, to prevent a safety hazard to humans and animals, and to 



prevent illegal disposal of wastes in the well. The cover shall be watertight where the top 

of the well casing or other surface openings to the well are below ground level, such as in 

a vault or below known levels of flooding. The cover shall be watertight if the well is 

inactive for more than five consecutive years. A pump or motor, angle drive, or other 

surface feature of a well, when in compliance with the above provisions, shall suffice as a 

cover. 

• (3) The well shall be marked so as to be easily visible and located, and labeled so as to 

be easily identified as a well. 

• (4) The area surrounding the well shall be kept clear of brush, debris, and waste materials. 

If a pump has been temporarily removed for repair or replacement, the well shall not be 

considered 'abandoned' if the above conditions are met. The well shall be adequately covered 

to prevent injury to people and animals and to prevent the entrance of foreign material, surface 

water, pollutants, or contaminants into the well during the pump repair period. 

 

Summary: 

Del Paso Manor Water District currently has two wells that are offline and locked out of 

the system due to contamination. These wells, although they are considered for use 

under emergency conditions for fire flows could not be turned on and operated under 

emergency conditions in a timely fashion. One of the wells would take anywhere from 

two to five days of preparation to get it operational. Also, then the system would be 

contaminated with the chemicals that were present in the well. One well is offline 

because of OSHA standards relating to confined spaces. Finally, Well 2 has been pulled 

and is out of service until it can be upgraded or retrofitted. We have no intention of 

utilizing Well 3 or Well 8 due to contamination, although it gets us closer to flow 

requirements the board should plan on eventual decommission and destruction of the 

two contaminated wells. 

 

SB 552, 10609.60-10609.62: 

 10609.60. 

 (a) No later than July 1, 2023, and updated every five years thereafter, a small water 
supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and a nontransient 



noncommunity water system that is a school shall each develop and maintain, onsite, an 
abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that includes, at a minimum, all of 

the following drought-planning elements: 

(1) Drought-planning contacts, including all of the following: 

(A) At least one contact at the water system for water shortage planning and response 
and the development of the plan. 

(B) Contacts for local public safety partners and potential vendors that can provide 
repairs or alternative water sources, including, but not limited to, local community-based 

organizations that work with the population in and around areas served by the water 
system, contractors for drilling wells, vended water suppliers, and emergency shower 
vendors. 

(C) State and local agency contacts who should be informed when a drought or water 

shortage emergency is emerging or has occurred. 

(D) Regional water planning groups or mutual aid networks, to the extent they exist. 

(2) Triggering mechanisms and levels for action, including both of the following: 

(A) Standard water shortage levels corresponding to progressive ranges based on the 
water supply conditions. Water shortage levels shall also apply to catastrophic 
interruption of water supplies, including, but not limited to, a regional power outage, an 

earthquake, a fire, and other potential emergency events. 

(B) Water shortage mitigation, response, customer communications, enforcement, and 
relief actions that align with the water shortage levels required by subparagraph (A). 

(b) A small water supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and a 

nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school shall each make the abridged 
Water Shortage Contingency Plan available on their individual internet websites, if any. 
A small water supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, or a 

nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school that does not have an internet 
website shall make the abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan available to persons 
upon request. The abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan shall be provided to the 

state board’s Division of Drinking Water for inspection upon demand. 

(c) A small water supplier serving fewer than 1,000 service connections shall add drought 
planning elements, including, but not limited to, those listed in paragraph (1) of 
subdivision (a) and subparagraph (A) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), to its 

emergency notification or response plan and submit the plan to the state board. The plan 
shall be updated every five years, or when significant changes occur. 

(d) No later than December 31, 2022, the department and the state board shall create 
an abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan template for small water suppliers serving 

1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and nontransient noncommunity water 
systems that are schools to facilitate implementation of this section. 

(e) To the extent that funding is made available, the state board shall offer technical 
assistance to small water suppliers serving fewer than 1,000 service connections and 

nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools to improve drought and 
water shortage resiliency, including requirements related to the emergency notification 
or response plan. 



10609.61. 

 A small water supplier and a nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school 
shall each report annually water supply condition information to the state board through 

the state board’s Electronic Annual Reporting (eAR) System or other reporting tool, as 
directed by the state board. Water supply condition information includes, but is not 
limited to, both of the following: 

(a) An inventory and assessment of each water supply source, including its available 

status and if any further investments or treatment are required for its utilization, any 
lead time required for its utilization, and its delivery parameters such as flow rate and 
total volume available. 

(b) The reporting year’s total water demand volume for each month, and average and 

peak flowrate demand for each month and annually. 

10609.62. 

 Small water suppliers and nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools 
shall implement, subject to funding availability, all of the following drought resiliency 
measures: 

(a) No later than January 1, 2023, implement monitoring systems sufficient to detect 

production well groundwater levels. 

(b) Beginning no later than January 1, 2023, maintain membership in the California 
Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network (CalWARN) or similar mutual aid 
organization. 

(c) No later than January 1, 2024, to ensure continuous operations during power failures, 

provide adequate backup electrical supply. 

(d) No later than January 1, 2027, have at least one backup source of water supply, or a 
water system intertie, that meets current water quality requirements and is sufficient to 
meet average daily demand. 

(e) No later than January 1, 2032, meter each service connection and monitor for water 

loss due to leakages. 

(f) No later than January 1, 2032, have source system capacity, treatment system 
capacity if necessary, and distribution system capacity to meet fire flow requirements. 

 

Summary: 

By January 1, 2032, the district will need to have the capacity to meet fire flow 

and MDD flow demands from within their own system, that is 6,630 gal./min. 
Currently the district can only legally produce 3,560 gal./min. If the 
contaminated wells are run into the system that would give the district 5,240 

gal./min. Even with all of the districts wells they can not meet the requirements 
of Sacramento County to produce MDD and fire flows. Further, the district by 
January 1, 2032 will need to install water meters for each service connection. 



The district currently manually checks production ground water levels but does 
not have automated systems for the older wells. 

 

Kennedy/Jenks Consultants Master Plan, 6.3.3 Well 3, 6.3.4 Well 4, 6.3.5 Well 

5, 6.3.7 Well 7: 

 

 6.3.3 Well No. 3 

• Well No. 3 was constructed in 1949 with maximum pumping capacity of 580 gpm. 

• Recorded Static Water Level – Well measurements in 1956 recorded a static 
water level of 50.40 ft below the pump discharge level. In 2000, the water table 
decreased by 64.60 ft and the recorded static water level was 115 ft below the 
pump discharge level. 

• Recorded Specific Capacity - Pump test report dated 1956 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 41.50 gpm/ft. In 2000 the specific capacity had decreased to 
29.70 gpm/ft. 

• Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1956 and 2000 data, specific capacity 
decreased by 28.4%. Data shows a generally consistent declining trend. 

• Impact to Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1956, total HP 
required to pump at 580 gpm well capacity is 40.62 HP. In 2000, the total HP 
increased to 56.45 HP. Assuming that Well No. 3 pump has a built in service 
factor of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 3 pump exceeds both 
of the name plate horsepower and the service factor as of 2000. 

 

 6.3.4 Well No. 4 

• Well No. 4 was constructed in 1951 with maximum pumping capacity of 500 gpm. 

• Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1956 shows a recorded static 
water level of 57.70 ft below the pump discharge level. In pump test report dated 
1999, the water table decreased by 62.30 ft and the recorded static water level is 
120 ft below the pump discharge level. 

• Recorded Specific Capacity - Pump test report dated 1956 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 64.70 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 1999, the specific 
capacity increased to 85.70 gpm/ft. 

• Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1956 and 1999 data, specific capacity 
increased by 32.5%. Data shows a generally increasing trend. Impact to 
Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1956, total HP required to 
pump at 500 gpm well capacity is 38.90 HP. In 2000, the total HP increased to 
54.84 HP. Assuming that Well No. 4 pump has a built in service factor of 5% to a 
service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 4 pump exceeds the name plate 
horsepower and service factor as of 1999. 

6.3.5 Well No. 5 

• Well No. 5 was constructed in 1953 with maximum pumping capacity of 460 gpm. 

• Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1961 shows a recorded static 
water level of 67.60 ft below the pump discharge level. In pump test report dated 
1999, the water table decreased by 47.70 ft and the recorded static water level is 
115.30 ft below the pump discharge level. 



• Recorded Specific Capacity – A pump test report dated 1961 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 67.60 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 1999, the specific 
capacity increased to 115.30 gpm/ft. 

• Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1956 and 1999 data, specific capacity 
increased by 70.6%. Data shows a generally consistent increasing trend. 

• Impact to Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1961, total HP 
required to pump at 460 gpm well capacity is 34.83 HP. In 1999, the total HP 
increased to 38.64 HP. Assuming that Well No. 5 pump has a built in service 
factor of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 5 pump is within the 
name plate horsepower as of 1999. 
 

This well was serviced in 2009 with the casing hole video inspected. The video review showed 
considerable cascading metal scale and a mottled surface characteristic of generally uniform 
corrosion across the surface of the casing. The casing corrosion appears to have completely 
deteriorated the casing wall in several areas and the well contractor servicing the well advised 
that casing collapse was a possibility during cleaning. The well casing perforations were 
consistent with a mills knife with visible enlargement of the slots. Increased sand production has 
been observed, consistent with the slot enlargement and holes in the casing. 
This well pump and electrical panel also require upgrading to place it back into reliable service 
and the District weighed the cost of completing the service, estimated at $60,000 to $80,000, 
with the risk and return. It is recommended that the District invest in a replacement well for Well 
No. 5 and not proceed with rehabilitation of the existing well. 
 

6.3.7 Well No. 7 

• Well No. 7 was constructed in 1956 with maximum pumping capacity of 675 gpm. 

• Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1961 shows a recorded static 
water level of 50.50 ft below the pump discharge level. In a 1997 pump test 
report the water table decreased by 42.50 ft and the recorded static water level is 
93 ft below the pump discharge level. 

• Recorded Specific Capacity – Pump test report dated 1961 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 98.70 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 1997, the specific 
capacity increased to 115.90 gpm/ft. 

• Change in Specific Capacity – Between 1961 and 1976 data, specific capacity 
increased by 17.4%. Data shows a generally consistent increasing trend contrary 
to regional trends and typical well performance profiles over time. 

• Impact to Motor/Pump – According to pump test data recorded in 1961, total HP 
required to pump at 675 gpm well capacity is 49.02 HP. In 1997, the total HP  
increased to 56.04 HP. Assuming that Well No. 7 pump has a built in service 
factor of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 7 pump exceeds the 
name plate horsepower and service capacities as of 1997. 

6.3.8 Well No. 8 

• Well No. 8 was constructed in 1977 with maximum pumping capacity of 1100 
gpm. Well No. 8 is the District’s lead well and was recently upgraded to include a 
new VFD and electrical switchgear. The existing motor was not replaced and 
may be at risk from heat buildup under the VFD operating conditions. An 
enclosure and evaporative cooler has been added around the motor to address 
the heat buildup at this site. 

• Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1980 documented a recorded 
static water level of 86.75 ft below the pump discharge level. In a pump test 



report dated 2000, the water table decreased by 27.05 ft and the recorded static 
water level is 113.80 ft below the pump discharge level. 

• Recorded Specific Capacity – Pump test report dated 1980 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 39 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 2000, the specific 
capacity decreased to 24.20 gpm/ft. 

• Change in Specific Capacity – Between 1980 and 2000 data, specific capacity 
decreased by 37.9%. Data shows a generally consistent declining trend. 

• Impact to Motor/Pump – According to pump test data recorded in 1980, total HP 
required to pump at 1100 gpm well capacity is 101 HP exceeding the pump rated 
capacity of 100 HP but within the motor service factor allowance for operation at 
up to 5% over the rated horsepower. Additional pump test data in 1998 indicated 
the motor drawing 115 HP and exceeding the motor service factor. The District 
has been operating an additional well to maintain Well No. 8 within acceptable 
operating ranges but a replacement with a larger motor may be required should 
the existing motor fail. If the electrical service is upgraded this site should be 
considered for a 125 HP motor. 

 
Summary: 
 

All the older wells in the district exceed the nameplate horsepower and service 
capacities, which is an indication that the motors are near end of life. Further, the 
recorded static level in all of the older wells has gone down dramatically over the years. 
The older wells with the exception of well 8 are seventy years old and should be 
scheduled for either refurbishment, replacement, or decommission and destruction. 

 

Options: 

 

1. Wait until the district has the money to redrill well number 2, 4 or 5 and make it a larger 

producing well with a generator, the well would need to be big enough to decommission 

the contaminated and older wells. This is a very expensive option, especially with the other 

requirement of SB 552, the installation of water meters. 

2. Pursue the purchase of property to drill a large producing well with a generator. The well 

would cost the same as redrilling 2 but we would have to additionally pay for property and 

then we also wouldn’t know the water quality until the District had already invested a 

large amount of money. 

3. Continue 2 X 2 negotiations with Sacramento Suburban Water District for consolidation. 

4. Keep the contaminated wells as emergency only until the state forces the decommissioning 

and destruction of the wells. Fix well 7 to comply with OSHA standards and continue 

work on well 2, once it is sleeved it will produce less than it did before as a result of the 

smaller pump size. Drill another small well to just meet the requirement. This option on 



the surface appears cheaper but the costs of 2 retrofit, well 7 retrofit and drilling another 

small well is the same cost of drilling a large producer with a generator. Also, the majority 

of the wells in the district are at the end of their lifecycle and should be considered for 

either refurbishment, replacement, or decommission and destruction. 

5. Buy property or rent property and put in an underground tank with a very large booster 

pump that would give the district storage to meet the flow requirements. This endeavor 

would cost the same as redrilling well 2 and would be a continuous liability for 

maintenance, possible property rental fees and additional treatment of the tank. 

 

 

Recommendations: 

 With the district’s future liabilities of pipeline replacement, metering, well 

refurbishment or replacemnt and meeting fire flow requirements my recommendation is to 

continue 2 X 2 discussions with Sacramento Suburban Water District for consolidation prior to 

the 2032 deadline, preferably within the next five years. Spend money only on the projects that 

would give Del Paso Manor Water District a better negotiating position. 





 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan i 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\_w-logo\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table of Contents 

List of Tables................................................................................................................................ iii 

List of Figures............................................................................................................................... iv 

List of Appendices........................................................................................................................ iv 

Section 1: Executive Summary...................................................................... 1 
1.1 Introduction and Purpose of Master Plan...............................................1 
1.2 Master Planning Process and Documents Prepared .............................1 
1.3 Executive Summary ...............................................................................2 

1.3.1 Water Demands and Planning Criteria........................................2 
1.3.2 Water Supply Planning................................................................3 
1.3.3 Conjunctive Use Planning...........................................................3 
1.3.4 Facilities Replacement Planning .................................................3 
1.3.5 Organizational Structure and Management Planning .................3 
1.3.6 Meter Retrofit Planning ...............................................................4 
1.3.7 Planned System Maintenance ....................................................4 

1.3.7.1 Summary Estimated Cost and Phasing ....................4 

Section 2: Introduction .................................................................................. 5 

2.1 Purpose of the Water Master Plan .........................................................5 
2.2 Background ............................................................................................5 
2.3 Scope of Work........................................................................................6 
2.4 Acknowledgements ................................................................................6 

Section 3: Water Demands and Planning Criteria....................................... 11 
3.1 Introduction ..........................................................................................11 
3.2 Population and Growth.........................................................................11 
3.3 Water Use ............................................................................................13 

3.3.1 Historical Annual Water Use .....................................................13 
3.3.2 Water Use and Customer Service Type....................................14 

3.3.2.1 Customer Service Type ..........................................15 
3.3.2.2 Residential ..............................................................16 
3.3.2.3 Non-residential, Commercial and 

Institutional/Parks ...................................................17 
3.3.3 Water Meters.............................................................................18 

3.4 Water Demand Criteria.........................................................................19 
3.4.1 Demand Projections..................................................................19 
3.4.2 Fire Protection, Jurisdiction and Estimated Fire Flow 

Criteria ......................................................................................19 
3.4.3 Unaccounted-for Water .............................................................20 
3.4.4 Peaking Factors ........................................................................20 

3.5 Water Conservation..............................................................................21 
3.6 Reliability and Redundancy..................................................................22 



Table of Contents (cont'd) 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan ii 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\_w-logo\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

3.7 Water System Standards and Design Criteria......................................23 

Section 4: Water Supply Planning ............................................................... 25 
4.1 Introduction ..........................................................................................25 
4.2 Groundwater Supply ............................................................................25 
4.3 Surface Water Supply ..........................................................................26 

4.3.1 Interties with Other Districts ......................................................26 
4.3.1.1 Mutual Aid Agreements...........................................26 
4.3.1.2 Surface Water Supply Agreements.........................26 

4.4 Findings and Recommendations..........................................................26 

Section 5: Conjunctive Use ......................................................................... 29 
5.1 Introduction ..........................................................................................29 
5.2 Findings Summary ...............................................................................29 
5.3 Recommendations Summary ...............................................................31 
5.4 Direction Based on Board Review........................................................33 

Section 6: Facilities Replacement Planning ............................................... 34 
6.1 Introduction ..........................................................................................34 
6.2 Production Capacity Considerations ....................................................34 
6.3 Existing Well Ages and Condition ........................................................34 

6.3.1 Well No. 1..................................................................................35 
6.3.2 Well No. 2..................................................................................36 
6.3.3 Well No. 3..................................................................................37 
6.3.4 Well No. 4..................................................................................37 
6.3.5 Well No. 5..................................................................................37 
6.3.6 Well No. 6..................................................................................38 
6.3.7 Well No. 7..................................................................................39 
6.3.8 Well No. 8..................................................................................39 
6.3.9 Groundwater Summary and Recommendations .......................40 

6.3.9.1 Data Availability ......................................................40 
6.3.9.2 Summary ................................................................40 
6.3.9.3 Recommendations..................................................40 

6.4 Groundwater Well Replacement Program............................................42 
6.4.1 Replacement Groundwater Supply ...........................................42 

6.5 Pipeline Replacement Planning ...........................................................42 
6.6 Corporation Yard and Office Building...................................................43 

Section 7: Facilities Management Planning................................................ 46 
7.1 Introduction ..........................................................................................46 
7.2 District Organizational Structure...........................................................46 

7.2.1 Management and Administration Activities ...............................48 
7.2.2 Water Production and Testing...................................................48 
7.2.3 System Maintenance.................................................................50 



Table of Contents (cont'd) 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan iii 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\_w-logo\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

7.2.4 Conservation Outreach .............................................................50 
7.3 Future Water District Organizational Structure and Management 

Plan ......................................................................................................51 

Section 8: Meter Retrofit Planning .............................................................. 55 

8.1 Introduction and Background ...............................................................55 
8.2 Water Metering Commitments..............................................................56 
8.3 Current Meter Retrofit Status ...............................................................58 
8.4 Meter Installation Options.....................................................................58 
8.5 Findings and Recommendations..........................................................59 

Section 9: Planned System Maintenance.................................................... 60 
9.1 Introduction ..........................................................................................60 
9.2 Planning and Phasing Recommendations ...........................................60 

9.2.1 Summary of PSM......................................................................61 
9.2.2 PSM Phase 1: 2010-2014.........................................................64 
9.2.3 PSM Phase 2: 2014-2018.........................................................66 
9.2.4 PSM Phase 3: 2018-2022.........................................................68 
9.2.5 PSM Phase 4: 2022-2026.........................................................70 
9.2.6 PSM Phase 5: 2026-2030.........................................................72 

9.3 Cost Estimate.......................................................................................74 

List of Tables 

Table 1: Peak Demands and Factors ..................................................................................2 
Table 2: Cost Summary for Planned System Maintenance 2010-2030  

(Meter Installation by 2025) ...................................................................................4 
Table 3: Population and Housing Estimates and Tabulated Density.................................11 
Table 4: Population and Housing Units Density ................................................................12 
Table 5: Historical Water Use 1998 - 2007........................................................................13 
Table 6: Residential Water Use 2004 - 2007.....................................................................15 
Table 7: Residential Water Use 2004 - 2007.....................................................................16 
Table 8: Peak Demands and Factors ................................................................................21 
Table 9: Water Distribution System Design Criteria ..........................................................24 
Table 10: Well Production Capacity Summary ....................................................................25 
Table 11: Water Supply Availability .....................................................................................27 
Table 12: Well Age and Current Production Capacity Summary.........................................35 
Table 13: Water Meter Accounts Summary.........................................................................58 
Table 14: Commercial Flat Rate Accounts ..........................................................................58 
Table 15: Typical Construction Projects Preparation ..........................................................61 
Table 16: Planned System Maintenance Project Description..............................................62 
Table 17: Planned System Maintenance Summary of Cost by Phase ................................63 



Table of Contents (cont'd) 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan iv 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\_w-logo\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

List of Figures 

Figure 1: District Vicinity Map ...............................................................................................7 
Figure 2: District Location Map .............................................................................................8 
Figure 3: Adjacent Water Districts ........................................................................................9 
Figure 4: District Service Area Boundary............................................................................10 
Figure 5: Existing Well Sites ...............................................................................................28 
Figure 6: Future Well Sites .................................................................................................44 
Figure 7: Typical New Well Site Layout ..............................................................................45 
Figure 8: District Current Organizational Chart...................................................................47 
Figure 9: Proposed District Organizational Chart – Approach 1.........................................53 
Figure 10: Proposed District Organizational Chart – Approach 2.........................................54 
Figure 11: Water System PSM 2010-2014 ...........................................................................65 
Figure 12: Water System PSM 2014-2018 ...........................................................................67 
Figure 13: Water System PSM 2018-2022 ...........................................................................69 
Figure 14: Water System PSM 2022-2026 ...........................................................................71 
Figure 15: Water System PSM 2026-2030 ...........................................................................73 
 

List of Appendices 

A Draft Conjunctive Use Plan 

B Water Conservation and Meter Retrofit Plan – Technical Memorandum 

C Organizational Structure and Management Plan – Technical Memorandum 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 1 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 1:  Executive Summary 

1.1 Introduction and Purpose of Master Plan 
The Del Paso Manor Water District (District) has long been committed to providing a safe and 
reliable water supply, while at the same time maintaining low water rates. This Water System 
Master Plan is the first District master plan and documents planning strategies developed to 
address aging infrastructure and changing water supply pressures. This Master Plan has been 
prepared as a working document capturing engineering evaluations and recommendations while 
also allowing for adaptation as conditions and policy changes.  

This Water System Master Plan documents the Del Paso Manor Water District policy regarding 
policy, vision and direction for the District and does not commit the rate-payers to a specific 
discretionary action to implement the policy goals. Evaluation of funding and rate impacts, 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) review, and possibly construction implementation 
will flow from the vision of this Master Plan and reflect the next steps in the process of renewing 
the infrastructure of the District. 

1.2 Master Planning Process and Documents Prepared 
The District is located in the Arden area of unincorporated Sacramento County serving 
approximately 1.3 square miles, 1,800 residential, commercial, and institutional customers with 
an estimated average water usage of 1,680 acre feet per year over the last 10 years. The 
District is fully built-out and there is no growth area available. 

The District’s water system is comprised of buried water mains, eight (8) groundwater supply 
wells, and individual service connections, and has generally been in continuous service for over 
50 years. There is an increasing infrastructure liability as the aging pipelines and wells reach the 
end of their useful life over the next 5 to 30 years. The District’s elected Board of Directors, 
recognizing that the aging system and water supply reliability impact water service reliability, 
commissioned this Water System Master Plan.  

The Master Plan focuses on a 25-year horizon with specific recommendations developed for the 
5-, 10-, and 25-year milestones. This Master Plan was prepared building on a series of technical 
memoranda documenting the detailed evaluations for review and discussion with the District 
management and Board. The evaluation, findings and recommendations of the Technical 
Memoranda (TMs) are presented in this Master Plan and the TMs provided as appendices 
under separate cover.  

The Master Plan includes a detailed Planned System Maintenance schedule for replacement of 
facilities similar to what has traditionally been titled a Capital Improvement Plan. Given that the 
District is fully developed, there are no true capital improvements needed for the current use. 
There are, however, significant liabilities facing the District in maintaining high quality water 
supply and level of service and the liabilities are addressed with the PSM plan. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 2 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

1.3 Executive Summary 
This Executive Summary provide a brief overview of the evaluation undertaken, key findings 
and recommendations. Additional discussion and date are provided in the body of this Master 
Plan and in the Technical Memoranda provided as appendices under separate cover. 

1.3.1 Water Demands and Planning Criteria 
The existing water use in the District was evaluated with the following findings: 

 The District has a mixture of residential (94.3% of services), multi-housing (0.6% of 
services), commercial (3.7% of services) and institutional, irrigation and fire 
protection (1.3% of services) customers. 

 The water demand is disproportionately skewed towards the non-residential water 
customers with 44% of the annual water being used by non-residential accounts. 

 The District records indicate a 24% reduction in system water use over the period 
2004 to 2007. The estimated per capita water use in 2004 was 227 gallons per 
capita per day (gpcd) and in 2007 was estimated at 173 gpcd.  

 The District average 10-year water use is estimated to be below similar communities 
in the Sacramento area and was assumed to increase to match similar communities. 

The water demands in the District are shown in Table 1 and are dominated by a small number 
of non-residential customers with a regional benefit. Conservation will be encouraged with these 
large water users as part of managing the Districts resources. The District has large landscape 
lots and water use reductions will require changes in customer landscape practices. 

Table 1: Peak Demands and Factors 

Demand Period Water Demand 
Peaking 
Factor Basis for Calculation 

Average Day 1.50 MGD 1,042 gpm 1.0 District Records 
(1998 – 2007) 

Maximum Month 
Daily Average 

2.93 MGD 2,035 gpm 1.95 Maximum monthly demand from the 
last 10 years of supply operation 
divided by number of days where 
maximum monthly demand occurred 

Maximum Day 
Demand 

4.40 MGD 3,056 gpm 2.93 Max Month Daily Average Demand 
times 1.5 peaking factor 

Peak Hour 
Demand 

6.60 MGD 4,580 gpm 4.40 Estimated Max Day Demand times 
1.5 peaking factor divided by 
24 hours  

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 3 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

1.3.2 Water Supply Planning 
The District is 100% groundwater and the groundwater basin in not in overdraft. The District 
maintains eight existing wells with an installed capacity capable of meeting maximum day 
demand (with single largest well off line), peak hour demand and a maximum day demand with 
a residential fire flow. The existing system supply is insufficient to meet a maximum day demand 
and the single largest fire flow of 3,500 gallons per minute without low pressure conditions in the 
system. The initial phase planned system improvements include a new well to address this 
shortfall. 

The District has an agreement with the City of Sacramento to make available sufficient surface 
water to meet the District water supply needs. The District does not have facilities or approvals 
to use this water at this time. Obtaining approvals for surface water use will trigger installation of 
water meters within the District.  

1.3.3 Conjunctive Use Planning 
Conjunctive use is the balancing of surface water and groundwater to maximize the benefits of 
both. Two options for conjunctive use were evaluated. One option is the use of City of 
Sacramento surface water supplies either directly or wheeled through Sacramento Suburban 
Water District and the second option is the use of surface water diverted at the Carmichael 
Water District Bajamont Water Treatment Plant. This second option provides for a beneficial 
water supply plan for both the Carmichael Water District (CWD) and Del Paso Manor Water 
District with a joint project option to pump groundwater back to CWD in the event they have lost 
surface water supply due to drought or groundwater supply due to contamination. 

The recommendation is to continue to investigate the joint CWD water supply project while 
maintaining the City surface water supply agreement. 

1.3.4 Facilities Replacement Planning 
The facilities replacement plan is presented in detail and provided for five new wells and a 
complete reconstruction of all pipelines. The planned replacement was evaluated using a 
hydraulic model and confirmed system pipe and supply capacity to fully support existing water 
use and fire flow criteria. 

1.3.5 Organizational Structure and Management Planning 
The District currently employs four full-time and one part-time employee to operate the system. 
The District maintains agreements with neighboring agencies for assistance in the event of an 
emergency and maintains annual contracts with water and water well contractors for on-call 
response as needed. 

The proposed planned system maintenance, addition of metering, additional conservation 
requirements and increased distribution and treatment operator coverage will require additional 
staffing in the future. Two approaches to addressing possible future staffing needs are provided. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 4 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

1.3.6 Meter Retrofit Planning 
The District is a small water agency and does not currently fall under recent legislation 
regarding mandatory water metering. The District has agreed through the Water Forum process 
to begin metering at such time a discretionary surface water supply decision is required.  

This Master Plan recommends proceeding with installation of new services, meter boxes and 
meter idlers concurrent with the pipeline  

1.3.7 Planned System Maintenance 
The planned system maintenance (PSM) schedule is presented in detail with summary cost 
estimate tables, project descriptions and project time table. The work is presented in four year 
periods with the initial effort including a new well and system electrical improvements. The work 
includes wells, pipes, meters, and the CWD conjunctive use project and provides for full 
replacement of the system with conjunctive use and meters by the end of the planning period. 

The existing distribution system is primarily in the backyards of the residential area and this 
Master Plan recommends relocating the system to the public right of way as part of replacing 
the aging pipe network. 

1.3.7.1 Summary Estimated Cost and Phasing 

The detailed breakdown and development of cost estimates for the projects is provided in the 
body of this Master Plan.  The summary of the estimated cost and planned system maintenance 
phasing is provided in Table 2. 

Table 2: Cost Summary for Planned System Maintenance 2010-2030 
(Meter Installation by 2025) 

PSM Phase Scheduled Baseline Optional Total 

1 2010-2014 $4,393,400 $0 $4,393,400 

2 2014-2018 $4,928,200 $1,147,000 $6,075,200 

3 2018-2022 $2,438,400 $2,184,800 $4,624,200 

4 2022-2026 $6,910,100 $5,628,300 $12,538,400 

5 2026-2030 $1,744,300 $617,400 $2,361,700 

Estimated Cost    $29,992,900 

Total Cost Rounded to:    $29,993,000 

 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 5 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 2: Introduction 

Del Paso Manor neighborhood is a well maintained quiet post World War II residential and 
commercial development in the unincorporated Arden/Arcade are of Sacrament County whose water 
system has served it well since first delivering water in the late 1940’s.  

2.1 Purpose of the Water Master Plan 
The Del Paso Manor Water District (District) has long been committed to providing a safe and 
reliable water supply, while at the same time maintaining low water rates. This Water System 
Master Plan is the first District master plan and documents planning strategies developed to 
address aging infrastructure and changing water supply pressures. This Master Plan has been 
prepared as a working document capturing engineering evaluations and recommendations while 
also allowing for adaptation as conditions and policy changes.  

This Water System Master Plan documents the Del Paso Manor Water District policy regarding 
policy, vision and direction for the District and does not commit the rate-payers to a specific 
discretionary action to implement the policy goals. Evaluation of funding and rate impacts, 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) review, and possibly construction implementation 
will flow from the vision of this Master Plan and reflect the next steps in the process of renewing 
the infrastructure of the District. 

2.2 Background 
The District is located in the Arden area of unincorporated Sacramento County, northeast of the 
City of Sacramento, as shown in the vicinity and location maps provided in Figures 1 and 2. The 
District service area is approximately 1.3 square miles and the District provides drinking water to 
approximately 1,800 residential, commercial, and institutional customers. The District is bounded 
on all sides by Sacramento Suburban Water District (SSWD), a large water purveyor in the 
Sacramento region that was formed in 2002 by the merger of the former Arden and Northridge 
Water Districts. Figure 3 provides a map of the region and the District’s location relative to 
neighboring water purveyors. 

The District is fully built-out and is facing an increasing infrastructure liability as the aging 
pipelines and wells reach the end of their useful life over the next 5 to 30 years. The District’s 
water system is comprised of buried water mains, eight (8) groundwater supply wells, and 
individual service connections, and has generally been in continuous service for over 50 years. 
Figure 4 provides the location of each of the existing District wells, and approximate locations 
and diameters of existing buried water distribution pipelines. The District’s elected Board of 
Directors, recognizing that the aging system and water supply reliability impact water service 
reliability, commissioned this Water System Master Plan.  

Kennedy/Jenks Consultants (Kennedy/Jenks) specializes in water system master planning, 
infrastructure planning, water resources planning, as well as design and practical application of 
engineered solutions for safe and reliable systems and has prepared this Master Plan. The 
Master Plan will focus on a 25-year horizon with specific recommendations developed for the 5-, 
10-, and 25-year milestones. The Plans will consider infrastructure replacement beyond the 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 6 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

25-year period for pipelines and groundwater wells, as appropriate, and provide general 
recommendations for the longer-term issues.  

2.3 Scope of Work 
This Master Plan was prepared building on a series of technical memoranda documenting the 
evaluation of conjunctive use water supply strategies and facilities replacement planning. In 
addition, facility management review for future District staffing needs and metering installation 
planning were developed through meetings with the staff.  

The Master Plan includes a detailed Planned System Maintenance (PSM) schedule for 
replacement of facilities similar to what has traditionally been titled a Capital Improvement Plan. 
Given that the District is fully developed, there are no capital improvements associated with 
growth or development and instead the investment of capital is to maintain the system as 
needed for the current use. The significant liabilities facing the District in maintaining high quality 
water supply and level of service and the liabilities are addressed with the PSM plan. 

2.4 Acknowledgements 
The team and Kennedy/Jenks wishes to acknowledge the efforts and input of the following 
Del Paso Manor Staff and Elected Board for their participation in the work, consideration of the 
issues and leadership and charting the future for the District. 

Del Paso Manor Water District – Board of Directors 

Richard Allen, President 
John Downing, Vice President 
Michael Clohossey, Director 
Philip Ripplinger, Director 
Roy Wilson, Director 

Del Paso Manor Water District – Administration and Staff 

Debra Sedwick, General Manager 
Richard Bolton, Field Manager 
Lori Hensley, Office Assistant 
Ken Ingle, Operation and Maintenance Technician 

In addition, we would like to acknowledge the efforts of the Kennedy/Jenks team as follows: 

Sean Maguire, P.E., Project Engineer 
Sherly Rosilela, EIT, Staff Technical Support 
Alex Peterson, P.E., Project Manager 

 











 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 11 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 3: Water Demands and Planning Criteria 

The District customers have benefited from low cost and abundant water supply supporting park 
like suburban landscapes and continuous commercial water consumption practices that are 
trending to be inconsistent with state conservation policies, presenting challenges for the District 
in maintaining the high level of service, low cost and consistent regulatory policy compliance. 

3.1 Introduction 
This section presents the District historical water demands and planning criteria that will be used 
for planning of water supply and distribution system improvements.  

3.2 Population and Growth 
In order to estimate the population and residential units within the District service area was 
obtained from two data sources: The Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG) 
Regional Data Center and the US Census Bureau. With the District already at its build out 
capacity, the population is expected to remain steady for the next 25 years. The following 
population estimate data was used to prepare per capita water use estimates.  

The District boundaries concur with four (4) minor zone boundaries 657100, 657120, 660200, 
and 660210 in the SACOG Regional Analysis District 9 Arden Arcade. The SACOG minor 
zones are shown in Figure 2. The SACOG data from 1995 – 2001 shows a general zero growth 
across the minor zone boundaries, which confirms that the District service area has been fully 
developed and reached build out. Table 3 shows estimated population and housing units for 
minor zones within District Boundaries and tabulated estimate of population per housing unit. 
The estimated 2.2 persons per household using the SACOG data is low for similar land use and 
density in Sacramento County and we assumed would trend upward during the planning period 
of the Master Plan. 

Table 3: Population and Housing Estimates and Tabulated Density (a) 

Minor Zone Estimated Population Housing Units 

660200 2,421 1,188 

660210 49 20 

657100 2,520 1,043 

657120 0 0 

Total 4,990 2,251 

Estimated Population/Housing Unit (b) 2.22 

(a) Based on SACOG. Population and Housing for Sacramento County, by Minor Zone: 2002 
(b) Rounded to nearest 0.01 unit 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 12 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

The data in Table 4 shows the population and housing unit density for the geographic area as 
prepared by the US Census Bureau national census data 2000. Population and housing unit 
density projections for several Census Data Places (CDP) in Sacramento County were reviewed 
to develop an average for similar land use and development density.  

The CDPs shown in the table below were selected based on their similar socio-economic and 
geographical characteristics with the District. 

Table 4: Population and Housing Units Density  

Geographic Area 
Housing Units Per 

Square Mile 
Population Per 

Square Mile 
Population Per 

Household 

Arden Arcade CDP 5084.9 2373.3 2.14 

Carmichael CDP 4622.2 1987 2.33 

Citrus Heights City 5929.3 2432.3 2.44 

Fair Oaks CDP 2832.7 1159.2 2.44 

Foothill Farms CDP 7528.2 2950.6 2.55 

Florin CDP 4896.1 1700.8 2.88 

Gold River CDP 3011.1 1229.1 2.45 

La Riviera CDP 5649.1 2467.9 2.29 

Orangevale CDP 2663.5 1007.2 2.64 

Rio Linda CDP 1911.2 656.7 2.91 

Del Paso Manor WD estimated Population/Household 2.51 

(a) Based on US Census Bureau GCTPH1. Population, Housing Units, Area, and Density: 2000 

 

Nine out of the ten (10) similar census data areas indicated higher population per household 
than Del Paso Manor. The District, although fully built out, could experience an increasing trend 
with water use due to increasing population per household. The future District persons per 
dwelling projection assumes the residential neighborhoods will tend to see a transition from 
older single and two person residential profile to three to four person per household families. For 
this reason the composite value of 2.51 persons per household is used for future water 
projections and reflects a potential increase of 13 percent.  

Existing water use values have been reviewed based on the estimated 2.22 persons per 
household discussed above. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 13 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

3.3 Water Use 
This section presents historical water use and the development projected District water 
demands based on existing water use patterns. 

3.3.1 Historical Annual Water Use  
The annual historical District water demands and average gallons per capita day (gpcd) usage 
for 1998 - 2007 are provided in Table 5 based on groundwater supply well production records. 
Since the District does not have water meters installed at each connection to provide a full 
account of actual water demand, water supply data as provided in Section 3.2.1 is assumed to 
be equal to water demand. Typically there is a loss factor resulting from leaking pipes or illicit 
connections that causes actual customer demand to be lower than the supplied flow. Since the 
District is at a build out condition, the average day demand used for calculating Maximum Day 
and Peak Hour demand is 1.50 MGD.  

Table 5: Historical Water Use 1998 - 2007 

 Annual Water Use 

Year Acre-Feet 
Million gallons 
per day (MGD) 

Average Day 
Demand (gpm) 

1998 1,545 1.38  958 

1999 1,794 1.60  1,111 

2000 1,801 1.61  1,118 

2001 1,793 1.60  1,111 

2002 1,693 1.51  1,049 

2003 1,476 1.32  917 

2004 1,747 1.56  1,083 

2005 1,657 1.48  1,028 

2006 1,654 1.48  1,028 

2007 1,638 1.46  1,014 

Average 1,680 1.50  

 

Based on the historic water use the Average Day Demand is estimated to be 1.50 MGD 
(1,042 gpm) with an annual total water use of approximately 1,680 acre-feet. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 14 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

3.3.2 Water Use and Customer Service Type 
Water use calculations are reported several different ways depending on the intended use of the 
estimates. For example, in a land use planning document a generalized water duty by land use 
type might be used to estimate long range water demands associated with a county General 
Plan update. In this example you could expect to see a water duty for residential, multifamily 
residential, commercial, industrial, park, etc. Water districts however do not govern over land 
use and commonly assess water demands based on the existing community development 
profile lumping together the residential and all the services, business, professional, recreational, 
industrial and public water use as a composite of the water needed to support a given 
population. The future projects are then based on estimates of population growth with the 
assumption that the corresponding services, employment and recreation needed to support the 
standard of living associated with growth will result in similar water use. Sacramento County for 
example used a blanket 3 acre feet per acre water use estimate regardless of land use for many 
years in estimating long term water needs. 

Water use and water conservation are becoming much more closely reviewed as limited water 
resources and escalating storage, treatment and conveyance costs push for greater 
management of our water resources.  

The District annual water use is estimated at 1,680 acre-feet and the population is 
approximately 4,990 persons. Dividing total water used by total population served produces a 
water use number of 300 gallons per capita per day (gpcd) as an average day water use. This 
however ignores the impact of high water use types that include for the District two regional 
resources, County Club Plaza Mall and the AT&T western US telephone switching center. 
Backing out all the non-single family and duplex water use results in a lower per capita water 
use of 208 gpcd for purely the residential customer.  

The United States Geologic Survey (USGS) Circular 1268 Estimated Use of Water in the United 
States in 2000 compiled statewide water use values for public water supplies. USGS defined 
the Public Supply as follows. 

Public supply refers to water withdrawn by public and private water suppliers that furnish 
water to at least 25 people or have a minimum of 15 connections. Public-supply water may 
be delivered to users for domestic, commercial, industrial, or thermoelectric-power 
purposes. Some public-supply water may be delivered to other public suppliers or used in 
the processes of water and wastewater treatment. Public-supply water is used for such 
public services (public uses) as pools, parks, and public buildings; or be unaccounted for 
(losses) because of system leaks or such non-metered services as firefighting or the 
flushing of water lines. 

The USGS 2000 water use numbers provide the basis for our calculating an estimated 
California statewide average, weighted by population, of 203 gpcd for the public water supply.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 15 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table 6 provides a summary of selected counties and calculated per capita water use using the 
USGS Circular 1268 data.  

The District composite water use number of 300 gpcd appears high when compared to the 
statewide average of 203 gpcd and the county by county number shows above. However, the 
relative contribution of water use from the regional mall and western US call center equipment 
cooling towers must be taken into account in considering realistic conservation opportunities 
and goals.  

Table 6: Residential Water Use 2004 - 2007 

County Name 
Water Use – Public Supplied 

(gpcd) 
Percent of Total Water Used  

in California 

Sacramento County 261 5% 

Placer County 267 1% 

Yolo County 299 1% 

San Francisco County 109 1% 

San Diego County 185 7% 

San Bernardino County 273 6% 

Orange County 190 8% 

Los Angeles County 185 26% 

Riverside County 294 7% 

 

The following sections present a further review of District water use by customer type. 

3.3.2.1 Customer Service Type  

Water use varies by customer type, class and practice. The District’s largest customers include 
AT&T, schools and parks and reflect <1% (14 services) of the service connections consume 
approximately 44 percent (730 acre feet per year). The summary below breaks out water use 
based on District meter data by customer type. Residential single family and duplex service type 
is metered and the values are estimated. 

The District has approximately 1,796 total water service connections reflecting all classes of 
service. The District service profile breakdown is as follows: 

 1,611 connections (94.4%) Residential Use 

 92 (0.6%) Multi-Housing Use (81 flat rate and 11 metered) 

 69 (3.7%) Commercial Use 

 24 (1.3%) combinations of institutional, irrigation, and fire protection 

The estimated water use per connection type is presented in the following sections.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 16 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

3.3.2.2 Residential 

The population served within the District is estimated at 4,990 occupying 2,251 housing units. 
The total number of housing units includes apartments, duplex and single family accounts. The 
total metered water use was used as the starting point for developing the estimates below by 
backing out non-residential water use and apartment water use figures.  

The non-metered water use was adjusted for a 10% unaccounted for water loss prior to 
assigning the remaining unmetered production for single family and duplex unit water 
consumption. The estimated single family and duplex unit water use is presented in Table 7 
below. 

Table 7: Residential Water Use 2004 - 2007 

Description 2004 2005 2006 2007 

Residential Water Use (gpd) 891,860.4 787,791.6 772,455.3 677,732.8 

Number of Residential Accounts: SFR 1,611 1,611 1,611 1,611 

Number of Residential Accounts: Duplex  81 81 81 81 

Total Number of Households 1,773 1,773 1,773 1,773 

Residential Water Use (gallons/household) 503.0 444.3 435.7 382.3 

Average Population (persons/household) 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 

Residential Water Use (gpcd) 227 201 197 173 

 

The estimated water use in gallons per capita per day (gpcd) value is often used to compare 
water use of different agencies. The District records indicate a declining per capita water use 
over the period from 2004 to 2007 of almost 24% (54 gpcd). The review of the monthly data 
presented below shows a marked decline in summer water use for 2007 that is uncharacteristic 
of the typical demand pattern for the District and we have disregarded the 2007 water use 
numbers in estimating the average per capita water demand.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 17 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

2007

Apartments

7%

Commercial 

AT&T

52%
Commercial 

CCP 

8%

School 

10%

Commercial 

Etc

16%

Park

2%

County 

Landscape 

5%

Residential Water Usage

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

9,000,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

C
u

b
ic

 F
e

e
t 2004

2005

2006

2007

 

The estimated average per capita water demand is 208 gallons per capita per day based on 
estimated water use for the period 2004 through 2006.  

3.3.2.3 Non-residential, Commercial and Institutional/Parks 

The commercial water use is predominantly serving cooling tower equipment operated by AT&T 
for cooling of their telephone service centers. The summer maximum month water use for AT&T 
complex is approximately a 460 gpm contribution to Maximum Day Demand. The winter 
demand goes a low as 12 gpm in January- February when evaporative cooling demands are 
down. For the purposes of estimating water demand for this master plan we have assumed an 
average annual water use of 300 acre feet per year and a Maximum Day Demand of 460 gpm. 

The chart below presents an overview of the non-residential water distribution within the District 
for 2007.  

Historically institutional and park water use come from 
three schools and one park. The County of 
Sacramento added two metered accounts starting in 
2006 for the Watt Ave Beautification project median 
landscape irrigation. District water use records 
indicate 88 acre-feet per year and an increase starting 
in 2006 of approximately 12 acre-feet per year for the 
County project. The estimated total for this class is 
100 acre-feet per year. This equates to approximately 
62 gpm average day demand. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 18 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

The estimated maximum day water demand from non-residential demands is 522 gallons per 
minute (460 gpm AT&T plus 62 gpm institutional and park demand.) The total estimated 
maximum day demand is estimated at 3,056 gpm. The non-residential demand reflects 
approximately 17 percent of the instantaneous water demand during a maximum day use 
condition.  

The annual water use from non-residential demands is approximately 44% of the total water 
used in the District. The annual water use, measured in cubic feet per month in the graph below, 
shows how water use increases from March through December and produces a high total 
annual water.  This seasonal water use corresponds to the increased equipment load needed 
for the AT&T cooling towers.  

AT&T Metered Water Usage

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

C
u

b
ic

 F
e

e
t 2004

2005

2006

2007

 

3.3.3 Water Meters 
The District has meters installed at approximately 90% of its commercial accounts, one park, 
and three schools. Private residences are not currently metered and it is the Goal of the District 
to install meters at each District service connection by 2030, or sooner depending on the 
District’s potential future agreements with surface water providers.  

The Water Forum agreement includes requirements for the District when discretionary approval 
is required for new or expanded surface water supplies. In this case, the District would be 
required to annually retrofit 3.3%-5% of the total number of unmetered residential connections 
and read and bill in accordance with the Water Forum Conservation Element.  

The existing District water lines are located along the back lot lines and are generally 
inaccessible without entry into the individual residential yards. The existing back lot pipelines 
are fifty plus years old and the PSM recommendations include replacement of these pipeline 
with new pipelines in the front right of way by the meter deadline of 2030. It is therefore 
recommended that the installation of meters in the backyards be avoided and that meter setters 
be installed with the pipeline replacement projects. Upon completion of the pipeline replacement 
projects the entire District can be converted to a metered district with the installation of all 
meters at once. The installation will coincide with the start of conversion to a commodity based 
water rate. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 19 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

3.4 Water Demand Criteria 
The following provides an evaluation and determination of water use date for determination of 
water supply needs. The demand criteria is based on historic water use within the District and 
with similar water agencies in Sacramento County. 

3.4.1 Demand Projections 
Water demands fluctuate throughout the year and day with changes in weather, landscape 
irrigation practices, and other activities. For this reason, water demands under varying 
conditions are calculated to provide the basis for the District’s water supply and distribution 
system capacity.  

The key water demand periods used for planning purposes are as follows:  

• Average Day Demand: The average of total water consumption over a year. For the 
District, the Average Day Demand over the past ten years is 1.5 MGD.  

• Maximum Day Demand: The highest daily demand in a one year period. This demand 
period typically occurs during hot summer weather.  

• Peak Hour Demand: The average water use during the highest hour of use in the year. 
Peak hour demand may or may not occur on the same day of Maximum Day Demand. 

The peak factors used in this Master Plan are developed further in Section 3.4.4. 

3.4.2 Fire Protection, Jurisdiction and Estimated Fire Flow Criteria 
This section of the Master Plan addresses the existing District water system flow capacity and 
provides a source capacity targets for planning future water system Planned System 
Maintenance projects.  

The existing District water system is used by the Sacramento Metropolitan Fire Department 
(SMFD) for water supply during testing and when responding to a structure fire within the 
District. The District requirements for water supply are defined in Title 22 of the California Code 
of Regulations (CCR) Chapter 16 California Water Works Standards. Title 22 does not require a 
public water system to provide fire flow as a minimum condition of service. Fire protection 
requirements for building permit approvals is in the jurisdiction of the SMFD and the not the 
District.  

The SMFD conducts periodic fire hydrant testing in the District including high demand locations 
such as Country Club Plaza. The SMFD has not advised the District of any deficiencies with the 
existing system providing a level of service consistent with SMFD expectations. Title 22, 
although not requiring a minimum supply for fire flow, does stipulate a minimum operating 
pressure of 20 pounds per square inch, including under a fire flow condition.  

Review of existing SMFD records by the District identified a 3,500 gpm fire demand for the 
3540 Kings Way AT&T Building and was the maximum value discovered during the review. 
Kennedy/Jenks review of the residential demand resulted in a range from 1,500 gpm for the 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 20 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

bulk of the District’s neighborhoods and 2,750 gpm for the larger residential homes in the 
Winding Creek area of the District. Based on this research, 3,500 gpm has been used as the 
maximum fire flow demand that can be expected and this have been included in the minimum 
source capacity calculations of this Master Plan. The planned system replacement will result in 
a water supply and system capable of meeting or exceeding the fire flow criteria presented 
above.  

3.4.3 Unaccounted-for Water 
Unaccounted-for water is the difference between water production and the metered demand. A 
portion of this water may be from system leaks. Underground leaks could be located in lines, 
service lines, residential meter boxes, valves, and they are usually associated with excessive 
pressures, ground settlement, improper installation, or improper materials. According to 
American Water Works (AWWA) Water Audit and Leak Detection Guidebook, water losses 
other than leakage can generally be attributed to hydrant flushing of pipelines for O&M 
purposes, fire hydrant flows for fire fighting, construction practices, illegal connections, 
malfunctioning distribution system controls, reservoir seepage and leakage, and theft.  

In a Municipal Leak Detection Program Loss Reduction document prepared for the state of 
California Department of Water Resources, Office of Water Conservation, it is estimated that the 
average unaccounted-for water in the State of California is 9.5 percent.  

Currently, water usage is accounted for by metering the District’s largest water users: 
commercial, multi-family residential, and park/landscaping accounts. Once the residential water 
use is metered as discussed in earlier section of this document, the District will be able to more 
accurately track the losses throughout the system.  

For purposes of the Water Master Plan, unaccounted-for water usage has not been included in 
the average day water demands and per capita water usage.  

3.4.4 Peaking Factors 
The water system peaking factors were calculated based on the District’s average historical 
water use from 1998 – 2007 using the provisions provided in the current edition of the 
Title 22 California Code of Regulations Chapter 16 California Waterworks Standards §64554 
(Waterworks Standards). The Waterworks Standards prescribes methods to be used for 
calculating peaking factors when daily or monthly data is available. The calculated water 
demands are shown in Table 8. With the District reaching its build out capacity, it is anticipated 
that the District water demands will undergo little or no change.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 21 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table 8: Peak Demands and Factors 

Demand Period Water Demand 
Peaking 
Factor Basis for Calculation 

Average Day 1.50 MGD 1,042 gpm 1.0 District Records 
(1998 – 2007) 

Maximum Month 
Daily Average 

2.93 MGD 2,035 gpm 1.95 Maximum monthly demand from the 
last 10 years of supply operation 
divided by number of days where 
maximum monthly demand occurred 

Maximum Day 
Demand 

4.40 MGD 3,056 gpm 2.93 Max Month Daily Average Demand 
times 1.5 peaking factor 

Peak Hour 
Demand 

6.60 MGD 4,580 gpm 4.40 Estimated Max Day Demand times 
1.5 peaking factor divided by 
24 hours  

 

3.5 Water Conservation 
Water conservation requirements continue to change in California. Water use restrictions for dry 
years have been in place for water suppliers relying on surface water. The District relies solely 
on groundwater for supply and is not subject to surface water conservation requirements. The 
District Conservation regulation document provides for guidelines as follows: 

 When outside watering is required, residents or businesses with odd address 
numbers may water only on Tuesdays, Thursdays, or Saturdays. Even numbers may 
water only on Wednesdays, Fridays, or Sundays. Watering on Mondays is 
prohibited. 

 Open hoses are not permitted. Automatic shut-off nozzles are required. 

 Car washing may be done only with a bucket. Rinsing may be done with a hose 
equipped with a shut-off nozzle. 

 Washing down of sidewalks, driveways, parking lot, or other paved surfaces is 
prohibited. 

 All swimming pools, ponds, fountains and evaporative coolers shall be equipped with 
recirculating pumps. 

The existing policy provides for the District Board implementing, by resolution, some or all of the 
above conservation requirements. 

Enforcement includes oral warning for the first offense, written violation notice for the second 
offense and citation for the third offense. Citation penalties may include a fine, a requirement for 
meter installation, and/or termination of water services as determined by the General Manager.  

Future baseline non-conservation water use goals may approach or exceed twenty percent 
(20%) in the coming years as the State of California continues to take a harder look at water use 
sustainability, climate change and pursues an active role in local water use patterns. The District 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 22 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

can expect to be exempt from some requirements due to the size of the District but can expect 
increasing pressure to reduce water use over time. Water conservation should continue to be a 
key element of managing the District supply. 

3.6 Reliability and Redundancy 
Water system reliability and redundancy are generally defined by the California Code of 
Regulations, Title 22 Water System Standards to include the following: 

 The system must have sufficient supply capacity to meet the Maximum Day Demand 
(MDD). 

 A Community water systems using only groundwater shall have a minimum of two 
approved sources before being granted an initial permit and the system shall be 
capable of meeting MDD with the highest-capacity source off line. 

The District currently operates 8 wells with a pumping capacity of 4,275 gpm with the largest 
well offline. The MDD is approximately 3,056 gpm.  The District meets the minimum required 
water source capacity as identified above.  The existing well condition and capacity is discussed 
further in Section 4. 

The peak hour demand (PHD) exceeds the MDD and water systems can meet this daily peak 
usage through additional supply pumping capacity or through storage. In addition, emergency 
and fire protection water supplies can be provided using additional supply pumping capacity of 
storage. The District relies on additional supply through well capacity to meet peak hour 
demand.  Use of peaking wells avoids the need for surface tanks and booster pumping capacity 
within the District.  The PHD is estimated at 4,580 gpm and with the installed pumping capacity 
of 5,375 gpm the District meets the PHD.  

Fire protection water demand ranges from a low based on typical residential criteria of 
1,500 gpm to the higher commercial and multifamily fire flow of 3,500 gpm. The District supply 
may not be sufficient to provide fire protection supply in excess of 2,500 gpm.  

Hydropneumatic tanks are designed to maintain system pressure and do not provide significant 
storage. A 5,000 gallon District hydropneumatic tank volume provides approximately 
1,650 gallons net storage when full and there are 5 tanks for a net maximum stored volume of 
less than 10,000 gallons. Although five (5) wells are equipped with hydropneumatic tanks this 
onsite volume of water is minimal and is not considered storage. A typical minimum storage 
volume a similar district would be calculated as follows: 

 880,000 Gallons Peak Equalization based on 20% of the Maximum Day Demand, 
and 

 960,000 Gallons Fire Protection Supply based on 4,000 gpm for 4 hours, and 

 1,100,000 Gallons Emergency Supply for reliability. 

The estimated minimum storage for a similar district without well capacity to exceed the MDD 
would be 3 million gallons. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 23 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

An additional element of redundancy that improves reliability is access to alternative power 
supply of mechanical engine drivers to continue operating the wells during a power outage. The 
District maintains two backup systems as follows: 

 Natural Gas Engine Drive Well Nos. 6 and 8, and 

 Portable electrical generator capable of starting Well No. 2 or 4. 

Based on the backup systems the District has approximately 2,700 gpm and should be able to 
maintain system water pressure in the event of an extended regional power outage. Additional 
redundancy exists in the electrical grid due to the three substation circuits serving the District. 
Historical power outages rarely extend to more than two (2) substations servicing the District at 
any given time.  

3.7 Water System Standards and Design Criteria 
The water system design criteria presented in this section are recommended to maintain a high 
level of service and to ensure adequate flow and pressure characteristics throughout the 
distribution system. Ongoing efforts to manage system hydraulics will help to minimize operation 
and maintenance activities and costs. The minimum recommended design standards for the 
water distribution system include the following:  

 Design all piping, valves and appurtenances for a minimum pressure of 150 pounds per 
square inch (psi). This will allow for the system to accommodate normal operating 
pressures and transient surges.  

 Design or select water system materials and components to meet or exceed American 
Water Works Association (AWWA) standards.  

 Loop the distribution system to the greatest extent practical to avoid dead end pipes. 
Where dead ends are unavoidable, such as on some dead end streets, a minimum 
water main line size of 6 inches be used to reduce system residence time in the dead 
end line. 

 The minimum distribution system pipe loop diameter should be 8-inch to help ensure 
that minimum fire flows to hydrants are achievable.  

 Design water mains so that the velocities under average day, maximum day, and peak 
hour conditions are less than 3 fps, 5 fps and 7 fps, respectively. This will reduce 
damage to pipe linings and valves and minimize excessive head loss. Ultimately, this will 
help preserve the life of the pipeline and will contribute to lower maintenance costs. 

 Design pipes for a target velocity under a fire flow of 10 foot per second and a maximum 
velocity under maximum day plus fire flow of 13 foot per second. 

 Size all mains to limit head loss to three feet per 1,000 feet of length under average day 
conditions per AWWA recommendations. This is based on an analysis of optimum pipe 
sizes for lowest total cost of pipeline and pumping costs. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 24 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table 9 summarizes additional distribution system design criteria. The pressure values 
presented are consistent with existing operating conditions. Friction coefficient values decline 
with pipe age and it is reasonable to assume that the existing system is operating at between 
110 to 120 “C” value for the asbestos pipe and perhaps 90 to 110 “C” value for the steel lines. 
Steel lines tend to accumulate deposits and the combination of reduced inside diameter from 
accumulations and increased roughness results in the lower “C” value estimate. 

Table 9:  Water Distribution System Design Criteria 

Item Criteria 

Hazen-Williams “C” factor 
(Friction Coefficient) 

130 for all new pipes 
 

Average water system pressure 50 psi 

Minimum water system pressure under peak 
hour water demand conditions 

40 psi 

Minimum water system pressure under 
maximum day water demand conditions 

40 psi 

Minimum water system pressure under 
maximum day plus fire water demand 
conditions 

20 psi 

Maximum water system pressure 80 psi 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 25 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 4: Water Supply Planning 

4.1 Introduction 
This section provides documentation of the water supply availability in the District, and provides 
recommendations for new supply.  

4.2 Groundwater Supply 
The District currently maintains eight (8) wells to meet all of the District water demands. The 
District has been pumping on average 1,680 acre-feet per year using Wells 1 and 8 as lead 
producers. Wells 2, 3 and 4 provide peaking demand and Wells 6 and 7 are the last wells to 
come on line to meet system demand.  

The District is a member of the Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) and Regional Water 
Authority (RWA) and active participant in regional and groundwater basin planning efforts. The 
aquifer utilized as the pumping resource by the District is identified by SGA/RWA as not being in 
overdraft and there are no indications that continued pumping by the District at approximately 
1,680 acre-feet per year is unsustainable.  

The locations of the District wells are shown in Figure 5. Table 10 below provides a summary of 
the estimated capacity of the District’s wells based on the original installed pump design 
operating point and current operating observations from District staff.   

Table 10: Well Production Capacity Summary 

Well No. Pumping Capacity 

1 500 gpm 

2 460 gpm 

3 580 gpm 

4 500 gpm 

5
(a)

 460 gpm 

6 1,100 gpm 

7 675 gpm 

8 1,100 gpm 

Total Capacity 5,375 gpm 

Total Capacity with Redundancy
(b)

 4,275 gpm 

(a) Well No. 5 is the last well to come on line. 
(b) Redundancy is total system capacity with largest District well (1,100 gpm) offline. 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 26 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

4.3 Surface Water Supply 
The District and the City of Sacramento (City) executed an agreement in 1968 establishing 
conditions for transfer of up to 6.8 cubic feet per second, or 2,460 acre-feet annually of the 
City’s surface water supply to the District through the Area D water service area.  This maximum 
delivery flow is 3,048 gpm and is equivalent to the District MDD of 3,056 gpm. The City has 
planned for supplying Area D with surface water through their Fairbairn Water Treatment Plant 
and 54-inch diameter Howe Avenue transmission main. 

The District completed a Conjunctive Use Plan evaluating alternatives for developing a surface 
water supply and participating in groundwater wheeling with neighboring districts in September 
2008. The initial findings of the evaluation are the basis for preliminary implementation cost 
estimates presented in Section 5 of this report.  

4.3.1 Interties with Other Districts  
The District is active in the water supplier community participating in the Regional Water 
Authority, Sacramento Groundwater Authority and Water Forum and successor activities. The 
District has two (2) existing interties and multiple locations for potential interties with 
Sacramento Suburban Water District (SSWD) and has participated in planning additional 
connections associated with new pipeline installations by SSWD. 

4.3.1.1 Mutual Aid Agreements 

The District maintains Mutual Aid Agreements with SSWD and the Carmichael Water District to 
provide technical and emergency support as part of providing redundancy in District resources 
to address unforeseen events. 

4.3.1.2 Surface Water Supply Agreements 

The District and the City of Sacramento executed an agreement over 40 years ago allocating 
City surface water supply for District use in the future. The specifics of this agreement are 
discussed in greater detail in the Conjunctive Use Plan. 

4.4 Findings and Recommendations 
The District is capable of meeting system demands for all normal operating conditions. Although 
the District relies solely on groundwater, indications are that the groundwater basin is not in 
overdraft and the continued water use at the historic extractions is a sustainable operating 
practice.  

Table 11 provides a summary of the water supply availability with associated demand 
conditions.  The water system demand criteria is discussed further in Section 3.4 and Table 8. 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 27 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table 11: Water Supply Availability 

Demand Condition 
Demand 

(gpm) 

Water 
Availability 

(gpm) 

Surplus or  
<Deficit> 

(gpm) 

Average Day 1,042 5,375 4,333 

Maximum Day
(a)

 3,056 4,275 1,219 

Maximum Day Plus Fire 
(b)

 6,556 5,375 <1,181> 

Peak Hour  4,580 5,375 <795> 

(a) Maximum Day supply assumes the single largest well offline as shown in Table 10. 
(b) Maximum Day plus Fire flow demand are based on a maximum fire flow demand of 3,500 gallons per minute for 

a minimum for four hours. 

 





 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 29 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 5: Conjunctive Use  

5.1 Introduction 
Kennedy/Jenks has provided the District with a Conjunctive Use Plan to present 
recommendations for implementing a conjunctive use program, whereby the District will 
continue to utilize its groundwater resources and supplement with imported surface water, either 
through existing or new contract mechanisms to help accomplish the following objectives: 

 Enhance water supply reliability and redundancy for District customers by maintaining 
both groundwater and surface water source supplies. 

 Participate in regional management efforts to ensure the continued sustainability of the 
groundwater basin. 

The Conjunctive Use Plan includes a discussion of the many factors that impact local and 
regional groundwater resources, and consideration of their potential implications on the District. 
The discussion includes a summary of efforts to manage historical declining groundwater 
elevations and migrating groundwater contamination plumes, and partnering agreements that 
have moved the Sacramento region towards implementation of a managed conjunctive use 
effort to ensure a sustainable water supply.  

After the groundwater resources setting, a focused review of the District’s conjunctive use 
considerations is provided including the following:  

 Survey of potential surface water/groundwater use ratios and justification for each case. 

 Comparison of several potential surface water supply alternatives to import surface 
water from neighboring water purveyors (including the City of Sacramento, Sacramento 
Suburban Water District, and Carmichael Water District).  

 Alternatives for infrastructure improvements that would be required to import surface 
water into the District, depending on the surface water supply alternative that is selected. 

5.2 Findings Summary 
The following presents a list of findings presented in the Conjunctive Use Plan: 

District Water Supply 

1. The District desires to provide a safe and reliable drinking water supply to its customers.  

2. The District’s average annual water demand is approximately 1,680 acre-feet/year.  

3. The District’s existing source capacity is dependant on 8 groundwater wells ranging in 
age from 30 years to in excess of 60 years old.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 30 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Groundwater Resources 

1. The sustainable yield of the aquifer, as estimated by the Water Forum is 
131,000 acre-feet per year. Historical groundwater pumping in the north Sacramento 
groundwater basin has ranged between 80,000 to 100,000 acre-feet per year.  

2. Recent conjunctive use efforts (by SSWD to import PCWA surface water and CWD’s 
Bajamont WTP) has decreased groundwater pumping and appears to have contributed 
to the stabilization of regional groundwater elevations. 

3. Groundwater quality is threatened by both regional groundwater contaminant plumes to 
the west and east of the District as well as localized historical and ongoing potential 
contaminating activities (PCAs).  

4. The District has participated in regional efforts, including the Sacramento Groundwater 
Authority and Water Forums to establish measures to ensure reliable water supplies 
region-wide. For this reason, the District would like to participate in conjunctive use 
efforts and import surface water to balance groundwater pumping. 

5. The District has committed to implementing Water Forum Best Management Practices 
for water conservation. 

Conjunctive Use Planning  

1. The District does not have an established conjunctive use numerical goal.  

2.  In 2004, SGA staff proposed a conjunctive use allocation. The proposal was not 
successful in getting adopted, however it identified a possible conjunctive use goal of 
300 acre-feet/year for the District.  

3. Surface water may be more readily available in the winter, non-peak water demand 
months. Approximate average District water demand during the period between October 
and April is 640 acre-feet per year. 

4. There are several possible groundwater banking opportunities if the District imports 
surface water. Opportunities include in-lieu groundwater recharge as well as aquifer 
storage and recovery.  

Surface Water Alternatives 

1. The District has access to surface water through a 1968 agreement with the City of 
Sacramento for up to 2,460 acre-feet per year of the City’s Area “D” water.  

2. There are several alternatives available to the District for importing Area “D” water into 
the District. Options include diverting and treating the water at the City of Sacramento 
and conveying the water through the City through SSWD to the District or diverting and 
treating the Area “D” water at Carmichael Water District and transferring the water 
directly from CWD to the District.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 31 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

3. SSWD’s north service area surface water from PCWA does not include the District in its 
Place of Use.  

4. See Tables in Section 4 for additional detailed findings on surface water alternatives. 

Interconnections  

1. There are currently two recommended interconnection options for the District: construct 
an intertie with SSWD or CWD.  

2. SSWD has built pipelines through and adjacent to the District, and as a result, an intertie 
would require only a metering station and short pipeline to connect to the District’s 
distribution system.  

3. An intertie with CWD would require an approximately 3,000 linear foot pipeline, metering 
station and pump station.  

4. A permanent interconnection to SSWD would require the District to install fluoridation on 
its groundwater supply. A permanent interconnection with CWD would not require 
fluoridation.  

5.3 Recommendations Summary 
Following is a list of the recommendations that have been provided in the Conjunctive Use plan:  

Section 2: Conjunctive Use Setting 

1. The District should continue to participate in the Water Forum Successor Effort and 
support the agreement among the member agencies, and work cooperatively in solving 
the remaining water resources challenges being addressed in the Water Forum. It is also 
recommended that the District review and confirm it is implementing its BMP 
commitments, and develop a plan to complete any outstanding elements. 

2. The District should continue its active role in the SGA and support the implementation of 
the regional management of the groundwater resources to achieve the goals defined in 
the Water Forum Agreement. 

3. The District become more active in its role in the RWA and support the implementation 
of the regional management of the water resources to achieve District objectives the 
goals defined in the Water Forum Agreement.  

4. The District should monitor and participate in the upcoming and subsequent future 
efforts to update the Integrated Regional Water Management Plan, and seek funding 
opportunities for conjunctive use and water management improvements. 

5. The District should continue to participate in efforts to collectively manage and protect 
the North Area Groundwater basin from an overdraft condition.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 32 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

6. The District should have a contingency surface water supply resource in place, and 
maintain mutual aid agreements with neighboring purveyors to offset lost groundwater 
supply resulting from contamination and other emergency conditions. 

7. The District should be diligent about monitoring regional contaminant plume remediation, 
and work collaboratively with neighboring agencies to help ensure that the necessary 
measures are implemented to contain and remediate the plumes to the extent feasible. 
One possible avenue could be participation in the SGA’s groundwater contamination 
task force. 

8. Continue to monitor potential localized contaminating activities and implement wellhead 
protection measures as warranted. 

Section 3: Conjunctive Use Goals 

1. Establish an interim conjunctive use baseline goal of 300 acre-feet/year. Confirm goal 
would be in accordance with Water Forum Agreement groundwater management 
commitments pending future determination of conjunctive use objectives by the Water 
Forum Successor Effort or SGA Water Accounting Framework.  

2. Any new surface water interties with neighboring water districts and infrastructure 
improvements should be sized to accommodate at minimum a 50/50 conjunctive use 
split.  

3. Evaluate potential rate impacts for varying levels and sources of surface water through 
preparation of a rate study.  

4. The District should continue to implement Water Forum Agreement demand 
conservation measures as warranted. Investigate means for measurable demand 
reduction as a component of the District’s conjunctive use efforts. 

5. It is recommended the District continue to explore participation in a groundwater banking 
program, either through the SGA efforts or a partnership with a neighboring agency. 

6. Evaluate participation in local or regional groundwater banking partnerships. Monitor 
progress of SGA’s Water Accounting Framework and proposals for a model groundwater 
banking program. 

Section 4: Surface Water Supply Alternatives 

1. The District should continue to explore opportunities to develop agreements with either 
the City of Sacramento and SSWD (for transmission) or CWD to import Area “D” surface 
water. Considerations should include the reliability of the water supply sources, required 
institutional arrangements and regulatory approvals, and evaluation of the annual costs 
of the water transfer and any capital improvement requirements. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 33 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 5: Surface Water Supply Infrastructure Improvements 

1. For a surface water supply intertie with SSWD, provide a minimum 12-inch connection at 
the existing intertie stubout of SSWD’s existing 24-inch pipeline near Maryal Drive and 
Gila Way. 

2. For a surface water supply intertie with CWD, provide a 12-inch interconnection near the 
intersection of Eastern Avenue and Lusk Drive. 

3. Interconnection locations should be finalized once the surface water alternative is 
selected. It is recommended that a new intertie should be constructed to connect to a 
new 12-inch distribution system “backbone” located within the District. Specific intertie 
location recommendations will be refined after completion of the draft Facilities 
Replacement Plan. 

5.4 Direction Based on Board Review 
The District Board review of the summaries above resulted in the direction to prioritize the 
process as follows: 

 Begin Negotiations with Carmichael Water District for implementation of using surplus 
winter surface water treatment plant capacity at the Bajamont membrane plant. This 
would include resolution of the beneficial use of the 600 gpm remediated groundwater 
discharge to the American River at the Bajamont site as an offsetting flow allowing 
consideration for diversion of City of Sacramento water at the Carmichael Water District 
point of diversion using the existing river infiltration facilities. 

 Begin Negotiations with the City of Sacramento to obtain support for the approach and to 
proceed with obtaining the regulatory water supply and diversion approvals needed to 
allow diversion of City surface water supplies at the Carmichael Water District point of 
diversion. 

 Explore additional well construction potential within the District as a secondary water 
supply for Carmichael Water District to use in periods of low river flow and in the event 
the GenCorp/Aerojet groundwater contamination plume impacts existing Carmichael 
groundwater production. 

The effort to bring the use of surface water to the District using this approach will be a multi-year 
process. The estimated costs of these alternatives are discussed in the Conjunctive Use 
Technical Memorandum and are opinions as to the order of magnitude of cost. Additional detail, 
discussions and planning are recommended as part of refining the costs as the negotiations and 
process moves forward. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 34 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 6: Facilities Replacement Planning 

6.1 Introduction 
All facilities wear out and need to be replaced over time. The useful period of service for 
equipment varies with the process, maintenance, and service conditions. For example, a 
submersible well pump will typically not last as long an aboveground vertical turbine well pump. 
Small equipment wears out faster than larger equipment, fixed assets such as wells and tanks 
last longer than equipment with moving parts such as pumps. 

This evaluation includes consideration of the current overall age and condition of the District’s 
groundwater facilities, pipes, and tanks. This section provides a summary of the existing state 
(capacity and condition) of the District’s groundwater supply production capacity and 
recommendations for supplementing and replacement of the supply sources. Pipeline assets 
are reviewed and recommendations to replace provided. 

6.2 Production Capacity Considerations 
The District currently relies on eight existing groundwater wells to meet water demands. In a 
condition with the highest capacity production well offline, it appears that the District is able to 
meet Maximum Day demand as required by the California Waterworks Standards, but would not 
be able to meet Maximum Day plus Fire demand, and would marginally not be able to meet 
Peak Hour demands. Because Maximum Day plus Fire is the highest demand period criteria, it 
is the controlling factor.  

6.3 Existing Well Ages and Condition 
All of the existing wells exceed a typical well useful life expectancy of 30 to 50 years. While the 
useful life expectancy is not a steadfast time period, it does serve as a general indicator for 
when one may expect to begin to see signs of wear and failure of the well. Typical signs may 
include pumping sand, diminished water production, casing or screen collapse, and pump and 
motor failure. Specific well replacement recommendations, detailed well site investigations, and 
other considerations are provided in the separate Draft Facilities Replacement Plan document.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 35 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table 12: Well Age and Current Production Capacity Summary 

Well No. Year Built Age in Years 
Projected 
Useful Life 

Remaining 
Useful Life Notes 

1 1946 62 30 <32> Recent inspection and in 
fair condition 

2 1948 60 30 <30> No recent inspection 

3 1949 59 30 <29> No recent inspection 

4 1951 57 30 <27> No recent inspection 

5 1953 55 30 <25> Recent inspection – poor 
condition and now out of 
service 

6 1956 52 30 <22> No recent inspection 

7 1956 52 30 <22> No recent inspection 

8 1977 31 30 1 Recent inspection and in 
good condition 

 

The following is an assessment of Well Nos. 1 – 8. The well assessment is based on evaluation 
of the District’s record of pump test reports for Well Nos. 1 – 8. The oldest and newest available 
data for standing water level, drawdown, discharge head, and efficiency were reviewed and 
tabulated to capture the change in groundwater level, well’s performance by specific capacity, 
and impact to well motor over time.  

The well pump motor horsepower required estimates presented below are based on observed 
well drawdown data and reflect the impact of declining groundwater tables over the last 50 
years since the majority of the well pumps were installed.  These estimates are for predicting 
stress on the electrical elements of the motor and possible impacts to reliability of equipment 
under increased operating loads.  The estimated motor load assumes a low 70% motor/pump 
efficiency value associated with the older motors. 

6.3.1 Well No. 1 
Well No. 1, built in 1946, has a 12-inch diameter casing constructed to a total depth 500 feet. 
The well was initially pump tested at 1,200 gpm with a 62 feet drawdown during pumping. Well 
No. 1 is equipped to provide 500 gpm and is the second lead system supply well following lead 
well, Well No. 8.  

 Recorded Static Water Level – The 1946 static water level was not recorded but first 
water identified at 55 feet. The driller reported 1,200 gpm at 62 feet of drawdown 
demonstrating a high specific capacity. Pump test report data from 1956 shows a 
recorded static water level of 64.60 ft and data from 2000 recorded a static water 
level is 118 ft below the pump discharge level. This indicates a 53.4 foot decline in 
the water table at this well site. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 36 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

 Recorded Specific Capacity - Pump test report dated 1956 shows a recorded specific 
capacity of 68.10 gallons per minute per foot of drawdown (gpm/ft). Pump testing in 
2000 documented a specific capacity of 42.30 gpm/ft.  

 Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1956 and 2000 data, specific capacity 
decreased by 37.9%. Data shows a generally consistent declining trend.  

 Impact to Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1956, total HP 
required to pump at 500 gpm well capacity is 37.73 HP. In 2000, the total HP 
increased to 50.93 HP. Assuming that Well No. 1 pump has a built in service factor 
of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 1 pump exceeds the name plate 
horsepower but does not exceed the service capacity as of 2000.  

 This well has been equipped with a variable frequency drive (VFD) for reduced flow 
at start up to reduce drawing sand through the wall slots. The VFD allows the well 
pump to match demands in the vicinity by speed up and slowing down based on 
system demand. This has resulted in a consistent system pressure in the northeast 
District area. 

This well was serviced in 2007 with the casing hole bailed to total depth and video inspected. 
The video review showed considerable cascading metal scale and a mottled surface 
characteristic of generally uniform corrosion across the surface of the casing. The well casing 
perforations were consistent with a mills knife with visible enlargement of the slots. Increased 
sand production has been observed, consistent with the slot enlargement. 

6.3.2 Well No. 2 
Well No. 2 was constructed in 1948 with maximum pumping capacity of 460 gpm. 

 Recorded Static Water Level – Well measurements in 1959 recorded a static water 
level of 59.80 ft below the pump discharge level. Data in 2000 documented a water 
table decreased by 64.70 ft and the recorded static water level was 124.50 ft below 
the pump discharge level. This indicates a 59.8 foot decline in the water table at this 
site. 

 Recorded Specific Capacity - Pump test report data from 1959 documents a specific 
capacity of 62.70 gpm/ft while data from 2000 shows a decrease to 33.30 gpm/ft.  

 Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1959 and 2000 data, specific capacity 
decreased by 46.9%. Data shows a generally consistent declining trend.  

 Impact to Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1959, total HP 
required to pump at 460 gpm well capacity is 36.07 HP. In 2000, the total HP 
increased to 51.64 HP. Assuming that Well No. 2 pump has a built in service factor 
of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 2 pump exceeds the name plate 
horsepower capacity but does not exceed the service capacity as of 2000.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 37 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

6.3.3 Well No. 3 
Well No. 3 was constructed in 1949 with maximum pumping capacity of 580 gpm. 

 Recorded Static Water Level – Well measurements in 1956 recorded a static water 
level of 50.40 ft below the pump discharge level. In 2000, the water table decreased 
by 64.60 ft and the recorded static water level was 115 ft below the pump discharge 
level.  

 Recorded Specific Capacity - Pump test report dated 1956 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 41.50 gpm/ft. In 2000 the specific capacity had decreased to 
29.70 gpm/ft.  

 Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1956 and 2000 data, specific capacity 
decreased by 28.4%. Data shows a generally consistent declining trend.  

 Impact to Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1956, total HP 
required to pump at 580 gpm well capacity is 40.62 HP. In 2000, the total HP 
increased to 56.45 HP. Assuming that Well No. 3 pump has a built in service factor 
of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 3 pump exceeds both of the 
name plate horsepower and the service factor as of 2000. 

6.3.4 Well No. 4 
Well No. 4 was constructed in 1951 with maximum pumping capacity of 500 gpm. 

 Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1956 shows a recorded static water 
level of 57.70 ft below the pump discharge level. In pump test report dated 1999, the 
water table decreased by 62.30 ft and the recorded static water level is 120 ft below 
the pump discharge level.  

 Recorded Specific Capacity - Pump test report dated 1956 shows a recorded specific 
capacity of 64.70 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 1999, the specific capacity 
increased to 85.70 gpm/ft.  

 Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1956 and 1999 data, specific capacity 
increased by 32.5%. Data shows a generally increasing trend. 

 Impact to Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1956, total HP 
required to pump at 500 gpm well capacity is 38.90 HP. In 2000, the total HP 
increased to 54.84 HP. Assuming that Well No. 4 pump has a built in service factor 
of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 4 pump exceeds the name plate 
horsepower and service factor as of 1999.  

6.3.5 Well No. 5 
Well No. 5 was constructed in 1953 with maximum pumping capacity of 460 gpm. 

 Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1961 shows a recorded static water 
level of 67.60 ft below the pump discharge level. In pump test report dated 1999, the 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 38 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

water table decreased by 47.70 ft and the recorded static water level is 115.30 ft 
below the pump discharge level.  

 Recorded Specific Capacity – A pump test report dated 1961 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 67.60 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 1999, the specific 
capacity increased to 115.30 gpm/ft.  

 Change in Specific Capacity - Between 1956 and 1999 data, specific capacity 
increased by 70.6%. Data shows a generally consistent increasing trend.  

 Impact to Motor/Pump - According to pump test data recorded in 1961, total HP 
required to pump at 460 gpm well capacity is 34.83 HP. In 1999, the total HP 
increased to 38.64 HP. Assuming that Well No. 5 pump has a built in service factor 
of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 5 pump is within the name plate 
horsepower as of 1999.  

This well was serviced in 2009 with the casing hole video inspected. The video review showed 
considerable cascading metal scale and a mottled surface characteristic of generally uniform 
corrosion across the surface of the casing. The casing corrosion appears to have completely 
deteriorated the casing wall in several areas and the well contractor servicing the well advised 
that casing collapse was a possibility during cleaning. The well casing perforations were 
consistent with a mills knife with visible enlargement of the slots. Increased sand production has 
been observed, consistent with the slot enlargement and holes in the casing.  

This well pump and electrical panel also require upgrading to place it back into reliable service 
and the District weighed the cost of completing the service, estimated at $60,000 to $80,000, 
with the risk and return. It is recommended that the District invest in a replacement well for Well 
No. 5 and not proceed with rehabilitation of the existing well.  

6.3.6 Well No. 6 
Well No. 6 was constructed in 1956 with maximum pumping capacity of 1100 gpm. 

 Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1961 shows a recorded static water 
level of 55.60 ft below the pump discharge level. In pump test report dated 1976, the 
water table decreased by 21.50 ft and the recorded static water level is 77.10 ft 
below the pump discharge level. More recent pumping water levels were not 
available. 

 Recorded Specific Capacity – Pump test report dated 1961 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 67.80 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 1976, the specific 
capacity increased to 91.20 gpm/ft. No more recent test data was available. 

 Change in Specific Capacity – Between 1961 and 1976 data, specific capacity 
increased by 34.5%. Data shows a generally consistent increasing trend contrary to 
regional trends and typical well performance profiles over time.  

 Impact to Motor/Pump – This well is driven by a gas engine drive and no 
determination as to the drive ability to meet full capacity was made.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 39 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

6.3.7 Well No. 7 
Well No. 7 was constructed in 1956 with maximum pumping capacity of 675 gpm. 

 Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1961 shows a recorded static water 
level of 50.50 ft below the pump discharge level. In a 1997 pump test report the 
water table decreased by 42.50 ft and the recorded static water level is 93 ft below 
the pump discharge level.  

 Recorded Specific Capacity – Pump test report dated 1961 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 98.70 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 1997, the specific 
capacity increased to 115.90 gpm/ft.  

 Change in Specific Capacity – Between 1961 and 1976 data, specific capacity 
increased by 17.4%. Data shows a generally consistent increasing trend contrary to 
regional trends and typical well performance profiles over time.  

 Impact to Motor/Pump – According to pump test data recorded in 1961, total HP 
required to pump at 675 gpm well capacity is 49.02 HP. In 1997, the total HP 
increased to 56.04 HP. Assuming that Well No. 7 pump has a built in service factor 
of 5% to a service capacity of 52.5 HP, the Well No. 7 pump exceeds the name plate 
horsepower and service capacities as of 1997.  

6.3.8 Well No. 8 
Well No. 8 was constructed in 1977 with maximum pumping capacity of 1100 gpm. Well No. 8 is 
the District’s lead well and was recently upgraded to include a new VFD and electrical 
switchgear.  The existing motor was not replaced and may be at risk from heat buildup under 
the VFD operating conditions.  An enclosure and evaporative cooler has been added around the 
motor to address the heat buildup at this site. 

 Recorded Static Water Level – Measurements in 1980 documented a recorded static 
water level of 86.75 ft below the pump discharge level. In a pump test report dated 
2000, the water table decreased by 27.05 ft and the recorded static water level is 
113.80 ft below the pump discharge level.  

 Recorded Specific Capacity – Pump test report dated 1980 shows a recorded 
specific capacity of 39 gpm/ft. In pump test report dated 2000, the specific capacity 
decreased to 24.20 gpm/ft.  

 Change in Specific Capacity – Between 1980 and 2000 data, specific capacity 
decreased by 37.9%. Data shows a generally consistent declining trend. 

 Impact to Motor/Pump – According to pump test data recorded in 1980, total HP 
required to pump at 1100 gpm well capacity is 101 HP exceeding the pump rated 
capacity of 100 HP but within the motor service factor allowance for operation at up 
to 5% over the rated horsepower. Additional pump test data in 1998 indicated the 
motor drawing 115 HP and exceeding the motor service factor. The District has been 
operating an additional well to maintain Well No. 8 within acceptable operating 
ranges but a replacement with a larger motor may be required should the existing 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 40 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

motor fail. If the electrical service is upgraded this site should be considered for a 
125 HP motor. 

6.3.9 Groundwater Summary and Recommendations  

6.3.9.1 Data Availability 

Changes in specific capacity are not uniformly comparable for all eight wells due to sporadic 
data availability. Well Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, and 8 has data available from within the first 5 years of 
the well construction to District’s latest available test data in 2000. Pump test data for Well No. 5 
is unavailable for its first 5 years of operation.  

6.3.9.2 Summary  

Static water level decreased as observed on all well sites; however, changes in specific capacity 
for each well varies in trend. Well Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 8 exhibit more than 25% percent decrease in 
specific capacity, with Well No. 2 exhibits the highest decrease at 47%. Well Nos. 4, 5, 6, and 
7 exhibits more than 15% increase in specific capacity, with Well No. 5 exhibits the highest 
increase at 70%. 

Decreased static water level contributes to the total pumping head required for each well. Out of 
the eight (8) well motors, the following were observed:  

• Well motors for Well Nos. 1 – 7 were adequately sized to accommodate the well 
maximum pumping capacity as exhibited in each of the 7 wells’ earliest available pump 
test report.  

o Well Nos. 5 and 6 motors remained adequate to accommodate each well’s 
maximum pumping capacity.  

o Well Nos. 1 and 2 motors exceeded the rated motor capacity at maximum 
pumping, although it is still below the service capacity. 

o Well Nos. 3, 4, and 7 motors were no longer adequate to handle each well’s 
maximum pumping capacity.  

Well No. 8 was the latest well built within the District and remained as the District’s lead well to 
date. According to its earliest documented pump test report, required power to support 
maximum pumping is greater than the rated capacity of the well motor but is within the service 
factor. The latest pump test report shows Well No. 8 motor currently operating at a maximum 
pumping load on the motor that is exceeding both rated and service capacities.  

6.3.9.3 Recommendations 

The following recommendations are provided for operations/maintenance of the wells. 

1. The District has not performed a pump test report in the last eight (8) years. Considering 
the ages of the well facilities, a current pump test report should be performed for all eight 
(8) wells to correctly capture the current well conditions. SMUD no longer provides this 
service and the District will need to hire a contractor to conduct this testing. The testing 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 41 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

should document static water level, pumping water level, flow volume, power draw and 
include a calculation of efficiency and well yield specific capacity in gallons per minute 
per foot of drawdown. 

2. Well motor load at Well No. 8 exceeding the service factor could result in excessive 
motor heating and failure during peak usage periods. Calibrating the system wells to 
increase system pressure during peak periods will result in Well No. 8 operating within 
the normal power draw operating range.  

 Continue running an extra well to meet District’s daily water demand to keep Well 
No. 8 operating within acceptable motor loads.  

 Replace existing motor and install a larger motor. 

3. Well Nos. 3, 4, and 7 motors have reached the same condition with static water levels 
decreasing.  

 Monitor well motor load and output and track specific capacity against current 
measured well yield.  The current specific capacity of each well is presented 
below and is based on the most recent pump efficiency testing where static water 
level, well drawdown and pump discharge flow and pressure were measured. 

 

 
Well  
No. 1 

Well  
No. 2 

Well  
No. 3 

Well  
No. 4 

Well  
No. 5 

Well  
No. 6 

Well  
No. 7 

Well  
No. 8 

Baseline 
Specific 
Capacity 

60 60 40 60 65 68 100 40 

Units are in gallons per minute per foot of water level drawdown in the well and indicate well capacity. Higher 
numbers reflect higher capacity. 

Well cleaning and swabbing may be warranted if the structural condition of the well is suitable. 
An aquifer pump test is recommended following any well rehabilitation and should include the 
following steps: 

1. Allow well to recover for 24 hours minimum prior to starting test 

2. Measure static water level  

3. Pump well for 24 hours, measure pumping rate at start of test 

4. Measure well pumping rate at end of 24 hours 

5. Measure pumping water level at end of 24 hour test 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 42 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

6.4 Groundwater Well Replacement Program 
It is recommended that the District implement a program to replace its entire groundwater 
supply to continue to ensure a reliable drinking water supply. Construction of five (5) new wells 
at 1,500 gpm each will provide the District with 7,500 gpm of pumping capacity to meet system 
demands and fire flow. Select existing District wells could be placed in standby operation as 
redundant water supply sources. The remaining wells would be demolished in accordance with 
California Department of Water Resources standards.  

6.4.1 Replacement Groundwater Supply 
Due to the relatively high aquifer yield potential of a new well, it is expected that the District will 
be able to achieve a 1,500 gpm per well capacity. Through discussion with District staff, there 
are four (4) preliminary locations selected for future well sites as shown on Figure 6. A typical 
new well site layout is as shown on Figure 7.  

6.5 Pipeline Replacement Planning 
The District buried assets are also reaching the upper end of the typical lifecycle with the steel 
pipe in the northeastern District are most at risk of increasing failure. The balance of the District 
residential service area is asbestos cement (AC) pipe located in backyards. Although the 
backyard pipe is protected from traffic loads and other utility construction, AC is subject to 
damage and failure from tree root loading. Mature trees can either crush the pipe or pull it out of 
the ground if the tree falls over. Based on the existing age and condition it is reasonable to 
expect that the District will see increasing leaks and pipe failures over the next 15 years at 
which point significant replacement will need to be implemented. This forecast is consistent with 
the observations made by SSWD and one of the drivers behind their pipe replacement program. 

A second consideration as to when to begin the pipe replacement program is that the District 
system is comprised of a well looped 6-inch diameter network. This system includes multiple 
small water supply wells that are integrated in the distribution system made up of small pipe 
diameter networks. Increasing well capacity and planning for a possible surface water single 
point of entry to the system will required a larger backbone distribution system. A computerized 
hydraulic model was developed to test the proposed water system and wells for meeting peak 
demands and fire flow requirements.  The results of the hydraulic modeling are included in the 
appendix under separate cover. 

This larger diameter system is proposed as 8-inch and 12-inch pipelines forming a single main 
loop tying into the existing 6-inch system to maintain service through existing residential 
connections. This approach will allow for relocation over several years of the distribution system 
from the back lot to the front public right of way consistent with District policy for new pipelines. 
Ultimately, the water services will be converted from back lot to front yard and meters installed. 
As discussed later in this Master Plan, meter setters could be installed at the time the pipes are 
replaced and actual meters installed system wide at one time. Conversion to a metered rate 
would occur at one time for residential customers and delay the capital outlay for the meters. 

Meters are an additional driver as to timing for the pipeline replacement. Installation of meters in 
the backyards will require radio read meter or access by District staff to read the meters. The 
meters will ultimately end up in the front yards as the pipeline replacement is completed. We 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 43 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

have developed the replacement plan using the 2030 metering deadline as the completion date 
for full abandonment of back lot pipelines. This assumption provides a conservative approach to 
the planning impacts of both metering and pipeline replacement.  

6.6 Corporation Yard and Office Building 
The existing District office building and corporation yard is located on a residential lot on the 
east side of the District. The site also includes Well No. 6. Future District staffing and 
maintenance efforts for meters will require additional work space and a possible expansion of 
the District’s building. Unfortunately the existing site is too small to accommodate a new well, 
possible CWD joint conjunctive use pump station and the expanded Office and Corporation 
Yard.  

The District should monitor properties for sale and consider purchasing a new site for a joint use 
or single use facility. The options for joint use and single use facility are generally as follows: 

• New Office and Corporation Yard site with existing site used for replacement Well No. 6 
and CWD joint conjunctive use pump station. 

• New site for replacement Well No. 6 and CWD joint conjunctive use pump station and 
new site for Office and Corporation Yard. New Office/Corporation Yard site could also 
provide property for a replacement well. 

 







 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 46 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 7: Facilities Management Planning 

7.1 Introduction 
This section discusses the organization of the District, operation and maintenance 
responsibilities, and general practices of the District and provides a general management plan.  

7.2 District Organizational Structure 
Del Paso Manor Water District is a public agency governed by an elected five member Board of 
Directors. The Board is elected at large within the District service area. The District is a small 
water agency with a service area of approximately 1 square mile and under 3000 customers 
providing less than 3000 acre feet of water annually. As such the District does not meet the 
definition of an Urban Water Supplier under the California Water Code Section 10617, 
exempting it from many of the water resource management legislation of the State of California. 
The minimum agency size threshold helps to avoid placing a disproportionate cost for meeting 
planning, conservation and management activities on small agencies.  

The District performs four principle activities including management and administration; water 
production and testing; system maintenance; and conservation outreach. The District currently 
employs four (4) individuals. 

Figure 8 reflects the current Organization Chart. 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 47 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Figure 8: District Current Organizational Chart 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Office Administrator

Lori Hensley 

Conservation 
Outreach 

 

Field Manager 

Richard Bolton 

Water Production 
and Testing 

Laboratory Service 
Contract 

Mutual Aid Agreements 

Carmichael WD 

Sacramento Suburban WD 

Operation and 
Maintenance 
Technician 

Ken Ingle 

Well Service 
Contract 

Pipeline Repair 
Contract 

System Maintenance

Field Manager 

Richard Bolton 

 

Operation and 
Maintenance 
Technician 

Ken Ingle 

Mutual Aid Agreements 

Carmichael WD 

Sacramento Suburban WD 

Board of Directors 

Richard Allen 

John Downing 

Michael Clohossey 

Philip Ripplinger 

Roy Wilson 

General Manager 

Debra Sedwick 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 48 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

7.2.1 Management and Administration Activities 
The management and administration activities are provided by the General Manager and Office 
Administrator providing the labor effort needed to keep the District operating including customer 
service (billing and collection), processing accounts payable, District business accounting, 
Board support, administrative support, as well as answering the telephones, preparing and filing 
regulatory compliance reports and maintaining customer outreach. Project/staff management 
also participate and represent the District customer interests in regional planning through the 
Water Forum, Regional Water Authority, Sacramento Groundwater Authority, and Sacramento 
Area Water Works Association. The staff also maintains outreach and provides community 
service through activities with the Del Paso Manor Homeowners Association and San Juan 
School District.  

The key positions of the General Manager and Office Administrator are discussed below: 

 General Manager – This person is responsible for all aspects of the District operation 
and is the key liaison between the elected Board and the District staff. The General 
Manager is responsible for implementing Board actions and policies and for 
providing outreach to the community as a visible representative of the organization. 
The General Manager is responsible for the daily operational decisions and is 
responsible for regulatory compliance monitoring, capital projects management, 
labor negotiations, and maintaining the people and resources needed to continues 
providing safe and reliable services on a daily basis. The General Manager is 
responsible for development of the annual budget alternatives following the direction 
of the Board of Directors. 

 Office Administrator – This person is responsible for the administration of District 
accounts, payroll and purchasing processing and acts as the primary customer 
service representative. In addition, supports all the activities of the General Manager 
and employees of the District including, support of Administrative activities, 
document reproduction, emergency dispatch, and public outreach. 

7.2.2 Water Production and Testing 
The water production and testing staff provides for the groundwater pumping and testing of the 
District’s water supply. District facilities include all District wells, well pumps and system interties 
with Sacramento Suburban Water District. State Certification as a Water Distribution Operator, 
Water Treatment Operator, and specialized training is required for the lead responsibilities of 
these activities for the District. 

The existing District staff positions conducting these activities are as follows: 

 Field Manager – This person is responsible for maintaining adequate water pressure 
in the system under all demand conditions and monitoring and maintaining water 
quality and testing demonstrating compliance with the Drinking Water Standards. 
This person is responsible for maintaining the mechanical aspects of equipment 
ranging from small chemical feed pumps through multiphase variable frequency drive 
pumps providing thousands of gallons per minute of supply. This person maintains 
District production and operations reports and plans and schedules maintenance 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 49 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

activities. This person is also responsible for emergency response planning and 
coordination of those activities needed to maintain a safe and reliable water supply. 

 Operations and Maintenance Field Technician – This person supports all activities of 
the Field Manager and must be familiar with all production facilities, operation 
practices and procedures.  

These people are responsible for preventative maintenance for all mechanical, electrical, 
chemical feed and control systems within the District. They also conduct the distribution system-
flushing program, valve exercising, system monitoring and compliance with the California 
Department of Public Health (CDPH) water quality testing programs under the District Water 
Supply Permit.  

The staff activities support the following four areas: maintenance, water quality, chemicals, and 
control. 

Maintenance 
Maintenance includes the electrical and electrical control system, chemical storage and 
feed equipment, and mechanical equipment, such as pump maintenance. 

Electrical and electrical control system maintenance includes cleaning contacts; 
tightening connections; measuring voltage and amperage loads; and replacing starters, 
relays, circuit breakers and fuses. 

Chemical feed equipment maintenance includes cleaning the pump Internals and 
solution lines; replacing diaphragms; and checking valves, chemical solution lines and 
injection point devices. 

Mechanical equipment maintenance includes oil and filter changes; charging system 
check and replacement; efficiencies testing; bearing replacement; cleaning of Y strainers 
and diaphragms; and speed, travel and pressure adjustment for control valves. 

Water Quality 
Water quality is broken out into the following sub-categories: Distribution water quality 
testing, groundwater testing, flushing program, and water quality calls. 

 Distribution water quality testing includes sampling at the wells and within the system 
for chlorine residual, coliform bacteria and periodic sampling for lead and copper at 
various locations in the District. 

 Groundwater testing includes sampling for constituents and contaminants such as 
VOC, IOC, Gross Alpha, SOC, Gen. Mineral, Physical, Nitrate, Nitrite, Phase 2/5, 
Perchlorate, and MTBE, as well as other regulated and unregulated parameters 
required by law and as directed by CDPH. 

 Flushing program includes flushing dead-end mains to reduce sedimentation and 
taste and odor complaints. This effort includes valve exercising and inspection as 
opportunities allow. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 50 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

 Water quality calls – includes investigating water quality issues reported by 
customers. 

Chemicals 
Activities include ordering, receiving, loading and delivery of sodium hypochlorite to all 
sites; operation of feed systems; testing, training and emergency response planning. 

Control System and Testing 
The water system has a single chart recorder that monitors water pressure. The recorder 
is manually read. System alarms and automated emergency contact and reporting are 
not currently part of the District capabilities. 

7.2.3 System Maintenance  
The activities for system maintenance include all buried infrastructure providing transmission 
and distribution for delivery of water throughout the District. These activities include the 
inspection of all new construction, replacement and repair of water mains, fire hydrants, water 
services, meters, and valves. In addition, these people are responsible for inspection of all 
potential cross-connections and to administer the corrections on those cross-connections. 

This activity includes responding to Underground Service Alerts calls for locating the buried 
water facilities, and maintaining the District water system maps. 

The System Maintenance activities the following key Roles: 

 Field Manager – This person is responsible for assignments of resources, project 
scheduling, training, inventory, equipment fleet and maintaining the corporation yard. 
This person is also responsible for the District record drawing files, contractor 
submittal review and comments, construction inspection support, and inspection 
records. In addition, this position coordinates plan checking, fire flow analysis 
requests and responds to requests for information by developers regarding the 
District facilities and physical connection requirements. 

 Operations and Maintenance Field Technician – This person supports the activities 
of the Field Manager. 

7.2.4 Conservation Outreach 
The District maintains a part-time water conservation outreach person who travels the District 
during high water use periods contacting customers where water waste appears to be occurring. 
This person is responsible for informing the customer of the importance of avoiding water waste, 
of District water conservation policies currently in force and consequences for continued water 
waste. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 51 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

7.3 Future Water District Organizational Structure and 
Management Plan 

The District staffing provides for assignment of multiple activities to the four full-time employees 
and one part-time employee for conservation outreach duties. This approach has worked well 
for several years and will continue to work well; however, the following changes will impact the 
District staffing: 

• District will be undertaking an increased Planned System Maintenance program for 
system wide replacement of the aging infrastructure resulting in a need for additional 
resources. This effort could result in an additional workload as follows: 

o 2010 – 2014: Up to 1/8 time senior manager requirement for managing PSM 
Program development, funding investigations, Proposition 218 rate 
considerations, and managing project design, bidding, construction, and startup.  

o 2014 to 2018: Up to 1/2 time senior manager requirement for managing PSM 
Program development, funding investigations, 218 rate considerations, and 
managing project design, bidding, construction, and startup. 

o 2018 to 2022 up to 1/2 time senior manager requirement for managing PSM 
Program development, funding investigations, Proposition 218 rate 
considerations, and managing project design, bidding, construction, and startup. 

o 2022 to 2026 up to 3/4 time senior manager requirement for managing PSM 
Program development, funding investigations, Proposition 218 rate 
considerations, and managing project design, bidding, construction, and startup. 

o 2026 to 2030 up to 1/8 time senior manager requirement for managing PSM 
Program development, funding investigations, Proposition 218 rate 
considerations, and managing project design, bidding, construction, and startup. 

• Modernization to add computerized Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) 
would not require additional manpower but would require training for the Water 
Production Field Position in the system operation and in operator control programming. 
No additional staff recommended however a training budget should be considered. 

• Changes in State laws may reach to the small water system providers and require 
additional labor effort for the following items:  

o Water Conservation BMPs – The District is not required based on its size to 
under take many of the BMPs. However, if a voluntary implementation of some or 
all of the BMPs is undertaken, there will need to be additional staffing. It is 
recommended that a 1/8 to 1/4 time person could manage this activity. 

o Certifications – Additional training and maintenance of Distribution Certifications 
need to be tracked and maintained. No additional staff is recommend, however a 
training budget should be considered. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 52 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

o Chemical Feed System – Fluoridation may become a requirement should the 
District choose to practice Conjunctive Use. Subsequently, there will be 
additional operation and maintenance work load related with the fluoridation 
program. This work will require daily inspection and maintenance at each well 
adding up to 2 hours per week per site. This could result in between 1/4 and 1/2 
time additional field staff. 

o Changing Groundwater Quality – If the groundwater quality declines and 
treatment is required, the District will need to add a Grade 2 Water Treatment 
Plant Operator. It is recommended for this scenario that the District considers 
adding a new position and separating production from distribution field work.  

o Meter Reading, Calibration, Maintenance, and Monthly Commodity Billing – This 
will result in a 1/2 time person associated with the meters and a part-time office 
administrator assistant to process monthly billing using the meter data.   Use of 
auto/reading meters may reduce the meter reading work load, however a 
minimum number of re-reads, manual reads, and field checks are typically 
required as part of the normal billing quality control and in response to customer 
inquiries.  

These changes may result in some reorganization and the need for additional staffing as 
reflected in the possible future organization chart shown in Figure 9 and Figure 10. Figure 9 
reflects adding resources with no change to the existing organizational structure. Figure 10 
reflects a revised structure adding and Assistant General Manager and maintaining the existing 
structure below the new manager role. 



 

 

G:\AdminAsst\Jobs\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor WD_Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-
Reports\Master Plan\20090724\DPM OrgChart Figure9.doc 

Figure 9:  Proposed District Organizational Chart – Approach 1 
 

 

 

Office AdministratorConservation  Field Manager and 
Distribution 

Operator 

Water Production 
and Testing 

Laboratory Service 
Contract  

Mutual Aid Agreements 

Carmichael WD 

Sacramento Suburban WD 

Operation and Maintenance Technicians 

(Meter Readings & Maintenance) 

Well Service 
Contract 

Pipeline Repair 
Contract 

System Maintenance 
and PSM Projects 

Senior Manager and 
Field Manager 

 

Mutual Aid Agreements 

Carmichael WD 

Sacramento Suburban WD 

Board of Directors 

General Manager 

BMP Program 

Part Time Outreach 

Part Time 
Office Assistant 



 

G:\AdminAsst\Jobs\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor WD_Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-
Reports\Master Plan\20090724\DPM OrgChart Figure10.doc 

Figure 10: Proposed District Organizational Chart – Approach 2 
 

 

 

Office AdministratorConservation  

Field Manager and Distribution Operator 

 

Water Production 
and Testing 

Laboratory Service 
Contract  

Mutual Aid Agreements 

Carmichael WD 

Sacramento Suburban WD 

Operation and Maintenance Technicians 

(Meter Readings & Maintenance) 

Well Service 
Contract 

Pipeline Repair 
Contract 

System Maintenance 
and PSM Projects 

Mutual Aid Agreements 

Carmichael WD 

Sacramento Suburban WD 

Board of Directors 

General Manager 

BMP Program 

Part Time Outreach 

Part Time 
Office Assistant 

Assistant  

General Manager 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 55 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 8: Meter Retrofit Planning 

8.1 Introduction and Background 
This Water Conservation and Meter Retrofit Plan reviews existing Del Paso Manor Water 
District (District) commitments for metering the District water system and frames the existing 
ongoing changes is local and state programs to encourage and enforce metering and billing 
using a metered rate.  

The Metering Plan Technical Memorandum includes review of the following documents and are 
provided in Appendix 2: 

• Assembly Bill No. 2572 Water Meters; Water Code Section 10617; Draft Water Forum 
Agreement – Water Conservation Element, 14 May 2009 

• Del Paso Manor Water District (DPMWD) Water Forum Agreement and DPMWD Water 
Conservation Plan, January 2000 Appendix J 

• Memorandum of Understanding Regarding Urban Water Conservation in California, 
California Urban Water Conservation Council, 10 December 2008 

• California Urban Water Conservation Council – Best Management Practices (BMPs), 
10 December 2008 

• California Urban Water Conservation Council – BMP Cost-Effectiveness Workshop, 
June 2009 

• Assembly Bill No. 1420 (AB 1420) Water Demand Management Measures: Water 
Management Grant or Loan Funds; AB 1420 Frequently Asked Questions; AB 1420 
Self-Certification Statement Forms; Public Workshop Notes, AB 1420 
Compliance/Eligibility Requirements, June 2009 

The District is a signatory to the Water Forum Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), a 
member of the Regional Water Authority and participating in ongoing discussions with the Water 
Forum regarding updating the January 2000 MOU. This effort is part of an ongoing commitment 
to responsible management of the District and regional solutions to water supply planning.  

 

 

 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 56 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

8.2 Water Metering Commitments 
Presented below is a summary of existing water metering commitments, current draft updated 
commitments and current state laws relating to water metering. 

Existing Water Forum Best Management Practice 4 (BMP 4) Residential Meter 
Retrofit 

The District Water Forum Purveyor Specific Water Conservation Plan (Appendix B) Best 
Management Practice 4 (BMP 4) Residential Meter Retrofit provides for the following 
commitment. 

“It is recognized that Del Paso Manor Water District is a relatively smaller water 
purveyor currently relying totally on groundwater and will not realize immediate water 
supply benefits from participating in the Water Forum Agreement. Therefore until such 
time as Del Paso Manor Water District needs discretionary approvals for new or 
expanded surface water supplies, an active voluntary meter retrofit with incentives is 
acceptable. Nothing in the Water Forum Agreement prevents purveyors from deciding 
to undertake a more rapid meter retrofit program. 

“At such time as Del Paso Manor Water District needs discretionary approvals for new 
or expanded surface water supplies it agrees to annually retrofit at least 3.3% - 5% of 
the total number of unmetered residential connections and read and bill as set for the 
in Appendix D of the Water Forum Agreement.  

“If in the future Del Paso Manor Water District receives benefits from another 
agency’s conjunctive use program, it agrees to discuss its meter retrofit program with 
the Water Forum Successor Effort.” 

The District has 1692 (1611 single family and 81 duplex housing) services that are 
unmetered. The existing commitment is to install 56 to 85 meters per year as part of 
pursuing a discretionary approval for new or expanded surface water supplies. It is 
reasonable to assume that this commitment will be triggered by the following surface 
water supplies actions if undertaken by the District: 

• Proceeding with City of Sacramento surface water deliveries whether directly, 
or through Sacramento Suburban Water District. 

• Proceeding with a Point of Diversion effort for City of Sacramento surface 
water to be treated and wheeled through Carmichael Water District. 

• Proceeding with a joint District and Carmichael Water District conjunctive use 
project for beneficial use of the remediated groundwater discharging at the 
Bajamont Water Treatment Plant. 

The annual cost of installing 85 residential meters in 2009 construction dollars is 
approximately $100,000. This assumes retrofit to the existing pipelines using a service 
tap, corporation stop, 1-inch copper service, curb stop, meter box, meter, customer 
service shutoff valve and limited customer service retrofit. The District would be fully 
metered by 2030 if it proceeded at a rate of 5% (85) meters per year starting in 2010. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 57 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Assembly Bill 2572 and Water Forum Successor Effort 

AB 2572 established requirements for Urban Water Suppliers to be fully metered by the 
year 2025 and begin billing all metered services within one seasonal year of having 
installed a water meter. An Urban Water Supplier under the California Water Code 
Section 10617 is any supplier serving more than 3,000 customers, or supplying more 
than 3,000 acre-feet per year of water. The District does not fall under the definition of 
an Urban Water Supplier and is therefore AB 2572 does not pertain to the District.  

The Water Forum successor effort is negotiating an update Water Conservation Element 
and released a draft Water Conservation Element 14 May 2009 (Appendix A) that 
includes that same working as the original agreement (see above) for the District 
commitment to 3.3% - 5% triggered by the need for discretionary approvals for new of 
expanded surface water. 

Assembly Bill 1420, California Urban Water Conservation Council Best 
Management Practices 

The Water Forum draft update process is embracing the California Urban Water 
Conservation Council (CUWCC) Memorandum of Understanding (Appendix C) and the 
10 December 2008 Best Management Practices while maintaining flexibility for 
unmetered members such as the District. Specifically, there is a Pre-Determined 
Deferral for Meter-Based BMPs that accepts the January 2000 Appendix J (Appendix B) 
schedule. As stated above, Water Forum Appendix J does not require the District to 
meter until a discretionary surface water approval is needed. 

The CUWCC MOU provides advantages to local larger water purveyors in preparing 
Urban Water Management Plans. The District does not exceed the minimum size 
threshold requiring an Urban Water Management Plan. Although alignment with the 
CUWCC approach and goals are recommended, the District should refrain from 
committing to accelerating meter installation until the distribution system replacement 
approach and timing is fully determined. 

AB 1420 further tightens water conservation accountability to state grant and bond 
funding opportunities for Urban Water Suppliers. AB 1420 does not appear to change 
the California Water Code Section 10617 definition of an Urban Water Supplier and 
therefore the District does not meet the minimum size threshold to require compliance 
with AB 1420. This is important because AB 1420 ties back to the CUWCC BMPs and 
metering. 

At this time, based on the evaluation above, it appears that the District is under no obligation to 
proceed with installation of water meters until such time as a surface water need is acted upon. 
The District Master Plan is providing recommendations on system-wide pipeline replacement 
from the back lot line to the street and metering the system in a phased approach at that time. 
This approach is discussed further in the following sections, but, appears consistent with 
existing meter installation obligation commitments. 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 58 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

8.3 Current Meter Retrofit Status 
The District is partially metered with 95 metered accounts as show in Table 13. There are six (6) 
accounts that are non-residential that are currently on a flat rate as shown in Table 14 and are 
assumed to not be metered. There are also four (4) stand-by fire protection accounts that are 
not metered and are billed at as-needed basis. No residential water meters have been installed 
in the District. 

Table 13: Water Meter Accounts Summary 

Type No. of Accounts 

Multi-Family  11 

Commercial  64 

Institutional  5 

Irrigation 15 

TOTAL 95 

 
 
 

Table 14: Commercial Flat Rate Accounts 

Account No. Customer Service Size 

50004 Eastern Mini Market 1” 

50005 SI Investment Trust 8” FP, (5) 1”, 2” 

50038 Phuong Ngo 5/8” 

50055 Sam Co Systems 1”, 6” FP 

50070 Ben Davis Enterprises 1½” 

50112 Eastern Manor Care Home 1”, 4” FP 

 

8.4 Meter Installation Options 
The District has adopted a policy to proceed with relocation of the water mains from the 
backyards to the street frontage at such time as the pipelines have reached the end of their 
useful life. Concurrent with the need to address the aging pipelines is the desire to proceed with 
installing water meters. The Master Plan provides a Planned System Maintenance program for 
both replacing the pipes, retrofitting water services during pipe replacements, and installing 
meters.  

The District has expressed targeting a 2025 completion year for all meter installation. The 
District can choose from the following installation approaches:  

1. Annual meter installation of approximately 113 meters per year starting in 2010. This 
would result in installing meters to existing backyard services and the later relocation of 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 59 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

meters with the planned pipeline system replacement. The estimated annual cost would 
be approximately $135,000. Under this option the meters would be installed as the work 
proceeded and there would be a phased conversion from flat rate to a metered rate on 
an annual schedule. 

2. Installation of meters concurrent with the Planned System Maintenance pipeline 
replacement projects starting in 2010 and continuing through 2025. Installation of meter 
setters would proceed concurrently with pipe replacement and all meters are installed in 
2025. Meters would be installed at one time and the entire District residential customer 
group converted to a metered rate at one time. The cost of metering will be reduced from 
approximately $1,200 per meter installation to approximately $700 per installation. This 
represents a savings of 47% or $1,200,000 over preceding with the installation of meters 
annually and in backyards. 

8.5 Findings and Recommendations 
The findings of this review are that the District has the option to postpone installing meters until 
such time as the law changes or there is a need for surface water use within the District. The 
District would face an annual cost of approximately $100,000 for installing 5% (85) of the total 
unmetered per year at that time and this would require 20 years to complete should a surface 
water use be needed. 

The District could proceed with installation of meters in advance of the pipeline at a cost of 
approximately $135,000 per year and be complete by 2025. This approach would require 
relocating meters to the front yards when the pipelines are relocated from the backyard 
easements to the public right of way.  

The District could proceed with installing meters as they replace the pipelines at a cost savings 
of approximately 47% or $1,200,000 over the life of the projects. 

It is recommended that the District proceed with the concurrent pipeline and meter 
replacement/retrofit program. Installation of meters as an annual element of the pipeline 
replacement plan could be reconsidered as the pipeline projects are completed. 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 60 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Section 9: Planned System Maintenance  

9.1 Introduction 
Kennedy/Jenks has discussed with the District a Facilities Replacement Plan, which includes 
the evaluation of District water demands and condition assessment of production and 
distribution facilities. The District currently practices a sufficient day-to-day maintenance 
practices. Assets are identified as generally in a good working condition but are currently at or 
exceeding their useful lives. It is reasonably assumed that replacements of production and 
distribution facilities are necessary by the end of 2030. The system-wide District assets 
replacements will be executed as Planned System Maintenance (PSM) projects. The PSM 
projects will be executed through five (5) phases of four (4) year durations.  

In addition to production and distribution facilities, the District acknowledged the necessity to 
modernize the District facilities to bring the District to a standard industry practices, this includes 
work associated with upgrading electrical facilities at all existing production facilities, installation 
of computerized supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) system, and building new 
District office and corporation yard. The PSM will also include efforts to meet all residential 
meters installation by 2025.  

Elements of the PSM can be categorized into the following:  

1. Production facilities 

2. Buried infrastructures  

3. Modernization of operation and maintenance 

4. Programmatic element, i.e. metering.  

9.2 Planning and Phasing Recommendations 
Scope of PSM projects outlined in this section reflects revisions made according to inputs and 
discussions with District staff. Work associated in the PSM planning for each phase is generally 
grouped into two different types of efforts:  

1. Baseline efforts are triggered by aging production facilities. Systematically, existing 
production facilities will be abandoned and replaced along associated installation of a 
typically 12” diameter backbone piping that connects through the District’s quadrants. 
Priorities are placed first on hydraulically critical regions of the District and age second.  

2. Optional efforts address the District’s goal to achieve full residential meter installation by 
2025. The distribution facilities replacement includes mainly pipelines with diameters 
smaller than 12”.  

The PSM Summary and Phasing are as presented in the following subsections:  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 61 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

9.2.1 Summary of PSM  
An approach for planning a PSM project is shown in Table 15 below. Conditions for each 
individual project will most likely varying, however, it is recommended for the District to research 
or complete the following activities in the process of decision making.  

Table 15: Typical Construction Projects Preparation 

Year Activities 

1 Planning, Right of Way, Funding, Preliminary Design 

2 Funding, CEQA, Design  

3 Funding, Bidding, Construction 

4 Construction, Facilities Start-Up 

 

Summary of cost with related phases and components for the PSM project is provided with 
description of work for each phase as shown in Table 16 and Table 17.  



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 62 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table 16: Planned System Maintenance Project Description 

Project Description of Work 

1A Demolish (E) Well No. 5; Construct (N) Well No. 5. 

1B Electrical upgrade for Well Nos. 1–8; Demolish (E) Well No. 7. 

1C Install (N) 2,610 LF of 12” pipelines and appurtenances; Retrofit 
46 water service connections to front yards and install meter setters.

1D Intertie with Carmichael Water District: (N) 3,000 LF of 12” intertie 
pipelines and appurtenances, meter station, and booster pump 
station. 

2A Demolish (E) Well No. 1; Construct (N) Well No. 1 and new pump 
station building; Demolish (E) Well No. 6. 

2B Construct/Purchase (N) 3,600 SF District Office. 

2C Install (N) 5,200 LF of 12” pipeline and appurtenances; Retrofit 
96 water service connections to front yards and install meter setters.

2D Install (N) 900 LF of 12” pipeline, (N) 17,230 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 
300 LF of 6” pipelines and appurtenances; Retrofit 341 water service 
connections to front yards and install meter setters. 

3A Construct (N) Well No. 6.  

3B Install (N) 4,900 LF of 12” pipeline and appurtenances; Retrofit 
84 water service connections to front yards and install meter setters.

3C Install (N) 14,040 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 1350 LF of 6” pipelines and 
appurtenances; Retrofit 262 water service connections to front yards 
and install meter setters. 

4A Demolish (E) Well No. 2; Demolish (E) Well No. 3; Demolish (E) 
Well No. 4; Construct (N) Well near Country Club Plaza area.  

4B Install (N) 6,880 LF of 12” pipeline, (N) 35,500 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 
1,550 LF of 6” pipelines and appurtenances; Retrofit 407 water 
service connections to front yards and install meter setters.  

4C Install (N) 4,500 LF of 12” pipeline, (N) 20,000 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 
100 LF of 6” pipelines and appurtenances; Retrofit 381 water service 
connections to front yards and install meter setters; Retrofit existing 
75 water service at front yards and install meter setters.  

4D Install 1,692 water meters. 

5A Demolish (E) Well No. 8; Construct (N) Well at an undetermined site 

5B Install (N) 4,500 LF of 12” pipelines and appurtenances.  

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 63 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

Table 17: Planned System Maintenance Summary of Cost by Phase 

Phase Period Project 
Baseline / 
Optional  Wells  Pipelines 

Pipelines 
(Meter 

Installation)  Facilities 
Conjunctive 

Use  Total Cost 

1 1A Baseline $1,617,000 - - - - $1,617,000 

  1B Baseline $451,000 - - - - $451,000 

  1C Baseline - $453,000 - - - $453,000 

  

2010-
2014 

1D Baseline - - - - $831,000 $831,000 

2 2A Baseline $1,925,000 - - - - $1,925,000 

  2B Baseline - - - $1,700,000 - $1,700,000 

  2C Baseline - $956,000 - - - $956,000 

  

2014-
2018 

2D Optional  - - $1,147,000 - - $1,147,000 

3 3A Baseline $1,562,000 - - - - $1,562,000 

  3B Baseline - $878,000 - - - $878,000 

  

2018-
2022 

3C Optional  - - $2,185,000 - - $2,185,000 

4 4A Baseline $1,756,000 - - - - $1,756,000 

  4B Baseline - $5,154,000 - - - $5,154,000 

  4C Optional  - - $3,401,000 - - $3,401,000 

  

2022-
2026 

4D Optional  - - $1,880,000 - - $1,880,000 

5 5A Baseline $1,744,000 - - - - $1,744,000 

  

2026-
2030 5B Optional  - $617,000 - - - $617,000 

 



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 64 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

9.2.2 PSM Phase 1: 2010-2014 
Phase 1 is scheduled for 2010 – 2014. The District has expressed the need for addressing 
priority improvements on facilities that requires immediate attention. In this case, replacement of 
Well No. 5 and electrical facilities upgrade for Well Nos. 1 – 8. District’s Well No. 5 operation 
has reprioritized to be called last due in the well operation lineup. A downhole well video 
inspection was performed in February 2009 validates that Well No. 5 replacement is imminent. 
The well feeds AT&T demands, the District’s single largest commercial user. Electrical facilities 
upgrade for Well Nos. 1 – 8 are necessary to bring the facilities to current industry and safety 
standards. Backbone pipeline installed in association with new Well No. 5 hydraulically connects 
north westerly portion of the District with the north easterly portion of the District. An intertie with 
Carmichael Water District is included in this Phase to address the implementation of 
Conjunctive Use as discussed in Section 5 of this Master Plan. The work for PSM Phase 1 is as 
shown on Figure 11. Discussion and summary of cost for PSM Phase 1 is included in 
Section 9.3.  

Recommended baseline work includes the following:  

Production Facilities 

1. Demolish (E) Well No. 5 

2. Construct (N) Well No. 5 

3. Upgrade electrical facilities Well Nos. 1–8 

4. SCADA installation 

5. Demolish (E) Well No. 7 

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 2,610 LF of 12” pipeline and appurtenances 

2. Retrofit 46 water service connections to front yard and install meter setters 

Conjunctive Use 

1. Intertie with Carmichael Water District: Install (N) 3,000 LF of 12” pipeline and 
appurtenances, meter station, and booster pump station  

 



BASELINE, NEW BASELINE, DEMO OPTIONAL

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT

SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA

MASTER PLAN

WATER SYSTEM PSM 2010-2014

K/J 0870017.00

APRIL 2009

FIGURE 11

Kennedy/Jenks Consultants

(N) WELL 1

(N) WELL 2

(N) WELL 3

(N) WELL 3

(N) WELL 4



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 66 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

9.2.3 PSM Phase 2: 2014-2018 
Phase 2 is scheduled for 2014-2018. The District’s Well No. 1 is the District’s oldest lead well. 
The District’s Well No. 6 is the only natural gas fueled engine located inside a vault to the rear 
of District office building. Demolition of Well No. 6 will concurrently take place with moving the 
District office to a new location. Extension of the backbone pipeline installed in association with 
new Well No. 1 hydraulically connects north easterly portion of the District with the south 
easterly portion of the District. The optional efforts related to installation of new distribution 
facilities begin to take place on this phase. The work for PSM Phase 2 is as shown on 
Figure 12. Discussion and summary of cost for PSM Phase 2 is included in Section 9.3.  

Recommended baseline work includes the following:  

Production Facilities 

1. Demolish (E) Well No. 1  

2. Construct (N) Well No. 1 

3. Demolish (E) Well No. 6 

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 5,200 LF of 12” pipeline and appurtenances 

2. Retrofit 96 water service connections to front yards 

3. Construct/Purchase (N) 3,600 SF District Office 

Recommended optional work, driven by meter installation includes the following:  

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 900 LF of 12” pipeline, (N) 17,230 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 300 LF of 6” pipelines 
and appurtenances  

2. Retrofit 341 water service connections to front yards 

 



BASELINE, NEW BASELINE, DEMO OPTIONAL

(N) WELL 1
(N) WELL 2

(N) WELL 3

(N) WELL 4

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT

SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA

MASTER PLAN

WATER SYSTEM PSM 2014-2018

K/J 0870017.00

APRIL 2009

FIGURE 12

Kennedy/Jenks Consultants



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 68 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

9.2.4 PSM Phase 3: 2018-2022 
Phase 3 is scheduled for 2018-2022. The production facilities replacement continues with 
construction of new Well No. 6. The extension of the backbone pipeline installed in association 
with new Well No. 6 hydraulically connects south easterly portion of the District with the south 
westerly portion of the District. The work for PSM Phase 3 is as shown on Figure 13. Discussion 
and summary of cost for PSM Phase 3 is included in Section 9.3.  

Recommended baseline work includes the following:  

Production Facilities 

1. Construct (N) Well No. 6 

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 4,900 LF of 12” pipeline and appurtenances 

2. Retrofit 84 water service connections to front yards 

Recommended optional work, driven by meter installation includes the following:  

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 14,040 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 1350 LF of 6” pipelines and appurtenances  

2. Retrofit 262 water service connections to front yards 

 



BASELINE, NEW BASELINE, DEMO OPTIONAL

(N) WELL 1
(N) WELL 2

(N) WELL 3

(N) WELL 4

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT

SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA

MASTER PLAN

WATER SYSTEM PSM 2018-2022

K/J 0870017.00

APRIL 2009

FIGURE 13

Kennedy/Jenks Consultants



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 70 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

9.2.5 PSM Phase 4: 2022-2026 
Phase 4 is scheduled for 2022-2026. The production facilities replacement continues with 
demolition of Well Nos. 2, 3, and 4 and construction of a new well at a site near the Country 
Club commercial area. The extension of the backbone pipeline installed in association with the 
new well hydraulically connects south westerly portion of the District with the north westerly 
portion of the District. Non backbone pipelines are included in the baseline to help meeting 
deadline for meter installation. Work for PSM Phase 4 is as shown on Figure 14. Discussion and 
summary of cost for PSM Phase 4 is included in Section 9.3.  

Recommended baseline work includes the following:  

Production Facilities 

1. Demolish (E) Well No. 2 

2. Demolish (E) Well No. 3 

3. Demolish (E) Well No. 4 

4. Construct (N) Well at Country Club site 

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 6,880 LF of 12” pipeline, (N) 35,500 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 1,550 LF of 6” 
pipelines and appurtenances 

2. Retrofit 407 water service connections to front yards 

Recommended optional work, driven by meter installation includes the following:  

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 4,500 LF of 12” pipeline, (N) 20,000 LF of 8” pipeline, (N) 100 LF of 6” 
pipelines and appurtenances 

2. Retrofit 381 water service connections to front yards 

3. Retrofit existing 75 water service at front yards 

4. Install 1692 water meters 

 



BASELINE, NEW BASELINE, DEMO OPTIONAL

(N) WELL 1
(N) WELL 2

(N) WELL 3

(N) WELL 4

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT

SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA

MASTER PLAN

WATER SYSTEM PSM 2022-2026

K/J 0870017.00

APRIL 2009

FIGURE 14

Kennedy/Jenks Consultants



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 72 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

9.2.6 PSM Phase 5: 2026-2030 
Phase 5 is scheduled for 2026-2030. The production facilities replacement finishes with 
demolition of Well 8 and construction of a new well at a site that is not yet determined. At this 
time, all the backbone pipeline has been installed to accommodate full capacity of the District’s 
new wells. A distribution facility replacement for a segment in the commercial area is included 
as optional work. The work for PSM Phase 5 is as shown on Figure 15. Discussion and 
summary of cost for PSM Phase 5 is included in Section 9.3.  

Recommended baseline work includes the following:  

Production Facilities 

1. Demolish (E) Well 8  

2. Construct (N) Well at a site to be determined  

Recommended optional work includes the following:  

Distribution Facilities 

1. Install (N) 4,500 LF of 12” pipelines and appurtenances 
 



BASELINE, NEW BASELINE, DEMO OPTIONAL

(N) WELL 1
(N) WELL 2

(N) WELL 3

(N) WELL 4

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT

SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA

MASTER PLAN

WATER SYSTEM PSM 2026-2030

K/J 0870017.00

APRIL 2009

FIGURE 15

Kennedy/Jenks Consultants



 

Del Paso Manor Water District Master Plan Page 74 
g:\adminasst\jobs\2008\0870017.00_del paso manor wd_master plan\09-reports\9.09-reports\master plan\20090724\finalmasterplan_w-logo.doc 

9.3 Cost Estimate 
The cost estimates were prepared using prior construction bids, current materials pricing, 
estimating guides, and engineering judgment. The costs are opinion of probable cost and reflect 
a conceptual level of accuracy. The estimates include a 25 percent contingency for unforeseen 
conditions, a 10 percent cost for engineering, administrative, and legal costs, a 1 percent cost 
for environmental review. In this case, it is assumed that District’s Planned System Maintenance 
projects qualify for CEQA Categorical Exemption. Opinions of cost are in current 2009 dollars 
and are based on Engineering News Records for West Coast Cities - San Francisco Index of 
9757.  

The estimated new well construction costs include new well drilling and associated 
improvements, such as site work, mechanical, electrical and instrumentation. The estimated 
new pipeline cost is per lineal foot of trench installed. The appurtenances include blow-off 
assembly, fire hydrants, connection to existing distribution system, and abandonment of existing 
pipeline.  Land costs for new wells are included at an estimated $250,000 per site and may vary 
based on actual sites. 

Total cost for PSM Phases 1 – 5 in current 2009 is approximately $28.3 M. The Cost Summary 
is shown by phase, schedule, and baseline and optional costs. Optional costs reflect costs of 
distribution pipelines that are driven by District wide completion of service retrofits and meter 
setters installation for all residential meters installed by 2025. Cost estimate is prepared to 
reflect options of completing meter installation as an optional effort in phase 4 (2022-2026). The 
breakdown of cost estimate by individual projects is also included as example of potential 
staging completion of each PSM phase.  

A cost impact calculation was prepared assuming a 4 ½ percent interest rate over 30 years 
allocated by estimated water use.  The estimate provides a monthly residential service cost 
associated with each PSM phase. 



PSM Phase Scheduled Baseline Optional Total 

1  2010 - 2014 $4,393,400 $0 $4,393,400

2 2014 - 2018 $4,928,200 $1,147,000 $6,075,200

3 2018 - 2022 $2,439,400 $2,184,800 $4,624,200

4 2022 - 2026 $6,910,100 $5,628,300 $12,538,400

5 2026 - 2030 $1,744,300 $617,400 $2,361,700

Estimated Cost 29,992,900$           

Rounded to: 29,993,000.00$   

Del Paso Manor Water District 

Planned System Maintenace

Cost Summary

2010-2030

Meter Installation by 2025



Phase 1- Summary
2010-2014

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS

Demolish (E) Well 5 1 LS 50,000.00$            50,000.00$            

Construct (N) Well 5 1 LS 1,100,000.00$        1,100,000.00$        

(N) Block Wall 140 LF 104.00$                  14,560.00$             

Well Electrical Upgrade/SCADA 1 LS 250,000.00$           250,000.00$           

Demolish (E) Well 7 1 LS 75,000.00$             75,000.00$             

PIPELINES

12" Piping 2610 LF 87.22$                    227,640.00$           

8" Piping LF -$                        -$                        

6" Piping LF -$                        -$                        

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 20,000.00$            20,000.00$            

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 46 EA 1,700.00$              78,200.00$            

Service Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$              -$                       

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

CONJUNCTIVE USE

Carmichael WD Intertie

Pipeline and System Intertie 1 EA 360,624.00$           360,624.00$           

Booster Pump Station 1 EA 237,600.00$           237,600.00$           

Additional Environmental 1 LS 250,000.00$           250,000.00$           

Land/Right of Way

Well 5 1 LS 250,000.00$           250,000.00$           

CWD Intertie 1 LS 250,000.00$           250,000.00$           

Subtotal 3,163,624.00$        

Contingencies 25% 790,906.00$           

Subtotal 3,954,530.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 395,453.00$           

Subtotal 4,349,983.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 43,499.83$             

Estimated Cost 4,393,482.83$        

Rounded to: 4,393,400.00$     

Economic Impacts

Outlay 2014 4,393,400.00$        

Annual Cost  Factor 30 years @ 4.5%    ( 0.0614 ) 269,754.76$           

Cost per Acre Foot Water/Year 160.57$                  

Cost per Single Family ResidentialMonth 7.28$                      

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 1
2010-2014

Project 1A

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS

Demolish (E) Well 5 1 LS 50,000.00$            50,000.00$            

Construct (N) Well 5 1 LS 1,100,000.00$        1,100,000.00$        

(N) Block Wall 140 LF 104.00$                  14,560.00$             

Subtotal 1,164,560.00$        

Contingencies 25% 291,140.00$           

Subtotal 1,455,700.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 145,570.00$           

Subtotal 1,601,270.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 16,012.70$             

Estimated Cost 1,617,282.70$        

Rounded to: 1,617,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 1
2010-2014

Project 1B

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS

Well Electrical Upgrade/SCADA 1 LS 250,000.00$           250,000.00$           

Demolish (E) Well 7 1 LS 75,000.00$             75,000.00$             

Subtotal 325,000.00$           

Contingencies 25% 81,250.00$             

Subtotal 406,250.00$           

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 40,625.00$             

Subtotal 446,875.00$           

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 4,468.75$               

Estimated Cost 451,343.75$           

Rounded to: 451,000.00$        

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 1
2010-2014

Project 1C

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

PIPELINES

12" Piping 2610 LF 87.22$                    227,640.00$           

8" Piping LF -$                        -$                        

6" Piping LF -$                        -$                        

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 20,000.00$            20,000.00$            

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 46 EA 1,700.00$              78,200.00$            

Service Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$              -$                       

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

Subtotal 325,840.00$           

Contingencies 25% 81,460.00$             

Subtotal 407,300.00$           

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 40,730.00$             

Subtotal 448,030.00$           

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 4,480.30$               

Estimated Cost 452,510.30$           

Rounded to: 453,000.00$        

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 1
2010-2014

Project 1D

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

CONJUNCTIVE USE

Carmichael WD Intertie

Pipeline and System Intertie 1 EA 360,624.00$           360,624.00$           

Booster Pump Station 1 EA 237,600.00$           237,600.00$           

Additional Environmental 1 LS 250,000.00$           250,000.00$           

Subtotal 848,224.00$           

Contingencies 25% 212,056.00$           

Subtotal 1,060,280.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 106,028.00$           

Subtotal 1,166,308.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 11,663.08$             

Estimated Cost 1,177,971.08$        

Rounded to: 1,178,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 2 - Summary
2014-2018

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS 

Demolish (E) Well 1 1 LS 90,000.00$           90,000.00$            

Construct (N) Well 1 1 LS 1,100,000.00$      1,100,000.00$       

(N) Pump Station Building 1 LS 106,000.00$          106,000.00$          

Demolish (E) Well 6 1 LS 90,000.00$           90,000.00$            

PIPELINES

12" Piping 5200 LF 87.46$                   454,800.00$          

8" Piping LF -$                       -$                       

6" Piping LF -$                       -$                       

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 70,350.83$           70,350.83$            

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 96 EA 1,700.00$             163,482.01$          

Service Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$             -$                      

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                 -$                       

NEW DISTRICT OFFICE 

Building Acquisition 3600 SF 250.00$                 900,000.00$          

Tenant Improvement 3600 SF 90.00$                   324,000.00$          

Land/Right of Way

Well 1 1 LS 250,000.00$          250,000.00$          

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES

12" Piping 900 LF 88.00$                   79,200.00$            

8" Piping 17230 LF 57.90$                   57.90$                   

6" Piping 300 LF 46.00$                   46.00$                   

Appurtenances 1 LS 167,249.17$          167,249.17$          

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 341 EA 1,700.00$             579,417.99$          

Service Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$              -$                       

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                 -$                       

Subtotal 4,374,603.90$       

Contingencies 25% 1,093,650.98$       

Subtotal 5,468,254.88$       

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 546,825.49$          

Subtotal 6,015,080.37$       

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 60,150.80$            

Estimated Cost 6,075,231.17$       

Rounded to: 6,075,200.00$     

Economic Impacts

Outlay 2014 6,075,200.00$       

Annual Cost  Factor 30 years @ 4.5%    ( 0.0614 ) 373,017.28$          

Cost per Acre Foot Water/Year 222.03$                 

Cost per Single Family ResidentialMonth 10.07$                   

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 2

2014-2018

Project 2A

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS 

Demolish (E) Well 1 1 LS 90,000.00$             90,000.00$             

Construct (N) Well 1 1 LS 1,100,000.00$        1,100,000.00$        

(N) Pump Station Building 1 LS 106,000.00$           106,000.00$           

Demolish (E) Well 6 1 LS 90,000.00$             90,000.00$             

Subtotal 1,386,000.00$        

Contingencies 25% 346,500.00$           

Subtotal 1,732,500.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 173,250.00$           

Subtotal 1,905,750.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 19,057.50$             

Estimated Cost 1,924,807.50$        

Rounded to: 1,925,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 2
2014-2018

Project 2B

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

NEW DISTRICT OFFICE 

Building Acquisition 3600 SF 250.00$                  900,000.00$           

Tenant Improvement 3600 SF 90.00$                    324,000.00$           

Subtotal 1,224,000.00$        

Contingencies 25% 306,000.00$           

Subtotal 1,530,000.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 153,000.00$           

Subtotal 1,683,000.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 16,830.00$             

Estimated Cost 1,699,830.00$        

Rounded to: 1,700,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 2
2014-2018

Project 2C

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

PIPELINES

12" Piping 5200 LF 87.46$                    454,800.00$           

8" Piping LF -$                        -$                        

6" Piping LF -$                        -$                        

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 70,350.83$             70,350.83$             

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 96 EA 1,700.00$               163,482.01$           

Service Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

Subtotal 688,632.84$           

Contingencies 25% 172,158.21$           

Subtotal 860,791.05$           

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 86,079.10$             

Subtotal 946,870.15$           

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 9,468.70$               

Estimated Cost 956,338.86$           

Rounded to: 956,000.00$        

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 2
2014-2018

Project 2D

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES

12" Piping 900 LF 88.00$                    79,200.00$             

8" Piping 17230 LF 57.90$                    57.90$                    

6" Piping 300 LF 46.00$                    46.00$                    

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 167,249.17$           167,249.17$           

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 341 EA 1,700.00$               579,417.99$           

Service Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

Subtotal 825,971.06$           

Contingencies 25% 206,492.77$           

Subtotal 1,032,463.83$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 103,246.38$           

Subtotal 1,135,710.21$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 11,357.10$             

Estimated Cost 1,147,067.32$        

Rounded to: 1,147,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 3 - Summary
2018-2022

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS 

Construct (N) Well 6 1 LS 1,100,000.00$        1,100,000.00$        

(N) Block Wall 140 LF 104.00$                  14,560.00$             

Landscape 1 LS 10,000.00$             10,000.00$             

PIPELINES

12" Piping 4900 LF 85.96$                    421,200.00$           

8" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

6" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 68,763.43$             68,763.43$             

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 84 EA 1,700.00$               142,049.29$           

Services Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES

12" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

8" Piping 14040 LF 57.88$                    812,640.00$           

6" Piping 1350 LF 43.33$                    58,500.00$             

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 125,636.57$           125,636.57$           

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

AC Pipe Removal 1300 LF 34.00$                    44,200.00$             

Trenchless Installation 1300 LF 66.25$                    86,125.00$             

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 262 EA 1,700.00$               446,150.71$           

Services Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

Subtotal 3,329,825.00$        

Contingencies 25% 832,456.25$           

Subtotal 4,162,281.25$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 416,228.13$           

Subtotal 4,578,509.38$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 45,785.09$             

Estimated Cost 4,624,294.47$        

Rounded to: 4,624,200.00$     

Economic Impacts

Outlay 2014 4,624,200.00$        

Annual Cost  Factor 30 years @ 4.5%    ( 0.0614 ) 283,925.88$           

Cost per Acre Foot Water/Year 169.00$                  

Cost per Single Family ResidentialMonth 7.66$                      

Planned System Maintenance
Del Paso Manor Water District 

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 3
2018-2022

Project 3A

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS 

Construct (N) Well 6 1 LS 1,100,000.00$        1,100,000.00$        

(N) Block Wall 140 LF 104.00$                  14,560.00$             

Landscape 1 LS 10,000.00$             10,000.00$             

Subtotal 1,124,560.00$        

Contingencies 25% 281,140.00$           

Subtotal 1,405,700.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 140,570.00$           

Subtotal 1,546,270.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 15,462.70$             

Estimated Cost 1,561,732.70$        

Rounded to: 1,562,000.00$     

Planned System Maintenance
Del Paso Manor Water District 

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 3
2018-2022

Project 3B

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

PIPELINES

12" Piping 4900 LF 85.96$                    421,200.00$           

8" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

6" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 68,763.43$             68,763.43$             

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 84 EA 1,700.00$               142,049.29$           

Services Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

Subtotal 632,012.72$           

Contingencies 25% 158,003.18$           

Subtotal 790,015.89$           

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 79,001.59$             

Subtotal 869,017.48$           

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 8,690.17$               

Estimated Cost 877,707.66$           

Rounded to: 878,000.00$        

Planned System Maintenance
Del Paso Manor Water District 

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 3
2018-2022

Project 3C

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES

12" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

8" Piping 14040 LF 57.88$                    812,640.00$           

6" Piping 1350 LF 43.33$                    58,500.00$             

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 125,636.57$           125,636.57$           

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

AC Pipe Removal 1300 LF 34.00$                    44,200.00$             

Trenchless Installation 1300 LF 66.25$                    86,125.00$             

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 262.441597 EA 1,700.00$               446,150.71$           

Services Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

Subtotal 1,573,252.28$        

Contingencies 25% 393,313.07$           

Subtotal 1,966,565.36$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 196,656.54$           

Subtotal 2,163,221.89$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 21,632.22$             

Estimated Cost 2,184,854.11$        

Rounded to: 2,185,000.00$     

Planned System Maintenance
Del Paso Manor Water District 

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 4 - Summary
2022-2026

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS

Demolish/Abandon (E) Well 2 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

Demolish/Abandon (E) Well 3 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

Demolish/Abandon (E) Well 4 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

Construct (N)  Well near Country Club 1 LS 1,100,000.00$        1,100,000.00$        

(N) Block Wall 140 LF 104.00$                  14,560.00$             

PIPELINES 

12" Piping 6880 LF 86.44$                    594,720.00$           

8" Piping 35500 LF 56.81$                    2,016,800.00$        

6" Piping 1550 LF 43.55$                    67,500.00$            

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 340,310.17$          340,310.17$           

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES 

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 407 EA 1,700.00$               691,900.00$           

Services Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES 

12" Piping 4500 LF 87.20$                    392,400.00$           

8" Piping 20000 LF 56.96$                    1,139,200.00$        

6" Piping 100 LF 48.00$                    4,800.00$               

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 175,089.83$          175,089.83$           

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES 

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 381 EA 1,700.00$               647,700.00$           

Services Existing Front Yard 75 EA 1,200.00$               90,000.00$             

Meters 1692 EA 800.00$                  1,353,600.00$        

Land/Right of Way

Well 4 1 LS 250,000.00$           250,000.00$           

Subtotal 9,028,580.00$        

Contingencies 25% 2,257,145.00$        

Subtotal 11,285,725.00$      

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 1,128,572.50$        

Subtotal 12,414,297.50$      

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 124,142.98$           

Estimated Cost 12,538,440.48$      

Rounded to: 12,538,400.00$   

Economic Impacts

Outlay 2014 12,538,400.00$      

Annual Cost  Factor 30 years @ 4.5%    ( 0.0614 ) 769,857.76$           

Cost per Acre Foot Water/Year 458.25$                  

Cost per Single Family ResidentialMonth 20.77$                    

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 4
2022-2026

Project 4A

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS

Demolish/Abandon (E) Well 2 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

Demolish/Abandon (E) Well 3 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

Demolish/Abandon (E) Well 4 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

Construct (N)  Well near Country Club 1 LS 1,100,000.00$        1,100,000.00$        

(N) Block Wall 140 LF 104.00$                  14,560.00$             

Subtotal 1,264,560.00$        

Contingencies 25% 316,140.00$           

Subtotal 1,580,700.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 158,070.00$           

Subtotal 1,738,770.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 17,387.70$             

Estimated Cost 1,756,157.70$        

Rounded to: 1,756,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 4
2022-2026

Project 4B

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

12" Piping 6880 LF 86.44$                    594,720.00$           

8" Piping 35500 LF 56.81$                    2,016,800.00$        

6" Piping 1550 LF 43.55$                    67,500.00$             

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 340,310.17$           340,310.17$           

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES 

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 407 EA 1,700.00$               691,900.00$           

Services Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

Subtotal 3,711,230.17$        

Contingencies 25% 927,807.54$           

Subtotal 4,639,037.71$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 463,903.77$           

Subtotal 5,102,941.48$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 51,029.41$             

Estimated Cost 5,153,970.90$        

Rounded to: 5,154,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 4
2022-2026

Project 4C

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES 

12" Piping 4500 LF 87.20$                    392,400.00$           

8" Piping 20000 LF 56.96$                    1,139,200.00$        

6" Piping 100 LF 48.00$                    4,800.00$               

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 175,089.83$           175,089.83$           

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES 

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 381 EA 1,700.00$               647,700.00$           

Services Existing Front Yard 75 EA 1,200.00$               90,000.00$             

Subtotal 2,449,189.83$        

Contingencies 25% 612,297.46$           

Subtotal 3,061,487.29$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 306,148.73$           

Subtotal 3,367,636.02$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 33,676.36$             

Estimated Cost 3,401,312.38$        

Rounded to: 3,401,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 4
2022-2026

Project 4D

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

SERVICES 

Meters 1692 EA 800.00$                  1,353,600.00$        

Subtotal 1,353,600.00$        

Contingencies 25% 338,400.00$           

Subtotal 1,692,000.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 169,200.00$           

Subtotal 1,861,200.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 18,612.00$             

Estimated Cost 1,879,812.00$        

Rounded to: 1,880,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 5 Summary
2026-2030

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS

Demolish (E) Well 8 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

(N) Well at an undetermined site 1 LS 1,100,000.00$       1,100,000.00$        

(N) Pump Station Building 1 LS 106,000.00$           106,000.00$           

PIPELINES

12" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

8" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

6" Piping 0 LF -$                        -$                        

Appurtenances 
a|

0 LS -$                        -$                       

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

SERVICES

Service Retrofit to Front Yard 0 EA 1,700.00$              -$                       

Service Existing Front Yard 0 EA 1,200.00$               -$                        

Meters 0 EA 800.00$                  -$                        

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES 

12" Piping 4500 LF 84.00$                    378,000.00$           

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 66,600.00$            66,600.00$            

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

Subtotal 1,700,600.00$        

Contingencies 25% 425,150.00$           

Subtotal 2,125,750.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 212,575.00$           

Subtotal 2,338,325.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 23,383.25$             

Estimated Cost 2,361,708.25$        

Rounded to: 2,361,700.00$     

Economic Impacts

Outlay 2014 2,361,700.00$        

Annual Cost  Factor 30 years @ 4.5%      ( 0.0614 ) 145,008.38$           

Cost per Acre Foot Water/Year 86.31$                    

Cost per Single Family ResidentialMonth 3.91$                      

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 5
2026-2030

Project 5A

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

BASELINE EFFORT

WELLS

Demolish (E) Well 8 1 LS 50,000.00$             50,000.00$             

(N) Well at an undetermined site 1 LS 1,100,000.00$       1,100,000.00$        

(N) Pump Station Building 1 LS 106,000.00$           106,000.00$           

Subtotal 1,256,000.00$        

Contingencies 25% 314,000.00$           

Subtotal 1,570,000.00$        

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 157,000.00$           

Subtotal 1,727,000.00$        

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 17,270.00$             

Estimated Cost 1,744,270.00$        

Rounded to: 1,744,000.00$     

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Phase 5
2026-2030

Project 5B

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extension

METER INSTALLATION EFFORT

PIPELINES 

12" Piping 4500 LF 84.00$                    378,000.00$           

Appurtenances 
a|

1 LS 66,600.00$            66,600.00$            

a| Appurtenances include valves, fire hydrants, blow off assemblies and fittings

Subtotal 444,600.00$           

Contingencies 25% 111,150.00$           

Subtotal 555,750.00$           

Engineering, Admin, and Legal 10% 55,575.00$             

Subtotal 611,325.00$           

Environmental (Categorical Exemption) 1% 6,113.25$               

Estimated Cost 617,438.25$           

Rounded to: 617,000.00$        

Del Paso Manor Water District 
Planned System Maintenance

Project Element

J:\2008\0870017.00_Del Paso Manor Master Plan\09-Reports\9.09-Reports\DPMWD PSM Cost Est_for Draft Master Plan_0629.xls



Senate Bill No. 552 

CHAPTER 245 

 

 
An act to add Part 2.56 (commencing with Section 10609.50) to Division 6 of the Water Code, 

relating to water. 
 

 

[ Approved by Governor  September 23, 2021. Filed with Secretary 
of State  September 23, 2021. ] 

 

 

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST 

 
SB 552, Hertzberg. Drought planning: small water suppliers: nontransient 

noncommunity water systems. 

Existing law declares that small water suppliers and rural communities are often not 

covered by established water shortage requirements, and that the state should provide 
guidance to improve drought planning for small water suppliers and rural communities. 

Existing law required the Department of Water Resources, in consultation with the State 

Water Resources Control Board and other relevant state and local agencies and 
stakeholders, to use available data to identify, no later than January 1, 2020, small 

water suppliers and rural communities that may be at risk of drought and water 

shortage vulnerability. To implement this directive, the department formed a 
stakeholder advisory group, the County Drought Advisory Group. Existing law required 

the department, in consultation with the state board, to propose to the Governor and 

the Legislature, by January 1, 2020, recommendations and guidance relating to the 
development and implementation of countywide drought and water shortage 

contingency plans to address the planning needs of small water suppliers and rural 

communities, as provided. 

This bill would require small water suppliers, as defined, serving 1,000 to 2,999 service 

connections, inclusive, and nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools, 
no later than July 1, 2023, to develop and maintain an abridged Water Shortage 

Contingency Plan that includes specified drought-planning elements. The bill would 

require a small water supplier serving fewer than 1,000 service connections to add 
drought planning elements to its emergency notification or response plan and submit 

the plan to the state board. The bill would require these water systems to report 

annually specified water supply condition information to the state board through the 
state board’s Electronic Annual Reporting System or other reporting tool, as directed by 

the state board. The bill would require small water suppliers and nontransient 

noncommunity water systems that are schools to implement, subject to funding 
availability, specified drought resiliency measures, including, among others, having at 

least one backup source of water supply and metering each service connection. The bill 

would exempt from these provisions small water suppliers, or small water suppliers 
integrated into larger water systems, that voluntarily choose to instead comply with 

specified existing law relating to urban water management plans. 



This bill would require a county to establish a standing county drought and water 
shortage task force to facilitate drought and water shortage preparedness for state 

small water systems and domestic wells within the county’s jurisdiction, as provided. 

The bill would authorize a county, in lieu of establishing a standing task force, to 
establish an alternative process that facilitates drought and water shortage 

preparedness for state small water systems and domestic wells within the county’s 

jurisdiction, as provided. The bill would provide that a county that establishes a drought 
task force on or before January 1, 2022, shall be deemed in compliance with these 

requirements as long as the task force continues to exist. The bill would require a 

county to develop a plan that includes potential drought and water shortage risk and 

proposed interim and long-term solutions, as provided. Because the bill would impose 

additional duties on counties, the bill would impose a state-mandated local program. 

This bill would require the department to take specified actions to support 

implementation of the recommendations from the County Drought Advisory Group. The 

bill would require the department to establish a standing interagency drought and water 
shortage task force to, among other things, facilitate proactive planning and 

coordination, both for predrought planning and post drought emergency response, 

which shall consist of various representatives, including representatives from local 
governments. Because the bill would impose additional duties on local governments, 

the bill would impose a state-mandated local program. 

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school 

districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish 

procedures for making that reimbursement. 

This bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that the 

bill contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement for those costs shall be made 

pursuant to the statutory provisions noted above. 

Digest Key 

Vote: majority   Appropriation: no   Fiscal Committee: yes   Local Program: yes   

 

Bill Text 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO 
ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. 

 Part 2.56 (commencing with Section 10609.50) is added to Division 6 of the Water 

Code, to read: 

PART 2.56. Drought Planning for Small Water Suppliers, State Small 

Water Systems, and Domestic Well Communities 

CHAPTER  1. General Provisions 



10609.50. 

 The Legislature finds and declares all of the following: 

(a) Droughts are predicted to become more frequent, longer, and more severe as 

climate change progresses, putting drinking water supplies at risk of running dry or 

becoming contaminated. 

(b) As demonstrated by the most recent drought from 2012 to 2016, inclusive, (2012–
16 drought) drought conditions disproportionally impact low-income, small, and rural 

communities, as demonstrated by all of the following: 

(1) (A) Rural communities are more likely to rely solely on groundwater from small 

water suppliers or domestic wells. 

(B) Domestic wells tend to be shallower and are susceptible to running dry when 

groundwater is over pumped. 

(2) (A) The 2012–16 drought negatively impacted over 480,000 people relying on 

drought-impacted public water systems. 

(B) Seventy-six percent of impacted public water systems were small, serving 1,000 

service connections or fewer and concentrated in the southern San Joaquin Valley. 

(c) There are currently varying levels of water contingency planning and coverage 

across counties for small water suppliers and self-supplied communities, leaving 
hundreds of thousands of people at risk of going without water to meet their basic 

household and drinking water needs during the next drought. 

(d) If another drought occurs that is as severe as the 2012–16 drought, more than 

4,500 domestic wells in the San Joaquin Valley may be impacted. The cost to mitigate 

this damage could be more than one hundred fifteen million dollars ($115,000,000). 

(e) No one should go without running water during a drought. California can take basic 

steps to implement more proactive drought planning that would benefit the 

communities most at risk, and by doing so help prevent catastrophic impacts on 

drinking water for the communities most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. 

10609.51. 

 For purposes of this part, the following definitions apply: 

(a) “Community water system” has the same meaning as defined in Section 116275 of 

the Health and Safety Code. 

(b) “County Drought Advisory Group” means the group created by the department to 

implement Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 10609.40) of Part 2.55. 

(c) “Department” means the Department of Water Resources. 

(d) “Domestic well” has the same meaning as defined in Section 116681 of the Health 

and Safety Code. 

(e) “Fund expenditure plan” means the fund expenditure plan established in Section 

116768 of the Health and Safety Code. 



(f) “Groundwater sustainability agency” has the same meaning as defined in Section 

10721. 

(g) “Nontransient noncommunity water system” has the same meaning as defined in 

Section 116275 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(h) “Public water system” has the same meaning as defined in Section 116275 of the 

Health and Safety Code. 

(i) “Risk vulnerability tool” means the tool created by the department to implement 

Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 10609.40) of Part 2.55. 

(j) “Rural community” means a community with fewer than 15 service connections, or 

regularly serving less than 25 individuals daily at least 60 days out of the year. 

(k) “Small water supplier” means a community water system serving 15 to 2,999 

service connections, inclusive, and that provides less than 3,000 acre-feet of water 

annually. 

(l) “State board” means the State Water Resources Control Board. 

(m) “State small water system” has the same meaning as defined in Section 116275 of 

the Health and Safety Code. 

CHAPTER  2. Small Water Suppliers and Nontransient Noncommunity 

Water Systems 

10609.60. 

 (a) No later than July 1, 2023, and updated every five years thereafter, a small water 

supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and a nontransient 
noncommunity water system that is a school shall each develop and maintain, onsite, 

an abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSCP) that includes, at a minimum, all 

of the following drought-planning elements: 

(1) Drought-planning contacts, including all of the following: 

(A) At least one contact at the water system for water shortage planning and response 

and the development of the plan. 

(B) Contacts for local public safety partners and potential vendors that can provide 

repairs or alternative water sources, including, but not limited to, local community-

based organizations that work with the population in and around areas served by the 
water system, contractors for drilling wells, vended water suppliers, and emergency 

shower vendors. 

(C) State and local agency contacts who should be informed when a drought or water 

shortage emergency is emerging or has occurred. 

(D) Regional water planning groups or mutual aid networks, to the extent they exist. 

(2) Triggering mechanisms and levels for action, including both of the following: 

(A) Standard water shortage levels corresponding to progressive ranges based on the 

water supply conditions. Water shortage levels shall also apply to catastrophic 



interruption of water supplies, including, but not limited to, a regional power outage, an 

earthquake, a fire, and other potential emergency events. 

(B) Water shortage mitigation, response, customer communications, enforcement, and 

relief actions that align with the water shortage levels required by subparagraph (A). 

(b) A small water supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and a 

nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school shall each make the abridged 
Water Shortage Contingency Plan available on their individual internet websites, if any. 

A small water supplier serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, or a 

nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school that does not have an 
internet website shall make the abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan available to 

persons upon request. The abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan shall be provided 

to the state board’s Division of Drinking Water for inspection upon demand. 

(c) A small water supplier serving fewer than 1,000 service connections shall add 

drought planning elements, including, but not limited to, those listed in paragraph (1) 
of subdivision (a) and subparagraph (A) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), to its 

emergency notification or response plan and submit the plan to the state board. The 

plan shall be updated every five years, or when significant changes occur. 

(d) No later than December 31, 2022, the department and the state board shall create 
an abridged Water Shortage Contingency Plan template for small water suppliers 

serving 1,000 to 2,999 service connections, inclusive, and nontransient noncommunity 

water systems that are schools to facilitate implementation of this section. 

(e) To the extent that funding is made available, the state board shall offer technical 
assistance to small water suppliers serving fewer than 1,000 service connections and 

nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools to improve drought and 

water shortage resiliency, including requirements related to the emergency notification 

or response plan. 

10609.61. 

 A small water supplier and a nontransient noncommunity water system that is a school 

shall each report annually water supply condition information to the state board 

through the state board’s Electronic Annual Reporting (eAR) System or other reporting 
tool, as directed by the state board. Water supply condition information includes, but is 

not limited to, both of the following: 

(a) An inventory and assessment of each water supply source, including its available 

status and if any further investments or treatment are required for its utilization, any 

lead time required for its utilization, and its delivery parameters such as flow rate and 

total volume available. 

(b) The reporting year’s total water demand volume for each month, and average and 

peak flowrate demand for each month and annually. 

 

 

 



10609.62. 

 Small water suppliers and nontransient noncommunity water systems that are schools 

shall implement, subject to funding availability, all of the following drought resiliency 

measures: 

(a) No later than January 1, 2023, implement monitoring systems sufficient to detect 

production well groundwater levels. 

(b) Beginning no later than January 1, 2023, maintain membership in the California 

Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network (CalWARN) or similar mutual aid 

organization. 

(c) No later than January 1, 2024, to ensure continuous operations during power 

failures, provide adequate backup electrical supply. 

(d) No later than January 1, 2027, have at least one backup source of water supply, or 
a water system intertie, that meets current water quality requirements and is sufficient 

to meet average daily demand. 

(e) No later than January 1, 2032, meter each service connection and monitor for water 

loss due to leakages. 

(f) No later than January 1, 2032, have source system capacity, treatment system 

capacity if necessary, and distribution system capacity to meet fire flow requirements. 

10609.63. 

 This chapter does not apply to small water suppliers, or small water suppliers 

integrated into larger water systems, that voluntarily choose to instead comply with 

Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 10620) of Part 2.6. 

CHAPTER  3. State Small Water Systems Serving 5 to 14 Service 

Connections, Inclusive, and Domestic Wells 

10609.70. 

 (a) (1) A county shall establish a standing county drought and water shortage task 

force to facilitate drought and water shortage preparedness for state small water 

systems and domestic wells within the county’s jurisdiction, and shall invite 
representatives from the state and other local governments, including groundwater 

sustainability agencies, and community-based organizations, local water suppliers, and 

local residents, to participate in the task force. 

(2) In lieu of the task force required by paragraph (1), a county may establish an 
alternative process that facilitates drought and water shortage preparedness for state 

small water systems and domestic wells within the county’s jurisdiction. The alternative 

process shall provide opportunities for coordinating and communicating with the state 

and other local governments, community-based organizations, local water suppliers, 
and local residents on a regular basis and during drought or water shortage 

emergencies. 



(3) A county that establishes a drought task force on or before January 1, 2022, shall 
be deemed in compliance with this subdivision as long as the task force continues to 

exist. 

(b) A county shall develop a plan that includes potential drought and water shortage 

risk and proposed interim and long-term solutions for state small water systems and 
domestic wells within the county’s jurisdiction. The plan may be a stand-alone 

document or may be included as an element in an existing county plan, such as a local 

hazard mitigation plan, emergency operations plan, climate action plan, or general 
plan. A county shall consult with its drought task force or alternative coordinating 

process as established by this section in developing its plan. A county shall consider, at 

a minimum, all of the following in its plan: 

(1) Consolidations for existing water systems and domestic wells. 

(2) Domestic well drinking water mitigation programs. 

(3) Provision of emergency and interim drinking water solutions. 

(4) An analysis of the steps necessary to implement the plan. 

(5) An analysis of local, state, and federal funding sources available to implement the 

plan. 

(c) The state board shall work with counties, groundwater sustainability agencies, 
technical assistance providers, nonprofit organizations, community-based organizations, 

and the public to address state small water system and domestic well community 

drought and emergency water shortage resiliency needs, including both of the 

following: 

(1) Proactive communication to domestic well communities before a drought occurs, 

such as information on local bottled water and water tank providers. 

(2) Funding for installation of basic drought and emergency water shortage resiliency 

infrastructure, such as well monitoring devices. 

CHAPTER  4. State Agency Implementation 

10609.80. 

 (a) The department shall take both of the following actions to support implementation 

of the recommendations of its County Drought Advisory Group: 

(1) Maintain, in partnership with the state board and other relevant state agencies, the 

risk vulnerability tool developed as part of the County Drought Advisory Group process 

and continue to refine existing data and gather new data for the tool, including, but not 

limited to, data on all of the following: 

(A) Small water suppliers and nontransient noncommunity water systems serving a 

school. 

(B) State small water systems and rural communities. 

(C) Domestic wells and other self-supplied residents. 



(2) Update the risk vulnerability tool for small water suppliers and rural communities 

periodically, by doing all of the following: 

(A) Revise the indicators and construction of the scoring as more data becomes readily 

available. 

(B) Make existing and new data publicly available on the California Open Data internet 

web portal. 

(C) In consultation with other relevant state agencies, identify deficits in data quality 

and availability and develop recommendations to address these gaps. 

(b) (1) The department, in collaboration with the state board and relevant state 

agencies, shall establish a standing interagency drought and water shortage task force 

to facilitate proactive state planning and coordination, both for predrought planning and 

postdrought emergency response, to develop strategies to enhance collaboration 

between various fields, and to consider all types of water users. 

(2) The interagency drought and water shortage task force shall include representatives 

from local governments, community-based organizations, nonprofit technical assistance 

providers, the public, and experts in land use planning, water resiliency, and water 

infrastructure. 

SEC. 2. 

 If the Commission on State Mandates determines that this act contains costs mandated 
by the state, reimbursement to local agencies and school districts for those costs shall 

be made pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division 4 of Title 2 of 

the Government Code. 

 



 

 

 

ITEM #8.F 

Board Approval for Two Directors to Attend the California Water Rights 

and Regulations Webinar Hosted By Halfmoon Education 



DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT 

BOARD MEETING 

DATE:  October 02, 2023 AGENDA ITEM NO.  8.F 
 

 

SUBJECT: Board Approval for Two Directors to Attend the California Water Rights and 

Regulations Webinar Hosted By Halfmoon Education 
 

 

STAFF CONTACT: 

Adam Coyan, General Manager 

BACKGROUND: 

 

HalfMoon Education Inc. is offering a live webinar on October 25, 2023 from 7:30am to 4:00pm 

about California Water Rights and Regulations and two of DPMWD directors would like to 

attend. 

 

According to Board policy number 3125 (Training, Education and Conferences) encourages 

Members of the Board of Directors to attend educational conferences, seminars, trainings, and 

professional meetings when the purpose of any such activity is to improve District operation. 

Directors shall not attend conference or training events at District expense when it is apparent 

that there is no significant benefit to the District. 

 

Policy 3125.2.2 requires all seminars, workshops, courses, professional organization meetings, 

and conferences to be approved by the Board of Directors prior to the District incurring any 

reimbursable costs. 

 

The cost for the webinar is $319 for an individual and $289 for two or more registrants from the 

same company to attend. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve/authorize Director Matteoli & Director Pratt attending the California Water Rights and 

Regulations webinar offered by HalfMoon Education Inc. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Webinar Brochure 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT: 

This item is not a project under Section 21065 of the California Public Resources Code, as it 

could not have any direct or indirect impact on the environment. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

The financial impact for the District will be the cost referenced above for attending the webinar. 



H
al

fM
oo

n 
Ed

uc
at

io
n 

In
c.

PO
 B

ox
 2

78
Al

to
on

a,
 W

I 5
47

20
-0

27
8

N
O

N
-P

RO
FI

T 
U

.S
. P

O
ST

AG
E 

PA
ID

 
EA

U
 C

LA
IR

E,
 W

I 
PE

RM
IT

 N
O

. 2
01

6

Ca
lif

or
ni

a 
W

at
er

  
Ri

gh
ts

 a
nd

 R
eg

ul
at

io
ns

Li
ve

, I
nt

er
ac

tiv
e 

W
eb

in
ar

 - 
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

, O
ct

ob
er

 2
5,

 2
02

3

Live, Interactive Webinar - Wednesday, October 25, 2023

Understand the basic 
principles of groundwater and 
surface water ownership in 
California

Discuss water rights 
compliance and regulatory 
due diligence

Attorneys
7.0 MCLE Hours  
(Including 1.0 Ethics Hour) 

Floodplain Managers  
7.0 ASFPM CECs 

Certified Planners 
CM|7 

Engineers 
7.0-Hour  
Learning Opportunity

You’ll be able to:
Explore the interaction of public waters, private water rights  
and the doctrine of prior appropriation in California.

Conduct water right due diligence and comply with  
regulatory processes.

Manage finite water resources and plan for climate resilience.

Explore the Lower Basin Plan for the Colorado River System.

Discuss Sackett II and other issues involving the Clean Water Act.

Explore water ethics in state and federal matters.

California Water Rights  
and Regulations

Manage finite water resources 
and competing uses

Explore developments in the 
management of the Colorado 
River System

Discuss recent issues 
regarding the Clean Water Act

Continuing Education Credits                                                                         

Understanding California Surface Water    J. Buckman 
and Groundwater Rights     H. Jacobson

Ownership of California surface and groundwater
Public waters, private rights and prior appropriation
Regulation of surface water rights
Obtaining surface water rights
Application and permitting process
Amending surface water rights
Current issues in surface water rights
Regulation of groundwater rights
Obtaining groundwater rights
Current issues in groundwater rights

Water Right Due Diligence and Regulatory Compliance  T. Hicks
Ground-truthing individual water rights and differentiating  
  “paper water” with “wet water”
Substantiating historical diversion and/or pumping rates and determining reasonable  
  and beneficial consumptive use on an acre-foot basis by crop type and geography
Evaluating on-site use of pesticides, fertilizers, or other chemicals that trigger state  
  or federal water quality standards
Regulatory jurisdictions and related permits and annual filings for the SWRCB,  
  RWQCB, CDFW, and/or other county agencies
Title and other real property due diligence
Water transfers and the “No Injury Rule”
Working with experts  

Managing Finite Water Resources    K. Peer
Historic usage and current trends
Maintaining water quality and quantity
State and regional water quality regulation
Regional water management and planning
Planning for climate resilience
Watershed planning

Colorado River Agreement     J. Neuwerth
Overview on the Colorado River System
Recent conditions
Impact of the Lower Basin Plan
What’s on the horizon 

Sackett II       A. Baker
What is at stake with wetland definition (CWA 404)
History with CWA wetland definition
California Porter-Cologne v. CWA
Impact of Sackett wetland definition on permitting process in California

Ethical Issues in Water Use and Regulation   M. Emrick
Representing clients with potentially conflicting water rights
Ethical use of water
Water ethics in state and federal matters

HalfMoon Education Live WebinarsAgenda

Learning Objectives



Break
11:30 am - 12:00 pm PDT

Afternoon Session 
12:00 - 4:00 pm PDT

Log into Webinar
7:30 - 8:00 am PDT

Morning Session  
8:00 - 11:30 am PDT

 © 2023 HEI #23 CAWLAWSR 10 25 WEBR TD

Faculty
Jennifer Buckman, attorney with Bartkiewicz, Kronick, and Shanahan, has more 
than 20 years of experience representing public agencies and private clients on water 
and land use issues involving the federal and state Endangered Species Acts, federal 
reclamation and other water supply laws, and the California Environmental Quality 
Act and the National Environmental Policy Act. She also has extensive administrative 
law experience and has negotiated complex matters, such as the San Joaquin River 
Restoration settlement agreement and its implementing legislation, with regulatory 
agencies such as the United States Bureau of Reclamation, State Water Resources 
Control Board, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife. Before joining Bartkiewicz, Kronick and Shanahan, Ms. Buckman served as 
the in-house General Counsel for Friant Water Authority, a joint powers agency that 
delivers water to over one million acres of highly productive irrigated farm land on the 
east side of the southern San Joaquin Valley. Prior to joining Friant, she was in private 
practice for 16 years, where she represented clients in matters concerning a host of 
environmental and public law issues.

Holly Jacobson, attorney with Bartkiewicz, Kronick, and Shanahan, is a firm 
shareholder, and her practice includes serving as trial counsel in cases involving 
complex surface water right disputes, groundwater adjudications, writs of mandate, 
and the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). She counsels public and 
private clients regarding various regulations, particiaptes in proceedings before the 
State Water Resources Control Board, and provides general advice to agencies and 
businesses. Prior to joining the firm, Ms. Jacobson served as counsel to individuals and 
businesses in general litigation on a wide range of disputes in state and federal courts. 
She also represented clients facing significant OSHA violations and advised clients on 
California’s cannabis laws. She received her undergraduate degree in Environmental 
Studies with a minor in Biology from CSU Sacramento and her J.D. degree from the 
University of Oregon. 

Tom Hicks, at Tom Hicks Law, is a California water law, real property, and 
conservation attorney who represents a variety of public interest organizations, 
landowners, and others on select public policy, transactional, administrative, 
regulatory, and litigation matters. Before law school Mr. Hicks was an energy and water 
policy analyst at the Natural Heritage Institute and the founder and executive director 
of the Headwaters Institute. He has interned at the San Francisco Office of the City 
Attorney, California State Water Resources Control Board, and American Rivers. Mr. 
Hicks founded and chaired the inaugural California Water Law Symposium sponsored 
by leading northern California law schools and is a Board member. He is the author 
of the Water Education Foundation’s 2020 Layperson’s Guide to Water Rights Law, 
recognized as the most thorough explanation of California water rights law available 
to non-lawyers. Mr. Hicks is a former whitewater raft guide, kayaker, and Colorado 
Outward Bound School instructor. He holds a JD degree from the University of San 
Francisco School of Law and a BA degree from the University of Vermont.

Tuition
$319 for individual registration.
$289 for two or more registrants from the same company at the same time.
Included with your registration: PDF seminar manual.  

How to Register
• Visit us online at www.halfmoonseminars.org
• Call customer service at 715-835-5900

Webinars are presented via GoToWebinar. Instructions and login information will 
be provided in an email sent close to the date of the webinar. For more information, 
please visit our FAQ section of our website, or visit www.gotowebinar.com.

Cancellations: Cancel at least 48 hours before the start of the webinar, and receive a 
full tuition refund, minus a $39 service charge for each registrant. Cancellations within 
48 hours will receive a credit toward another webinar or the self-study package. You 
may also authorize another person to take your place.

Credit Information
This webinar is open to the public and is designed to qualify for 7.0 MCLE hours for 
attorneys licensed in California. HalfMoon Education is an approved Multiple Activity 
Provider for attorneys in California; MAP status renewal is currently pending. 

This Association of State Floodplain Managers has approved this course for 7.0 CECs 
for floodplain managers. 

HalfMoon Education is an approved CM Provider with the American Planning 
Association. This course is registered for CM | 7 for Certified Planners. 

This event offers a 7.0-hour learning opportunity to engineers and geologists licensed 
in California. 

Attendance will be monitored, and attendance certificates will be available after the 
webinar for those who attend the entire course and score a minimum 80% on the quiz 
that follows the course (multiple attempts allowed). 

On-Demand Credits 
The preceding credit information only applies to the live presentation. This course in 
an on-demand format may not be eligible for the same credits as the live presentation; 
please consult your licensing board(s) to ensure that a structured, asynchronous 
learning format is appropriate. The following pre-approvals may be available for the 
on-demand format upon request: 7.0 ASFPM CECs 

Webinar Information

Learn More and Register:
www.halfmoonseminars.org
Customer Service (715) 835-5900 Ext. 1

or scan here
Can’t Attend? Order the Webinar as an On-Demand Package!
Recordings of this webinar are available for purchase. See details online for 
more information and please refer to specific state licensing rules or certification 
requirements to determine if this learning method is eligible for continuing 
education credit. 

Kristin Peer, attorney with Bartkiewicz, Kronick, and Shanahan, has 15 years of legal 
and policy experience in the environmental field with particular expertise in water 
law and policy. Most recently, prior to joining BKS, Ms. Peer worked for the California 
Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA). She was appointed by Governor Newsom to 
the role of Deputy Secretary and Special Counsel for Water Policy, where she provided 
legal and policy advice to the Governor’s Office, CalEPA’s Secretary, and CalEPA Boards, 
Departments and Office, on California’s most pressing water challenges. In that role, 
Ms. Peer regularly advised on issues related to water rights, water quality, drought 
response and planning, Sustainable Groundwater Management Act implementation, 
wildfire resilience and recovery and managed high-stakes litigation on behalf of the 
Agency. Before her time as Deputy Secretary, Ms. Peer was appointed by Governor Jerry 
Brown to be the Assistant General Counsel at CalEPA, where Ms. Peer served as a legal 
advisor to the Agency on water-related matters. During that time, Ms. Peer also advised 
CalEPA on personnel actions, responding to Public Records Act requests, Bagley-Keene 
issues, Administrative Procedures Act requirements, compliance with Fair Political 
Practices Act requirements and evaluated new and proposed legislation for applicability 
to CalEPA. Ms. Peer was also a litigator with the California Department of Justice, Office 
of the Attorney General in the Natural Resources Law Section, where she defended 
and prosecuted complex environmental litigation matters for state agency clients. Her 
clients included the State Water Resources Control Board, the Central Valley Regional 
Water Quality Control Board, the California Natural Resources Agency, the California 
Department of Food and Agriculture, the California Air Resources Board, the California 
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection and others. 
Jessica Neuwerth is an environmental scientist with the Colorado River Board of 
California and has been with the Board since August 2014. She is a recent graduate 
of the University of Wyoming with degrees in Biology and Environment and Natural 
Resources. Ms. Neuwerth is involved with many of the environmental programs 
and activities critical to the Board, with emphasis on the Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive 
Management Program and the Lower Colorado River Multi-Species Conservation 
Program.

Aaron Baker is an attorney in private practice with Tom Hicks Law. He graduated 
from UC Hastings where he focused on issues of water law and policy, public lands, and 
administrative law. After chairing the 2008 California Water Law Symposium, Mr. Baker 
went on to work in the water group at Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck in Santa Barbara. 
Mr. Baker eventually returned to the North Bay, where he founded a tech startup while 
continuing to represent clients on a variety of matters. In 2014, Mr. Baker joined Hicks 
Law specializing in water-related matters. Mr. Baker now also works as a legal contractor 
for several law firms and has a solo practice focusing on water and real property-related 
matters.

Matthew Emrick, with the Law Offices of Matthew Emrick, has over 30 years 
experience in water rights, land use, business/real estate litigation and environmental 
matters. He practices throughout California. He earned his juris doctorate degree from 
the University of California School of Law, San Francisco in 1990. Mr. Emrick is admitted 
in both State and Federal Courts in California including the First. Third and Fifth District 
Courts of Appeals as well as the United States Northern and Eastern District Courts. 
Mr. Emrick has also practiced before the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal. Mr. Emrick has 
represented numerous public agencies and private parties over the years on water 
rights matters, including water districts and cities. This experience includes water rights 
litigation, water rights due diligence and verification, water rights valuations, and practice 
before the State Water Resources Control Board. Mr. Emrick is a frequent lecturer on 
water and property rights law. He has appeared on radio programs including KZYX in 
Mendocino County.



 

 

 

ITEM #9.A 

Field Report on Current and Upcoming Projects 



 1 
 

 
 

DEL PASO MANOR WATER DISTRICT REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
FIELD REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:  October 02, 2023 
   

 
AGENDA ITEM   9.A:  
 

 
Leaks: We had 1 mainline leak, 0 service line leak on our side, and 2 service line 

leak on the customer’s side 
 
Complaints: We had 0 water quality concern 
 
Water Waste: We had 5 water waste reports 
 
 

Field Work:  
 

1. 30 USA’s marked in October 

2. TCR samples for September were absent 

3. 5 more curb stops have been located bringing the total to 480 

4. To date a total of 25 fire hydrants have been painted 

a. Please contact the office if you would like to get on the schedule to 

have yours painted 

5. To date a total of 130 road markers for fire Hydrants have been placed 
 

 

Current and Upcoming Projects: 
  

1. We have one more non working meter to replace.  

2. Landscaping maintenance around our hydrants. 

3. Mainline valve measurements on going project. 

 

 

FIELD STAFF RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORT: Mike Jenner, Field Manager       
10/02/2023 


	Item 8B - Salary Survey.pdf
	Accounting Technician III.pdf
	Supervision Received and Exercised
	Primary Function
	Minimum Qualifications
	Physical Capabilities

	Administrative Specialist 1 (PDF).pdf
	Distinguishing Characteristics
	Supervision Received
	Supervision is provided by the General Manager and direction may be provided by the Engineering Manager and/or the Finance Manager.
	Supervision Exercised
	Administrative Specialist 1 (AA1): May exercise technical and functional direction over less knowledgeable or experienced District staff, temporary employees and volunteers.
	Education, Experience and Training

	2023-Salary-Schedule-COLA-Adjustment.pdf
	Sheet1

	insert me to salary.pdf
	Accounting Technician III.pdf
	Supervision Received and Exercised
	Primary Function
	Minimum Qualifications
	Physical Capabilities

	Administrative Specialist 1 (PDF).pdf
	Distinguishing Characteristics
	Supervision Received
	Supervision is provided by the General Manager and direction may be provided by the Engineering Manager and/or the Finance Manager.
	Supervision Exercised
	Administrative Specialist 1 (AA1): May exercise technical and functional direction over less knowledgeable or experienced District staff, temporary employees and volunteers.
	Education, Experience and Training

	2023-Salary-Schedule-COLA-Adjustment.pdf
	Sheet1






